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Group operating performance:

What we do:
Premier Farnell plc is a leading high service,
multi-channel distribution group supporting
millions of engineers and purchasing
professionals globally through its Group
companies. Our products range from electronic
components to industrial products from over
3,500 leading suppliers across all divisions.
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Sales

09: £804.4m
08: £744.7m 
+1%2

09: 39.6%
08: 39.7%
stable

09: 9.4p
08: 9.2p
+2%

Profit before taxation

Basic
09: 14.3p
08: 13.7p
+4%

Underlying4

09: 13.9p
08: 13.4p
+4%

Notes: 
Throughout the Annual Report and Accounts:
1 Unless otherwise stated, 2008 refers to the 53 week period ended 

3 February 2008, 2009 refers to the 52 week period ended 1 February 2009,
and 2010 refers to the 52 week period ending 31 January 2010.

2 Sales growth is based on sales per day for continuing businesses at 
constant exchange rates and for like periods.

3 Underlying operating profit and operating margin excludes restructuring costs 
of £3.4 million (2008: nil).

4 Underlying profit before tax and earnings per share excludes restructuring
costs of £3.4 million (2008: nil) and excludes gains on the purchase and
cancellation of preference shares of £3.7 million (2008: £0.9 million).

5 Growth in operating profit, is calculated at constant exchange rates, 
unless otherwise stated.

Total
09: £72.8m
08: £71.2m
+2%

Underlying4

09: £72.5m
08: £70.3m
+3%

Earnings per share
from continuing operations

Total
09: £85.4m
08: £88.0m
−13%5

Underlying3

09: £88.8m
08: £88.0m
−9%5

Operating profit

Total
09: 10.6%
08: 11.8%

Underlying3

09: 11.0%
08: 11.8%

Operating margin Gross margin Dividend per share



2009 has been a year of
dramatic change for both
Premier Farnell and the

global economy. Internally we have continued to
embed a high performance culture that is driving our
relentless pursuit of profitable growth, while affecting
changes to our structure that will permanently alter 
the way in which we operate. Every action we have
taken throughout the year was intended to drive
further value for our shareholders. This was recognised
in the market as Premier Farnell was the 35th best
performer in the FTSE 250 during the 2009 financial
year, outperforming the broader market and the
Support Services segment. 

We have delivered year on year sales growth of 1% with an
accompanying stable gross margin of 39.6%. The first half 
of the year delivered strong growth that was in line with our
strategic objectives. The economy rapidly changed in the
second half and we struggled to achieve the targets we set;
we are however encouraged by the progress we made in
implementing our business agenda. When we set out our
strategy over two years ago we could not have predicted 
the current state of the global economy, but what we did
predict was the market behaviours we might see if the
economy slowed. We said the electronics design engineering
(EDEs) segment would continue to outperform the
maintenance and repair (MRO) segment, the web would
continue to attract new customers and would become our
primary sales channel, and developing international markets 
would continue to grow faster than mature economies. 
These are precisely the behaviours that we are now seeing.

Our financial position remains strong with good liquidity and
free cash flow. During the year the Board decided that the 
risk associated with the renewal of its banking facilities, 
which were due to expire in May 2010, should be mitigated
early in view of the uncertainties associated with the
accessibility of bank finance. On 28 January 2009 we were
able to announce the conclusion of our refinancing which
replaced our £200 million bilateral facilities, set to expire in 
May 2010, with £150 million syndicate bank facilities. 

These new facilities expire in January 2013 and, together with
our continuing strong cash generation, provide the necessary
level of operational and financial flexibility to meet our funding
requirements for the long-term. Our headroom on these new
bank borrowings, at the end of the year, was £37 million,
which together with our cash holding of £39 million, gives 
us a healthy funding position. The Group anticipates that the
combination of free cash-flow, existing cash resources and
available bank facilities will enable it to meet the repayment 
of the US$66 million Senior Notes which become due in 
June 2010.

Under the strong leadership of Harriet Green, Chief Executive
Officer, the Company has now begun to accelerate its
transition to the web. The nature of the web has enabled us 
to enhance our back office systems to better align with our
web front end, thereby requiring less manual processing and
greater automation. This has resulted in improved flexibility of
the operations as resource is now being redistributed with an
even greater focus on best in class sales and improving the
customer’s experience.

We continue to carefully measure our performance relative to
our strategic objectives and the Key Performance Indicators
set out on pages 8 and 9 of this report. The full Corporate
Social Responsibility (CSR) Report is available on pages 
45 to 57 of this report, and there are more details about 
the all-employee survey in the case study on page 50. 
We recognise that there are many sectors of our business 
that are being affected by the state of the global economy,
however there continue to be areas that are growing, and 
we will continue to invest and take advantage of the growth.

Employees across the business have faced new challenges
this year, challenges never before seen. I am proud of how 
our team has responded to the changing world in which we
live. I would like to thank all current employees and those who
have left the business during the year for their contribution.
The previous experience of our Board members in leading
through recessions is also proving valuable during these
uncertain times and I remain confident that the Premier Farnell
Board is “fit for purpose” and will guide the Company to a
strong future.

No-one can predict with any confidence what the coming 
year will hold, but I am positive that under the guidance of 
this strong leadership team, and with the commitment of 
our employees globally, Premier Farnell will capitalise on all
opportunities available within its markets, while maintaining 
a very tight focus on costs and cash. The Board remains
committed to providing investment where the business sees
growth, and I am confident that our journey to become a
transformed company, will continue despite the current
economic adversity. When the markets change we will have 
a business ready to seize new opportunities for growth and
continue to exceed customers’ expectations.

Sir Peter Gershon
Chairman
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Chairman’s Statement
I am proud of how our team has responded 
to the changing world in which we live. 

R

Introduction

Sir Peter Gershon
Chairman



In 2006 Premier Farnell
began a journey to transform
the business based on a

clear and consistent strategy for profitable growth 
– a strategy that comes to life throughout this report.

As the Group concludes the second year of its three
year transformation plan, the results continue to show
real progress as suppliers, customers and employees
respond positively to the enhanced proposition.
Rigorous implementation of the strategy has continued
throughout the past year and plans have been
accelerated to respond to the market conditions and
further drive the pace of the transformation. The
strategy has proven resilient even in tougher market
conditions, and has seen the Group outperform industry
performance indicators. Through the positive, yet
consistent action of driving the same strategy, at pace,
Premier Farnell continues to see growth opportunity.
Innovation in all aspects of the business continues to
be a constant theme, much in evidence.

Harriet Green, CEO of Premier Farnell, and the architect
and driver of the strategic plan talks here about a year
of transformation and updates “the story so far”.

How do you feel about the strategy 
after two years? Is it still the right one

for the changing markets?

When we conducted our strategic review in
2006 the 150 strong team that worked on it

were drawn from right across the business – people with an
in-depth knowledge of our customers’ needs; people who
really understand high service distribution. This knowledge
and experience of what our customers require led to the
creation of a strategy that comprehends the needs of our
target audience. The strength of our strategy is in its simplicity
and the clear levels of understanding across the business.
Everyone understands our drive to deliver profitable growth
through focusing on the needs of the global Electronic
Design Engineering (EDE) community, driving business to 
the web, internationalising our business model and
maintaining our strong support to the Maintenance, 
Repair and Operations (MRO) segment. 

The world has changed significantly in the time since we
began the implementation of our strategy, however I still feel
that after two years our strategy is the right one for the future
– built on the solid foundation of last year’s strong financial
performance, our focus has been consistent. Unlike many
businesses we have not had to change course mid-way
through the year. Our employees are clear on the priorities
and focus for the business – clear on what we must deliver,
and their part in our success. We pulse our customers and
suppliers very carefully and constantly in so many different
ways, through web analytics, surveys and one to one
interaction. We listen to the voice of our customers very
carefully and are constantly looking for ways to enhance the
customer experience. We strive to be easy to do business
with, we want customers to return to buy from us again and
again. Customer feedback consistently tells us we are doing
the right things and focusing in the right areas – as always
there is much to do. This is a journey and we’re not done yet!
Suppliers continue to want to partner with us as we seed
their technologies and products into the critical early design
phases of the electronic engineers’ product design life cycle.

The journey 
continues Q

A
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Questions & Answers
with Harriet Green, CEO
R

‘‘‘‘

The strength of our strategy is in its simplicity
and the clear levels of understanding across
the business.

Harriet Green
Chief Executive Officer

R 



Our strategy was predicated on faster growing markets and
growth in the EDE segment has continued to outperform 
the MRO markets. Latest data shows that the EDE market 
is still growing faster than the overall MRO market which has
slowed from previous estimates. Whilst there are still growth
segments within the MRO arena, such as robotics, this year
has seen particularly rapid expansion in the EDE intensive
fields of biomedical equipment, energy management products
and the high-brightness LED segment which have all afforded
exciting opportunities for growth. Our best in class array 
of suppliers – whether world leaders or niche technology
companies – offer our design engineering customers
unparalleled access to the latest products and technologies
so very critical to their work. The product offering when
combined with our growing suite of design tools, technical
support services, expansive product information and easy 
to use web purchasing options is compelling and I am
confident it will continue to drive growth in this segment.

The omnipresent nature of the web which continues to touch
every area of life is the preferred sales channel for increasing
numbers of our customers. Throughout the year we have
added eTools and rich content to ensure that our websites
stay at the very forefront of our industry – offering a compelling
and flexible experience to purchasing professionals and
design engineers alike. With year on year web growth of 24%
all of our distribution businesses have seen significant growth
in their eCommerce sales levels. Farnell Europe closed the
year with over 51% of its business now being transacted via
eChannels, an upward trend we expect to continue into year
three of the strategy, as we further grow our web footprint 
to excite and delight more customers than ever before.
Researchers report a 93% global increase in the use of social
networking tools since 2006 and we have taken a leadership
stance that recognises these trends, through the creation
and piloting of our own online Community, which has
undergone thorough user testing and is ready for full launch
imminently. Whilst the web is becoming our primary channel,
and certainly the fastest growing, we continue to offer
customers a multi-channel experience – with many different
ways to access the information and products we supply.

Economists are now reporting slowdown in the major western
markets and Japan, with the key growth markets identified
as India, China and much of Eastern Europe. These are the
three markets we chose to focus on when we began our
strategic journey, confident they were the right ones for 
our approach. All markets that were prepared to invest in
technology, education and infrastructure. In 2009, the second
year of our strategy, our businesses in these markets have
continued to build on the presence already established 
to refine their proposition – combining local knowledge,
product and expertise with rich local language websites and
catalogues and the promise of same or next day delivery
which lies at the heart of our promise to customers.

High service distribution allows customers to manage their
inventory, trial the latest technology and improve their critical
time to market. Flawless execution and distribution excellence
– focusing on the detail and ensuring the very highest
standards lay at the heart of our business. We continue 
to invest for growth and we have not been disappointed.
China sales closed the year 39% up on last year, having
acquired new customers in more than 140 cities. Our Indian
business has now completed its first full year as part of the
Premier Farnell Group – delivering sequential quarter on
quarter growth, up 24% in the fourth quarter. Eastern Europe,
home to our latest acquisition is up nearly 69% on the prior
year. These high growth levels fuelled by the introduction of
five new East European language websites during the year.
At the outset of our three year plan we targeted 20% of our
total sales to come from our emerging international markets.
As actual sales are rapidly approaching this target, and the
markets continue to grow at an aggressive rate – and with
them our opportunity – we are confident of exceeding the
target we set ourselves by the end of the year.

In summary, I remain positive that our strategy is the right 
one for Premier Farnell and remains relevant for the different
market cycles. Growth opportunities still exist for those
companies bold enough to take a positive approach and
focus on growth, innovation and excellence, as well as
continuing to drive a high performance culture.

What is it about your strategy that
excites you? 

The opportunity to grow and shape our
business as we transform to a very different

Premier Farnell, committed to delivering our promises
profitably through the execution of a very clear plan.

The way our global teams have embraced the challenge of
what we must do and got behind it to deliver results by a
commitment to high performance, raising the bar of our daily
execution to a new level and striving to lead our high service
distribution space. Achieved through the relentless pursuit of
a clear strategy in an intense performance driven environment.

Our strategy has afforded us the opportunity to attract talent
from within our industry and also specialists in their own field
– high performers who want to be part of the future we are
creating. Building an organisation for the future – capable of
consistent, sustainable, profitable growth – now that really
excites me.

Every year we conduct a global employee engagement
survey and we independently benchmark our results against
the highest performing companies in the world in our quest
to improve and never rest on our laurels. This year we showed
year on year improvement in all key measurable areas.
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‘‘‘‘Our strategy has afforded us the opportunity
to attract talent from within our industry and
also specialists in their own field. 
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We scored very highly for the clarity of our vision and 
strategy right across the business – we invest time and
energy in communication, training and personal development,
innovation and involving our employees in the customer
experience building a culture of shared responsibility for that
experience. The senior team are all measured on the growth
of our engagement score year on year. We want to be a
place that people want to work – an organisation capable of
attracting, developing and retaining great talent. As a service
organisation our people are our ultimate differentiator and as
such are at the heart of everything that we do.

How has the team at Premier Farnell
embraced the challenge to accelerate

the pace of change?

In the survey 92% of respondents said they
believed in what we are doing, and 20% said

we weren’t moving fast enough.

We have continued to simplify our organisation structure,
increase accountability and responsibility, and provide richer
career opportunities as we automate many processes,
driving efficiency and reducing the cost to serve.

Tools and technology – automation and efficiency all underpin
the acceleration programme. During the fourth quarter we
took further steps to align our people resources more closely
to customer need and streamline operations, and this work
will continue as we focus our sales teams more closely on
the needs of our different customer segments. Our growing
suite of eTools has helped make these changes possible – 
as we effectively now have “one touch processing” on many
of our orders, placed via the web and then processed
through to the warehouse with minimal intervention reducing
the risk of human error or delay. Internally through our “eLife”
programme – which seeks to educate and support employees
in their use and adoption of today’s new technologies – we
continue to embrace new ways of working, and develop
innovative communication and information sharing tools.
This ensures our global team are well-versed in the use of the
eTools that are so critical to improving customer experience.

As we continue to shape our business for the future we will
align our people resources where they can add the most
benefit, creating virtual and global teams where it makes
sense to do so to reduce duplication and share best
practices. We will also have local resource close to the
customer that understands the customers’ needs.

As a service business our people are our strength and 
we hold them at the very heart of all we do. We have a
commitment to open and transparent communication, and
integrity is a value that goes to the core of the organisation 
– doing what we say we will, and building trust.

Acting with integrity for our customers, our suppliers, each
other, and all stakeholders is part of who we are and the way 
we do business. Our employees helped shape the values 
we espouse today and we have a culture where people are
encouraged to live and breathe life into them in all that they do.

Our teams value the clarity of our strategy, are clear about
their part in our future and are eager to get on with it, and
have responded very well to our drive to accelerate progress.

How has Premier Farnell become
stronger during the year?

We have continued to invest in the key areas
of the strategy and the resources to support

our growing EDE customer base, such as web tools and other
features unique to us, eQuotes and iBuy as examples that are
explained in more detail on page 15. We have also made a
new acquisition in one of our target markets – Eastern Europe.

We firmly believe we will not shrink our way to success 
and that well managed investment remains key to growth 
– this is made possible by the strength of our overall 
financial position.

In the year we’ve added over 90,000 new products to our
extensive portfolio, a critical part of the service our customers
expect from a high service distributor, particularly as they 
hold less stocks themselves. Our efficient and improving
supply chain ensures that 99.6% of our orders are delivered
same day or next day from our network of Distribution
Centres globally.

In addition to these strategic initiatives we are extremely
pleased to have been able to renegotiate our borrowing
facilities, one year early – a very clear indication that the
banks value our future growth profile and the differentiated
position we are building.

We have added new franchises ranging from world leaders 
in their field to suppliers of the very latest niche technologies
so critical to design engineers in their work.

Our online community where design engineers will collaborate,
communicate and create designs is due for launch in the first
half of the financial year 2010. Developed during the past
year in conjunction with design engineers from our customers,
who have been an important part of its testing and creation,
this latest innovation will be a first for electronic distribution,
as we continue to take a lead in this area and develop our
web footprint.

Q

A

Q
A

As a service business our people are our
strength and we hold them at the very heart
of all we do. 
‘‘‘‘

R 
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We continue to attract high calibre talent, capable of moving
our business forward and shaping and building an organisation
for the future, unrecognisable as the Premier Farnell of the
last economic slowdown. Our Industrial Products Division
has also seen new investment this year as some of its more
traditional markets have declined; the Group has pursued
international opportunities and also focused on new and
different sectors with positive results, to further strengthen
and grow the Division.

We continue to streamline operations, reducing headcount
and cost by over 300 positions globally in the year as we
shape our business for the future, a shape which utilises
greater automation and increases usage of the lower cost 
to serve web channel. We remain committed to offering
customers a multi-channel experience and continue to offer
local sales support, contact centres and catalogues alongside
our more than 30 transactional websites – websites that now
receive over 30 million global page views a month.

Most of all we continue to meet our commitments and do
what we said we would. Although the market slowed our
quarter on quarter growth trend, prior to the fourth quarter
we had delivered 13 periods of quarter on quarter growth,
with a stable margin performance, despite the investments
we have been making.

The results of all this is a business that attracts new customers
and continues to delight existing ones with a more efficient
service model and a potential for a more variable cost base.
We believe we are creating a strong business for the future 
– in any market cycle.

What part does innovation play at
Premier Farnell?

Innovation is central to our approach –
whether supporting our customer in their

design innovations, driving process improvements and
automation, developing the next generation of web tools, 
or responding to internal ideas and suggestions.

We continue to recognise the importance of innovation in
business today for customers and for our employees as
together we look for new and improved solutions to customer
challenges and the ever changing needs of our customers.
Our packaging innovations continue to make a real difference
to customers, and our web innovations, harnessing the
power of web 2.0, are market-leading. Our supply chain
innovations not only bring improvement to customers but 
also the environment as you will read on page 48 of the 
CSR Report.

As we continue to innovate around our strategy we have
appointed a Chief Innovation Officer, who reports directly 
to me, overseeing the exciting work of our web innovation
lab, and managing Innovation Exchange – a participative
forum for anyone in the Company to join in sharing their 
new ideas and evaluating others.

In a technology industry to stand still is to fall behind. Unlike
our suppliers and customers, Premier Farnell’s innovation
isn’t in product – but we have so much scope, particularly 
in a web world, to keep driving for change and improvement
in all we do.

Have your environmental commitments
changed in this economic environment?

Our environmental commitments continue
stronger than ever. They’re part of how we

do business and are more embedded in our culture than they
ever have been. We’re continuing to drive these programmes,
and the power of our commitment is exemplified in our
results from the Business in the Community CR Index.

During the year we have launched The Premier Farnell Trust
Agenda – an approach that puts our environmental concerns
high on our business agenda and we believe a differentiator
for us – we are a technology company investing in our people,
in the planet and in our local communities; forward thinking
and innovating in a market where others are consolidating
and cutting back.

We are harnessing our talent for the good of the Company,
for the good of our industry and the community. Our Trust
Agenda is part of who we are as an organisation – part of our
core values – and therefore something for which everyone is
equally accountable. We operate with the highest standards
of ethics and integrity and with transparency, be it 360 degree
feedback given to our leaders, the ethics hotline, employee
surveys or my popular “Ask Harriet” mailbox where employees
can email me directly and confidentially and be certain of a
reply. We also use customer feedback mechanisms or
performance metrics that are communicated consistently
internally and externally. Whilst this approach is challenging, 
it adds value to the customer/supplier and employee
experience of Premier Farnell and builds upon our sense 
of corporate pride. People who work here understand
responsibility, to each other, to our customers, to our suppliers
and investors and to our communities and our environment.

We want to encourage real trust and give everyone an
opportunity to make a difference, whether as a green
champion, an eLife champion, a contributor to the 
innovation exchange or as someone who makes a 
customer commitment.

Q
A

Q
A

‘‘‘‘In a technology industry to stand still is to fall behind.
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This approach comes from the top of the organisation and 
is a “red thread” that joins everything that we do.

Within the Trust Agenda our environmental focus continues.
Taking responsibility for our impact on the environment is not
just a luxury for us as a high performing company. It is intrinsic 
to our success, significantly reducing our outgoings and
protecting the environments in which we operate. We will
continue to monitor our impact, and to review the success 
of our environmental programmes in our quarterly business
reviews. To ensure that we are reporting our impact in the
best way that we can, this year we have worked with experts
in the field to have our processes externally audited.

We set ourselves a target to reduce our carbon emissions 
by 10% of the 2006 footprint that we defined. Already we
have cut our operating emissions to 79% of 2006, doubling
our achievement against the target, and we intend to continue
our investments to surpass this target even further in the
coming year.

As a sustainable company, we have embedded processes
which address the ethical integrity of our suppliers, so that
customers know we can source products that can be trusted.

We do not just take responsibility for our own impact, but we
also look at ways to address the impact of our supply chain
and help our customers manage their impact. Our innovative
peel packaging and our approach to packaging generally are
reducing the waste generated by our customers, and in turn
this reduces their cost of doing business with us.

The paper used for our catalogues is one of our main
environmental impacts. Our successful transition to the 
web is naturally helping to reduce the number of catalogues
that we print, and our public policy on paper and printing
ensures that all of our catalogues, and this annual report 
use environmentally-friendly inks and are printed onto
recycled or sustainably certified paper. 

The trust of our colleagues, customers and of our suppliers
that we are a responsible and reliable company is critical to
our success, and we believe our “Trust Agenda”, underpins
who we are as a business and will encourage us to accelerate
our initiatives and communicate them honestly and openly to
all of our stakeholders internally and externally.

What plans do you have for next year?

We will continue to invest in line with our
strategy to improve our business offering 

to customers and to constantly enhance the fundamentals 
of our business such as the supply chain and warehouse
efficiency and improving packaging solutions.

The world economy is slowing and creating uncertainty
which places a greater responsibility on us to motivate our
employees to deliver the results we need and to continue to
deliver the experience and business results our customers
and suppliers require. Now, more than ever we need to be
innovative and efficient, using automation to reduce our cost
to serve wherever possible and continuing to be a cash
generative business.

The full launch of our eCommunity will be an exciting area 
for us in the year ahead bringing together EDEs to collaborate
and share whilst providing them with the information and tools
they need to complete their design and meet their own
demanding development timelines.

As business continues to transition to the web we will shape
our organisation to ensure we have the resource in areas
where it will most benefit our customers ensuring their service
experience is efficient and positive through whichever channel
they choose to use. Our transition plans which continue to
evolve and change the business are clear for the year ahead
and our focus now remains on execution.

Our expanding international markets offer further opportunity
for growth and we will align resources to ensure they deliver.

Inventory – as a high service distributor – is so important to
our customers even more so in these uncertain markets as
many companies are responding to the global economic
slowdown by liquidating inventory. This will result in an even
greater need for our high service, high stock proposition as
customers must continue to meet their time sensitive needs.
With a broad range of products from over 3,500 suppliers,
and in a world of changing technology and new information
our teams monitor our product portfolio to ensure we are
offering customers everything they need.

Our multi-channel presence continues to offer customers the
option to deal with us via the web, the contact centre, local
branch office, or our field sales teams, taking information
from the web or our latest catalogue. Our focus in this year
will be to continue to exceed customer expectation whilst
managing cost, and driving efficiency and automation. 
We continue to invest in the latest telephony technology to
support our contact centres and through advanced usage 
of Optical Character Recognition (OCR) technology, now in
its second enhancement phase, we are delivering against 
our objectives.

We will continue to drive our strategy to deliver the
commitments we have made to our shareholders at the 
end of our three year transformation plan, and drive for
growth as we transition the business.

Q
A

Our expanding international markets offer
further opportunity for growth and we will
align resources to ensure they deliver.
‘‘‘‘
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25.7%

2008

Sales per day growth %

4.6%

2008

Working capital as a % of sales Free cash flow to revenue %

5.6%

2008

6.0%

6%–8%

We target accelerated sales growth through a focus on the faster 
growing EDE sector and faster growing international economies.   
Strategic progress continued during the year, resulting in sales 
growth of 1.0%. Sales in the first half were in line with our 
strategic target and helped to offset the impact of slowing  
global economies in the second half.

Gross margin %

39.7%

2008

Stable

We will achieve gross margin stability through a balanced 
customer and geographic profile in order to manage risk. 
Gross margin for the year was 39.6%. We have now achieved  
gross margin stability for more than three years.

The strategic review identified operational and working capital 
efficiencies, the achievement of which enables us to fund 
investment programmes. 
Working capital as a percentage of sales in the year was 28.4%.  
The efficiencies continue to deliver improvements and despite  
the slowdown experienced in the fourth quarter, we are on  
track to achieve this target.

This is a combined measure of both the improved profitability  
and cash flow targets of the strategy.

Free cash flow as a percentage of sales in the year was 6.8% 
excluding the impact of restructuring. We continue to improve  
cash efficiencies.

target target

target

1.0%
2009

39.6%

2009

28.4%

2009

6.8%

2009

<25.1%

target

We continue to see the transformation of our operations through consistent 
execution of our strategy – a focus on Electronic Design Engineering (EDE) customers,
the web and internationalisation, while maintaining our profitable Maintenance, 

Repair and Operations (MRO) core. Our objectives remain clear and well understood by both internal and
external stakeholders. We benchmark our performance in relation to market share data, competitive information
and performance against other high performing companies. Through nine identified Key Performance Indicators
(KPIs) that were set out when we announced our strategy in 2007, we monitor performance and communicate
progress which is partly reflected by our share price performance (also graphed below).

Transformation
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Return on sales %

12%

target

Operating efficiencies and the success of our eCommerce 
strategy will result in an improving return on sales. During the  
year we increased this target to 12.0%. 
Underlying return on sales for the year was 11.0%. Actions taken  
to ensure that our back office systems support our web front  
end, as well as rationalisation of our sales network will result in  
further improvements.

Return on net operating assets (RONA) %

30.2%

2008

>30%

The effective and efficient investment of our shareholders’ funds  
is a critical overall measure of the success of our strategy. 
Underlying RONA was 29.6% in the year. We will continue to 
invest in the areas where we see growth during the year, 
specifically in support of EDE and international growth.

Sales from developing markets % 

15.9%

2008

Sales via eCommerce channels %

27.6%

2008

20%

50%–70%

Targeting sales growth in the developing markets is a key part of  
our strategy, essential to the sustainability of our profitable growth. 
As the world economies slow, China, India and most parts of 
Eastern Europe are expected to demonstrate growth. Sales from 
developing international markets accounted for 17.6% of sales  
in the year.

Increasing sales on the web is a cost effective and sensible  
approach to growing our business, offering us and our customers 
increased flexibility. 
The web is now becoming our primary sales channel in many 
regions. eCommerce sales accounted for 32.0% of MDD sales in  
the year and 34.8% by the fourth quarter with Farnell Europe at 
50.8%, and actions to accelerate our transformation are ongoing.

Employee engagement % 

74%

2008

Share price performance %

79%

An engaged workforce is essential for any high performing business.   
Engagement scores across the Group improved by 2.4% in  
the year. Programmes have been put in place to ensure that 
employee feedback is understood and changes are implemented 
as required. By doing so we expect to make further 
improvements to our engagement score going forward.

Although we have no control over the value the market places  
on our shares, we are pleased that the results of our strategic 
transformation are being recognised. We outperformed both  
the FTSE 250 and the Support Services segment in the  
year and were ranked as the 35th best performer out of the  
FTSE 250 companies for the year to 1 February 2009.

target

target target

target

2009

29.6%

2009

32.0%

76%

2009

17.6%

2009

-20
-30
-40
-50

0
10
20
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40

Premier Farnell
FTSE 250
Support Services segment

Jan-08 Jun-08 Dec-08

-10

11.8%

2008

11.0%

2009

Note: 2008 refers to the 53 week financial year ended 3 February 2008. Underlying performance in 2009 excludes restructuring costs of £3.4 million.
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Strategic Overview
Targeting sustainable and profitable growth 
R

The strength of our strategy
is its clarity and simplicity.
We are a high service

distribution company focused on the faster growing,
more profitable segments of EDE, the web and
developing international markets, all while continuing
to serve profitable MRO segments. This strategy has
delivered growth over the last two years, such that
Premier Farnell has consistently outperformed our
core markets.

When we developed our strategy we made certain market
assumptions that have become even more relevant as 
the global economy has slowed. EDE has outperformed
MRO, the web continues to attract new customers and 
our developing international markets are our fastest growing.
With over two million active customers in 156 industries, 
we service a diverse range of end markets, some of which
are continuing to grow strongly, while others are more
affected by the global economic slowdown.

Despite the variety of geographies and end markets we
serve, our customers around the world have broadly similar
needs. They want a distribution partner who will provide a
service they value; they want a partner in the truest sense of
the word. They are looking for a company that understands
and anticipates their needs, a company that provides
services and solutions that assist them from the initial stages
of design through to the final product, whilst offering a variety
of channels from which they can buy. This includes websites
that provide detailed information and a variety of self-service
tools. Distributors who provide all of this, will delight their
customers and encourage loyalty from them.

We are a service business and our talented employees 
are one of our primary assets. Ensuring that we have the 
right people supporting growth through the right roles in 
the right regions is critical. We continuously evaluate our 
structure to ensure that it is appropriate to support growth.
Our employees are highly engaged and in a recent 
all-employee survey, more than 90% of respondents 
said that they understand the strategy and believe that it 
is appropriate to strengthen our organisation for the future.
We have undertaken some reshaping activities that enable
our transition to a web business, aligning our support
systems with our rich web environment, and ensuring that
our sales and call centre activities are appropriate as we
transition to the higher growth EDE customer segment.

In support of our transformation, we have invested in our
proposition, strengthening our offering to better meet the
needs of our customers. Over the last two years we have
more than doubled the number of EDE products in our
portfolio and have added nearly 125 in-house technical
specialists to support the unique needs of EDE customers.
We now have 27 local language websites and receive more
than 30 million monthly page views of our global websites.

Laurence Bain
Chief Operating Officer

We have also invested in a comprehensive suite of web
diagnostic tools that enable us to understand whether our
websites are meeting the requirements of our customers and
to modify our proposition accordingly. Diagnostic tools also
give us a sense of our place in the market. Our team of
technical specialists analyse the data to identify if there is a
technology or specific product that is missing from our portfolio,
if our pricing is appropriate, or if there is a technical issue on
any of our websites. This increased knowledge is used to
improve the flexibility of our proposition, ensuring that we 
are able to stay ahead of our customers and our competition.
It also means that our portfolio of over 400,000 products is
the right mix to meet the diverse needs of our customers.

Our strategy was developed in order to find higher growth
opportunities with our markets, and although we primarily
discuss it in relation to our Marketing and Distribution Division
which accounts for 90% of our revenue, we have seen our
Industrial Products Division (IPD) adopt some of its elements.
The businesses in our IPD Division remain highly profitable
and are leaders in their respective markets. They have
struggled as a result of the downturn in the North American
economy, however they continue to diversify not only their
product offering but also their end markets. These businesses
have historically been focused on their domestic North
American markets; they are now expanding internationally and
have also introduced new products to attract new customers. 

The clarity of our strategy, combined with our daily execution
of each element, ensures that all employees understand their
role in delivering our continued transformation.

Strategy

We now have 27 local language websites and
receive more than 30 million monthly page views
of our global websites.
‘‘‘‘



Notes: 
1 Based on sales per day for continuing businesses at constant exchange rates and for like periods.
2 Growth at constant exchange rates.
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Group Overview
Premier Farnell is organised into two divisions
R

www.farnell.com 

www.newark.com

http://sg.farnell.com

http://cn.farnell.com

www.mcmelectronics.com

www.cpc.co.uk

Marketing and Distribution Division

Our Marketing and Distribution Division operates predominantly in the
high service, time critical sector of the electronic components market,
focused particularly on the needs of design engineers and purchasing
professionals globally. The Group’s multi-channel approach offers quality
data and information on products and services with a supplier line card
and stock profile developed to anticipate and meet customers’ needs.
Our depth of stock from a wide variety of suppliers ensures that the
important needs of the maintenance and repair customer sector
continue to be met.

Countries of operation
Australia, Austria, Belgium, Brazil, Canada, China, Czech Republic, Denmark,
Finland, France, Germany, Holland, Hong Kong, Hungary, India, Israel, Italy,
Malaysia, Mexico, Norway, Poland, Singapore, Slovakia, Spain, Sweden,
Switzerland, United Kingdom, United States. 

R
Operating profitSales

09: £727.1m
08: £670.9m
+2%1

Industrial Products Division

Our Industrial Products Division comprises businesses supplying 
high-performance products to specialist industrial markets. Though
predominantly in North America, these businesses have expanded their
sales efforts into international markets through export, and continue 
their expansion into new customer sectors in domestic markets.

Countries of operation
Australia, Canada, France, Germany, United Kingdom, United States.

R
Sales

09: £77.3m
08: £73.8m
−5%1

Total

09: £82.8m
08: £84.4m
−10%2

Underlying

09: £85.7m
08: £84.4m
−7%2

Operating profit

Total

09: £14.1m
08: £14.8m
−17%2

Underlying

09: £14.3m
08: £14.8m
−16%2

www.farnell.com 

www.newark.com

http://sg.farnell.com

http://cn.farnell.com

www.mcmelectronics.com

www.cpc.co.uk

www.akronbrass.com 

www.tpcwire.com 

www.cadillacelectric.com 
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Strategic focus

Profitable growth through
focusing on EDEs
globally

R

Strategic goals for 2009

RWork with customers to ensure that
we have the products and solutions
they need, when they need them.

RAdd additional stocked product 
to enhance our EDE proposition 
and add 500,000 products to our 
“on demand” line during our three
year target period.

RContinue deep investment in primary,
secondary and tertiary engineering
support for our customers.

RDevelop an environmentally friendly
product offering, and engage with
customers and suppliers to find new
ways to reduce our environmental
footprint.

Achievements in 2009

RWe have continued to invest in
innovation. During the year we 
have designed and developed 
an eCommunity that brings EDEs
together to network, collaborate 
and create designs. Our eCommunity 
has been tested by customers
throughout the year and is expected
to be launched during FY2010. 

RDuring the year we added 54,000
new EDE products. Of these, over
5,000 were new to market EDE
products, in high demand by our
EDE customers as they look to utilise
the newest, most energy efficient
technology in their innovations.

RThrough continued investment in 
our EDE proposition, we have
opened two Global Technology
Centres, one in Chengdu, China 
and one in Bangalore, India. These
Centres give our customers direct
access to our in-house EDE and
product specialists. Available 24
hours a day, customers can contact
us for assistance with a product or
questions related to their design.

RInvestment in Innovation is ongoing
and during the year we invested
£2 million into our own research 
and development of services and
systems to support EDEs.

Priorities for 2010

RLaunch our eCommunity site to the
EDE population around the world,
continually enhancing the offering
and adapting the model to reflect 
the needs and wants of the broad
EDE market. 

RWork with suppliers to ensure we
have the latest, most specialised
products that our customers 
demand for their designs.

REnsure efficient and cost effective
stocking processes are in place,
making the most of Premier Farnell’s
global footprint to leverage our
purchasing power around the world.

RInvest further to ensure that we 
have the in-house expertise to
provide dedicated support to our
EDE customers.

RDevelop a line of innovative tools 
for EDE customers that enables a
seamless environment of design
simulation and prototype building.

RReview and monitor developments 
in environmental regulations coming
into effect. We must monitor our
stock levels, providing timely
information to our customers
regarding the implications for them
and adapting our stocking levels
accordingly to ensure that we remain
a market leader in this area.

Electronic Design Engineers The world in which we live is changing.
Electronic design engineers are facing mounting pressure to design
products very quickly that work more effortlessly than ever before and 
that not only look good, but are also safe for everyday use and respect 
the environment, as technology now permeates all aspects of our lives.
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R Virtual events
Premier Farnell hosted its own virtual
tradeshows. These events that bring
together suppliers, customers and
industry experts to discuss relevant 
topics, products and solutions, is yet
another innovative offering to attract
EDE customers to our proposition. 

Environmental leadership
Leveraging the knowledge of our 
in-house environmental and legislative
experts, Premier Farnell is the industry’s
trusted source for this information.
Providing solutions and answering
questions for customers around this
increasingly important area is just 
one part of our unique value for 
EDE customers.

Technology First
Technology First is a quarterly technical
journal offering insight into fast growing
EDE markets from customers, suppliers
and market experts. These journals
bring together everything an EDE
customer might want to know on a
specific topic.

Consumers are placing increasingly high demands on EDEs
as they have come to expect more of new designs than 
ever before. They want aesthetically pleasing products that
are fast, have huge capacities for storage, perform more
functions than ever before, are smaller than their previous
version, have become more affordable and are safe for their
use, as well as the environment.

We know the demands our customers face, and we
understand what they need from their high service distributor.
EDE customers around the world have broadly similar needs
regardless of their location in the world. They want:

> Every item for their design from one supplier with a broad
product range; 

> A fast and user friendly website; 

> Accurate and accessible product information; 

> The knowledge that the product they have received 
is authentic; and 

> Their order delivered correctly and quickly. 

Our range of stocked EDE products is constantly evolving.
Our product teams work with our in-house technical
specialists, EDE customers and suppliers to ensure that we
have the specialised products needed for new innovations.
When a product is no longer demanded by customers we
have the processes in place to move it out of our inventory,
efficiently and cost effectively. During the year we added
more than 5,000 brand new to market products. These
products are highly valuable to our customers for their
designs, but it is also crucial to our suppliers that we seed
the market with their new products. Our high service
proposition is valuable to our suppliers as well as our
customers; without a vehicle such as ours their components
might never make it onto large scale production lines.

Our customers are designers and they want to design, not
spend a lot of time finding their components and conducting
research, though this is an increasingly important part of their
role. The speed of search on our websites is best in class.
We are continually evolving our search function to represent
accurately how our customers conduct their search for
products and information. Our websites include extensive
libraries of product information, covering technical,
environmental and legislative issues. This information is
compiled in-house, by engineers for engineers and then
translated for our local language websites and adapted for
local requirements, ensuring that our customers the world
over receive the same access to this valuable information.
We have also developed an innovative line of tools to help
customers design with greater ease.

As well as simplicity of search and selection, customers 
also need a supply chain in which they can have confidence.
As an authorised distributor of more than 2,500 suppliers
throughout the world, the integrity of our supply chain is of
the utmost importance. Our sourcing policies seek to ensure
that product leaving our distribution facilities is genuine 
and has not been altered or tampered with from the point 
of production. 

Time is of the essence for our EDE customers, particularly 
as the global economy slows. Designs are time sensitive 
and design cycles are becoming shorter. In reaction to the
slowing economy, we anticipate that many customers will
leapfrog into new generations of design in order to remain
competitive when markets recalibrate.

EDE customers depend on us to get their products to their
desks on the afternoon of order or the following morning. 
Our high service model ensures that 99.6% of orders are
delivered either the same day or the next day from ten
distribution facilities around the world.
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Strategic focus

Profitable growth through
web development 
and the multi-channel
approach

R

Strategic goals for 2009

R Gain a first hand insight into
customer needs and experiences,
integrating solutions from their
feedback.

R Support our Knowledge Centres 
in India and investigate options for
Knowledge Centres in other
emerging markets.

R Enhance the web tools available to
EDEs on our websites, ensuring they
have the most relevant information in
a timely manner and access to an
online community of colleagues.

R Continue to improve search engine
marketing in the US market in 
order to propel the level of growth 
in web sales.

Achievements in 2009

R Our newly appointed Chief
Innovation Officer works with our
dedicated customer experience
team to ensure that we have the
systems and solutions to meet 
our customers’ changing needs.

RWe have opened two Global
Technology Centres during the 
year led by our newly appointed
Head of Technology Marketing and
eCommerce. One in Bangalore, 
India and one in Chengdu, China 
to provide high quality technical
support and services to our EDE
customers around the world. 

RWe have continued to add new and
innovative tools to meet the needs 
of our EDE customers, including
eQuotes, an online quoting tool, 
and iBuy, an eProcurement tool for
small and medium sized customers.

R During the year we undertook
development of an eCommunity
which has undergone customer
testing and is expected to be
launched in early 2010. The
eCommunity will give EDEs access
to their global colleagues, suppliers
and experts on a variety of topics.

R Search Engine Marketing has
improved throughout the year,
driving our 23.5% increase in 
web sales.

Priorities for 2010

R Launch our eCommunity site for
EDEs globally.

R Develop innovative design tools to
assist small and medium design
firms with their efficiency.

R Continue to make investments in 
our search engine marketing and
search engine optimisation in order
to attract new customers to our 
high service proposition.

R Expand the launch of our various
innovative, self-service web tools 
to our global websites, ensuring our
global customers have access to 
the same tools irrespective of where
they are in the world.

Speed, search and living in a web world The web is no longer a basic
tool; it constantly evolves to change the way we think, the way we work and
the way we use and access information. We continue to invest in our websites
and adapt our capabilities to reflect the changing world in which we live.
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R Innovative eTools
New innovations are continuously under
development ensuring that our web
environment is rich, user friendly and
efficient. eTools like our Multi-Channel
Order History, iBuy and eQuotes have
all been launched in the year, attracting
new customers and converting existing
customers to the web.

One touch order processing
The beauty of the web is the speed 
at which information is processed. 
One Touch Processing allows orders 
to undergo automated processing,
improving our service by cutting down
the time it takes to get the order picked
and packed, and reducing errors.
Customers are delighted by our high
quality service. 

eCommunity
The development of an EDE
eCommunity is well underway. 
EDEs are natural collaborators; 
they share information and rely on 
their colleagues around the world for
support and advice. Our eCommunity
will bring EDEs together in a forum
dedicated to their unique needs.

The web is the preferred channel by EDE customers around
the world, as long as it is in their local language, has a fast
search, rich content and has tools that make their jobs easier.
With more than 30 million page views per month, we continue
to invest in best in class websites and tools to meet customers
evolving needs.

With 27 local language, local content websites, we are able
to communicate with our customers in the language that they
prefer. Our websites are intelligent and will allow a customer
to switch from English to their native tongue if they choose to
do so. We have also worked with our technicians to ensure
that our search capabilities are market leading. Engineers
have specific ways of thinking and searching, and using the
intelligence we have gained from our in-house technical
specialists and our web diagnostic tools we have continued
to upgrade our search function, which now provides a faster
and more comprehensive search than some of the most
recognised web businesses in the world. 

In China and India we have dedicated teams of specialists,
located in our very own Global Technology Centres, creating
content for our global websites. Up to three gigabytes of
information is available on each of our more than 400,000
products; this proprietary information is developed with 
our customers in mind. We include detailed product
specifications, relevant legislative and environmental
information, and three-dimensional images of the product. 

We have also developed industry leading innovations to 
meet our customers’ needs. During the year we launched
multi-channel order history which shows a customer’s history
with Premier Farnell, no matter which channel they have
previously used; eQuotes, an online quoting tool that provides
fast and accurate quotes and easy access to converting the
quote into a purchase order; iBuy, an eProcurement solution
for our small and medium-sized

customers, giving them flexibility over their purchasing
procedures. We have also been testing our eCommunity with
customers, developing new tools and ways of web working.
The eCommunity will be launched early in our new financial
year and will bring together EDEs from around the world,
creating opportunities for networking, collaboration, advice
and providing even more tools, to make it an environment
where they can work on a daily basis.

The web has not only changed the way that our customers
work, but it has also given us improved access to our
customers in their natural setting. Web diagnostic tools allow
us an unprecedented understanding of whether our websites
are meeting the requirements of our customers. Our team of
analysts receives data from our global websites which they
review and distil and then make recommendations regarding
our offering, pricing and capabilities, all enhancing the
customer experience. This knowledge has ensured that we
remain leaders in the web space and that any enhancements
we make to our websites have an immediate payback.

The web has also improved the flexibility of our systems.
Gone are the days when web orders had to be processed
after receipt. One touch processing and more efficient
operations mean that web orders are now sent directly to 
the distribution facility where they are picked, packed and
shipped to customers. With automated processing we are
able to reshape our organisation, freeing up available resources
to support the areas where we continue to see growth.
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Strategic focus

Profitable growth through
internationalising our
business model

R

Strategic goals for 2009

R Continue to strengthen our
alignment with the needs of EDE
customers in China through new
product and by constantly improving
their web experience.

R Support our operations in India 
and ensure that they have the
wherewithal requirement to provide
high service solutions to the local
engineering community.

R Evaluate growth opportunities in
global markets with high growth
potential, particularly focusing 
on Eastern Europe.

R Support our American Industrial
Products Division as it continues 
to expand internationally.

Achievements in 2009

R Ongoing investment in China has
resulted in more than 50% of sales in
EDE product and continued growth
of web sales from our Mandarin and
English websites. 

RWe launched our India website,
catalogue and opened new
branches to support the growing
EDE market. 

R Continued development of our
Eastern European operations has
been enhanced by a small, but
strategically important acquisition.
We have also launched further local
language websites across Eastern
Europe, including Bulgaria, Estonia,
Latvia, Lithuania and Romania.

R By embracing internationalisation,
our Industrial Products Division
received 13% of their revenue from
international markets in 2009.

Priorities for 2010

R Invest in the necessary products,
tools and services that support 
the needs of customers in higher
growth sectors.

R Ensure that we continue to 
evaluate our segmentation work 
to appropriately target the faster
growing sectors of our markets,
particularly in line with government
investment programmes recently
announced in China and the 
United States. 

R Continue to invest in our EDE
inventory position for the India
market, ensuring customers across
this fast growing region have access
to our high service, next day delivery.

R Fully integrate our acquisition in
Eastern Europe to ensure a smooth
transition for customers to our high
service proposition.

R Continue to identify new international
markets for our Industrial Products
Division.

Globalisation through localisation Under-penetrated international
markets continue to provide new and exciting opportunities for growth. 
Our location approach to business tailors our offering to meet the specific
needs of our individual international markets, while continuing to leverage
our global network of expertise and best practices.
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R China
Electronic design engineering remains
critically important to China. Our
business in China, Premier Electronics,
continues to enhance its proposition to
ensure customers are delighted by the
service they receive. With five branches
and more than 20,000 products
available next day to over 110 cities,
growth in this core market continues.

India
Farnell India has now been in operation
for one year. With nine branches across
the country and a local website and
catalogue, new customer acquisition
continues at pace. India continues 
to demonstrate exciting opportunities
for growth.

Eastern Europe
Industrialisation as a result of inclusion
in the European Union continues to
drive significant development and
investment in electronics across
Eastern Europe. The acquisition of a
part of the assets and trading rights 
of a small distributor will increase our
footprint and attract even more new
customers in Poland, Hungary and 
the Czech Republic.

More than two years ago when we evaluated our markets 
for strong growth opportunities, we chose to invest in the
developing markets of China, India and Eastern Europe.
Now, as the world in which we live changes rapidly, these
markets have become even more relevant to our future
growth. We have momentum behind us and a strong
platform from which we can continue to expand our 
footprint and take advantage of our market position.

In China we have continued to expand and attract 
new customers every day. We have an industry leading
management team in the region who understand the market
and our opportunities within it. We now deliver next day to
more than 110 cities across the country, touching customers
in a wide variety of segments who design for both export 
and local consumption. We have noticed that the slowing
economy has changed the Chinese commercial environment,
offering new opportunities for Premier Farnell. The Chinese
market remains predominantly EDE, however there is
evidence that the country is beginning to see the emergence
of an MRO market. We will continue to support EDE
customers with our broad product offering, content rich
websites in both Mandarin and English, and our high service,
but we will also adapt our offering to ensure that we can
support areas that are growing. If that means increasing 
our support for highly profitable and fast growing MRO
customers then we will support them as we do in all other
regions around the world.

Our business in India is small but growing in line with the 
vast opportunities that exist in the market. India has a large
EDE population, with 500 PhD and 200,000 engineers
graduating from universities every year. In one year we have
accomplished a lot; our new management team is in place
and driving our strategy in the local market with good results,
we have a dedicated Indian website with local content and
local prices, our local catalogue is also generating new leads,
and we have added an additional sales office to support

growing demand for our products and services. Our multi-
channel approach permeates all of our operations, no matter
how big or small. Premier Farnell continues to be a truly multi-
channel distributor with innovative solutions for local markets.

Eastern Europe has performed even better than we first
expected. We have continued to find growth in economies
where we would not have expected to find such robust
strength and are adapting our offering accordingly, launching
local language websites and creating the tools we need 
to attract customers in these markets. EDE customers 
in Eastern Europe, as with all of our emerging markets,
design product for local consumption. As Eastern Europe
continues to develop and invest in infrastructure projects,
there continues to be strong demand from local high service
distributors. Opportunities vary across the region as differing
economies are focused on differing areas of development
enabling us to take advantage of the broad range of products
situated in our distribution facility in Liège, Belgium. From
Liège we are able to support all of Eastern Europe with next
day delivery on over 400,000 products available through our
11 local language websites.

Towards the end of the year, we strengthened our East
European proposition even further through the acquisition of
part of the assets and trading rights of the Microdis Holdings
group. This acquisition provides increased customer reach in
the Polish, Hungarian and Czech markets. 
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Business Review

Development,
performance and 
position of the Group

R

Customers are looking for a breadth and depth of product, superior
logistics and high quality, reliable and timely product data and
information. They also want access to a wide selection of leading
suppliers and technologies from a company which works to ensure
the integrity of its supply chain, which provides the most accurate,
updated product information available, as well as reliable legislative 
and environmental information and which offers same or next day
delivery. Only 20% of the market is served by Premier Farnell and 
the other large integrated global distributors that are fully able to meet
these needs, leaving 80% of the market served by a variety of small
and medium regional competitors. Our unique value proposition is 
well placed to continue capturing market share.

This Business Review is prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and is framed around the principles 
and guidelines for Operating and Financial Reviews published in the UK by the Accounting Standards Board. Its purpose is to provide
information which is significant to understanding the development, performance and position of the Group, the principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Group and to include the Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) used by the Group to monitor this development, performance and
position. Additionally, the Business Review is intended to highlight trends, where identifiable, in factors which affect the development,
performance and position of the Group.
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The Premier Farnell Group
consists of two divisions:

the Marketing and Distribution Division (MDD) and the
Industrial Products Division (IPD).

MDD comprises five businesses which distribute a
wide range of electronic components, equipment and
maintenance, repair and operations (MRO) products.
The businesses serve commercial, industrial and
public sector markets in Europe, North America and
Asia Pacific. Together they represented 90% of sales
and 86% of underlying operating profit in the year
before head office costs.

Customers include Electronic Design Engineers (EDEs), 
small scale production units, purchasing professionals and
maintenance and repair engineers with a wide range of
requirements. In aggregate, the MDD businesses have over 
two million customer contacts, attracted by a common need 
for a broad product range, rapid and reliable delivery and
specialised value-adding services. They place many small
orders, with average order values of approximately £240 in
North America, £100 in Europe and £120 in Asia Pacific.

The Division stocks in excess of 400,000 different products
sourced from a large number of suppliers and provides
customers with access to a further four million products.

Through a dedicated plan to increase the proportion of sales
made to EDEs, via the web, and through internationalisation
into emerging markets, the Company intends to capitalise on
available market growth at the same time as driving market
share gain through an enhanced EDE proposition. 

The Industrial Products Division (IPD) comprises businesses
supplying high-performance products to specialist industrial
markets, predominantly in North America (see page 36). 
The Division accounted for 10% of sales and 14% of
underlying operating profit, before head office costs. Our IPD
businesses have made good progress in identifying fast
growing international markets and new industrial markets 
for its products.

The following sections cover only the MDD businesses on 
the basis that this Division represented 90% of sales. The IPD
businesses are covered in the relevant section of the Review
of Operations.

Introduction

‘‘‘‘Through a dedicated plan to increase the
proportion of sales made to EDEs, via the
web, and through internationalisation into
emerging markets, the Company intends to
capitalise on available market growth at the
same time as driving market share gain
through an enhanced EDE proposition. 

R

Mark Whiteling
Chief Financial Officer
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The global electronics distribution market in which the 
Group operates is split between “high volume” distributors,
who handle the supply of large quantities of components for
scheduled manufacturing of electronic equipment, and the
high service distributors who handle the requirements of
EDEs engaged in the design of new products and MRO
engineers who maintain, operate and repair the installed
product base of electronic equipment. Premier Farnell falls
into the second category – high service distribution – and 
is one of just four global players operating in this space. 
The chart below shows the life cycle of an electronic 
design – from prototyping through to the end of its useful 
life, Premier Farnell operates in the two circles identified. 
The overall global electronics distribution market is
approaching £200 billion, of which the high service 
element is estimated at approximately £15 billion.

The high service market is highly fragmented, with only 
an estimated 20% in the hands of the four global players,
leaving the remaining 80% served by small and medium
sized local competitors. This presents Premier Farnell 
with significant opportunities to leverage our high service
proposition to win new customers and gain market share.
Our model and our commitment to ongoing automation 
has resulted in the barriers to entry being raised, and smaller
distributors finding it more and more difficult to compete in
the high service space. Customers are looking for a wide
breadth and depth of stocked product, superior logistics and
high quality, reliable product data and information delivered
through innovative web solutions. They also want access 
to a wide selection of leading suppliers and technologies
from a company that works to ensure the integrity of its
supply chain, provides the most accurate, updated product
information available and offers same or next day delivery.
Small, local distributors are finding meeting these needs 
ever more challenging.

Farnell has a strong position in many European markets and
Newark is one of the leaders in North America. Across the
globe however, there remains very significant opportunities
for the Company to grow market share, underpinned by a
competitive advantage from its global reach to customers
and broad range of suppliers. 

The other businesses within MDD, namely CPC and MCM,
operate primarily on a national basis in their home markets
(UK and Ireland, and North America, respectively) and are
focused on a particular subset of the overall electronics
distribution market.

Economic cycles
MDD supplies a variety of industries in a variety of geographic
markets. Not only does no customer account for more than
2% of sales, no supplier accounts for more than 5% of
product. We support a huge range of customers in over 
156 different industries. 

This diversification of geography, customer segments and
suppliers has historically limited the Group’s exposure to
regionalised economic cycles. In the current economic
downturn, our exposure to the faster growing international
markets and our ability to target specific vertical markets
ensures that the Company is well placed to find growth. 
The global electronics design market as forecast by
Henderson Electronic Market Forecast will continue to grow,
albeit at reduced rates from the 6–8% we have previously
seen, as sales slow and there is increased volatility through
the recession.

Both Newark and Farnell offer customers a very broad 
range of products for use in electronic equipment, 
with a strategic focus on the design part of the life cycle. 

Product life cycle
Manufacturer

direct

Volume distribution Volume distribution

EDE MRO

Student Prototype
R&D Pilot

Small OEM

Engineers Engineers

Service Maintenance RepairLarge OEM

Purchasing professionals

Premier Farnell Manufacturer Premier Farnell

Broad 
customer 
base



Since the 1950s, the pervasion of electronics into everyday
life has increased steadily and the aesthetics as well as the
functionality of these products has become increasingly
important, creating more design work. As awareness 
of individual and corporate carbon footprint increases, 
re-design around power management has grown. We also
expect to see increased focus on re-design work to take 
out cost in the current climate. 

Overall this means that, despite the global economic downturn,
we remain confident in our EDE strategy delivering a growth
rate above the overall electronics market. The strategy, which
has provided us with strong growth since its inception, is
equally as relevant in recession.

The level of maintenance and repair activity varies by
geography, reflecting the indigenous manufacturing
environment, and tends to be tightly tied to the general 
level of economic activity.

CPC and MCM supply electrical and electronic ranges, 
such as audio-visual and security products, to very broad
customer bases, from specialist retailers and small
businesses to large organisations. The level of general
economic activity therefore also influences MDD’s sales 
more immediately through these businesses.

Growth in more challenging markets
We continue to identify opportunities for growth, even as 
the global economy slows. Our strategy has identified the
EDE market as a faster growing segment, and although it is
not exempt from the slowing global economy, there continue 
to be segments that are demonstrating strength: power
management, biometrics, medical devices and light emitting
diodes (LED) (see case study on page 33) are all forecast to
grow through the recession. Our rich web environment is
attracting new customers and drawing existing customers
from our more manual sales channels. There are also
burgeoning design industries in China, India and Eastern
Europe which serve both export and domestic markets.
These developing international markets are all expected to
continue growing throughout this global downturn, making
our strategy ever more relevant in these challenging times.

We are also using technology as a source of competitive
advantage. Design engineers are early adopters of new
technology and they seek to do business with companies
that can meet their needs as they evolve. We have embraced
Web 2.0 and as such have created environments where 
our customers, suppliers and industry experts can share
information, collaborate and work on their innovative designs.

As the world economy slows, our strategy continues to 
be appropriately positioned to take advantage of market
opportunities.

21
Premier Farnell 
Annual Report & Accounts 2009

U

Better products for a better planet

The proposed revision to the RoHS (Restriction 
of Hazardous Substances) Directive, so called
“RoHS2” and the REACH (Registration, Evaluation,
Authorisation – and restriction – of CHemicals)
Regulations are having a significant impact on
industry. Premier Farnell provides customers with
information and support to help avoid the pitfalls
of compliance.
Understanding the requirements of RoHS2 and REACH can 
be complex, and time consuming. The limited number of
conferences that are available on these subjects can also be 
very costly. Premier Farnell aims to take the strain and worry 
out of compliance. Rather than just linking to hundreds of pages
of legislation, we consider the impact on, and what it means to
customers, creating relevant information and adapting our
product offering and services appropriately. 

Best in industry information is available to customers via a
dedicated website at www.global-legislation.com. Overview
documents created by our leading environmental experts are
available on all relevant directives including EU RoHS and
REACH, the New Battery Directive, Energy using Products,
WEEE and China RoHS. Our in-house experts are also 
available to offer customers one-on-one support and guidance,
as necessary.

Environmental and legislative requirements are creating 
increased need for redesign activities, as well as increased
demands for new designs. Providing this information is highly
valuable to customers and supports and enhances our global
high service proposition.

R 
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Outsourcing
With mounting pressures on industry in the US and Western
Europe to become more efficient and cut fixed cost bases,
purchasing professionals are turning to their distributors for
more assistance than ever before. 

Many organisations are streamlining or outsourcing their
procurement to reduce the total cost of purchasing. 
These customers are reducing inventory and ordering 
closer to their point of need – so requiring reliable supply, 
late ordering capability and next day service. Premier Farnell’s
MDD businesses are well positioned to create operating
efficiencies for such customers by reducing the number 
of suppliers that they deal with and by offering a range of 
other services. 

One of our key innovations in 2009 was the launch of iBuy, 
a free online procurement management tool allowing cost
centre reporting and budget centre control – the rapid uptake
of the tool is indicative of how strongly this type of innovation
resonates with our customer base.

Environmental influences
There is an important and growing list of environmental
legislation, particularly in Europe, that impacts the Group’s
customers and especially EDEs. The RoHS legislation
restricts the use of certain hazardous substances in electrical
and electronic equipment. These substances are restricted 
to complement the ease of recycling, re-use and recovery 
at the end of a product’s life under the Waste Electrical and
Electronic Equipment (WEEE) Directive. Beyond Europe,
countries such as China, Korea and Australia are all looking
to implement their own versions of RoHS, with others
expected to follow.

The Energy using Products (EuP) Directive looks at the energy
consumption of a product from mining the raw material right
through to its recycling at end-of-life. Finally, the REACH
regulations impose tighter controls over the use of 30,000
chemicals in Europe.

All of these pieces of legislation have become important
considerations for new design work and impact our
customers immediately. Premier Farnell has made significant
market share gains by embracing this important legislation
and supporting our customers around the globe with advice,
support and information. This continues to be an important
area of differentiation for our MDD businesses and one which
customers clearly value.

Customer proposition
Our proposition for the EDE customer is based on the
breadth of our product offering from a wide variety of
component suppliers, availability of product for shipment 
that day or the next day, quality and quantity of technical
information to support their work and the integrity of the
supply chain, all making Premier Farnell a distributor of
choice for high service needs. 

EDE customers heavily utilise the web in their work, 
far beyond simple product searches, and the development 
of a solution-based approach to our website is central to our
EDE proposition. The web is where our customers research
new technologies, discuss and review products and interact
with each other. By recognising, valuing and supporting that
usage we firmly believe we can differentiate our business.

Our EDE customer experience is built on:

> Ease of identification, selection and ordering from a choice
of channels (including call centres, web, field sales teams
and printed catalogues);

> Web fundamentals of speed, simplicity of use and 
search capability;

> Broad in-stock range from every leading supplier with 
all of the latest products;

> Fast and highly reliable logistics model;

> Full suite of technical information and data sheets;

> Value-adding services such as technical support and
legislation advice; and

> Reduced transaction costs through efficient processes
such as eProcurement and iBuy.

The proposition to support our MRO customer base is also
service led, with the availability of product and multi-channel
capability valued by these customers too. And as with EDEs
there is a migration of this experience to e-channels where
we can leverage much of our EDE work.

Suppliers
Our MDD division constitutes a powerful marketing and
support capability for our franchised supply partners to reach
end users and, specifically, to reach EDEs around the world
to “seed” the design side of the market with innovative new
components. The seeding of new products and technologies
to the design engineering community is particularly valuable
to suppliers as any of their components that are specified in
the early phase of a design will be required in large volumes
when that design goes into production.

Our multi-channel approach to the market is an effective means
of ensuring that our large, dispersed and global customer base
can reach us however and whenever they want to and provides
rich engagement opportunities for our suppliers.

We also offer our suppliers the ability to communicate with
their target customer base through us, enabling them to
understand better the requirements of EDE and MRO users
of their products 

Suppliers benefit from:

> Multi-channel communication which offers improved 
time to market;

> Fast and reliable global distribution, supported by the
integrity of our supply chain and the technical help 
for customers;

> Improved support of new markets through local language
websites and our leadership in key emerging geographies; 

> Effective marketing to specific customer groups within 
the Division’s 2,000,000 customer contacts and other
website visitors; and

> Market intelligence and feedback.

We are committed to ensuring that our product offering 
is focused on our customer base and it is our intention to
continue to add further suppliers and products into our
stocked inventory to enhance our product offering for the
EDE customer. We believe that this will also benefit our 
MRO customer base as well as making us more attractive 
as a partner to other suppliers.

Business Review continued 
Markets
R 
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Unique solutions for our 
innovative customers

Over the year, Premier Farnell launched several
new and innovative tools aimed at our broad
base of global customers. One such tool is
eQuotes.

eQuotes is the newest tool in Newark’s MY ACCOUNT eSuite,
which offers customers powerful self-service options. Developed
from input and ideas across the organisation, eQuotes was
designed to transmit quotes containing negotiated pricing direct
from suppliers over the web. Deploying this functionality was
both strategic and differentiating, fitting perfectly within our drive
to conduct more business via the web, and distinguishing us
from the competition, who do not offer this service.

eQuotes not only provides our customers with the unique ability
to receive quoted pricing over the web, but once the decision is
made to purchase from the quote, processing the order online 
is seamless and easy. At any time, customers can also use the
other tools in their eSuite to view their current order status or
history, and print and email invoices. Packaged together, these
tools offer customers an experience that can’t be found on any
other distributor websites.

Customer feedback has been very positive, having even received
industry accolades for the product. Customers tell us that eQuotes
saves them time, effort and money. Initially only available through
Newark, this technology will be expanded and added to the
Farnell websites.

Continued innovation will focus on new developments that
further improve our customers experience and attract new
customers to this content rich, user friendly channel.

U

Enhancing our supplier proposition

Suppliers are drawn to the unique Premier Farnell
value proposition. The high service business
model offers them a platform by which to “seed”
their designs into the market, targeting early stage
designs so that their components are selected
for inclusion in finished products.

The web is central to our strategic transformation and our
competitive advantage, as we leverage our expertise in 
content, commerce and community to assist our suppliers 
in navigating this new world. Our eSupplier programme is 
aimed at delivering a suite of web-based solutions which will
provide suppliers with access to technologies and insights 
that are unavailable elsewhere.

Throughout the year the Group has piloted and embedded a
number of tools in the eSupplier suite. Dedicated microsites 
were created to drive increased traffic and sales using search
engine optimisation. An ePortal was launched to give suppliers
access to a broad range of information including self-service
analytics intelligence. This intelligence includes reports generated
from a suite of web diagnostic tools which enable us to
understand whether our websites are meeting the requirements
of our customers. There was also the development of a virtual
tradeshow environment called ecoSphere. Here Premier Farnell
hosted technology conferences attended by suppliers,
customers and industry experts. Further enhancements are 
being developed, particularly around interactivity and Web 2.0
which will be launched throughout financial year 2010.

Individually each of these activities are powerful, but combined
into our eSupplier suite, Premier Farnell is positioning itself as 
the partner of choice for collaborative programmes focused 
at understanding customers psyches and decision-making
processes during all phases of design from conception through
to completion.
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We completed a strategic review over two years ago
and identified activities and opportunities that we
would target for profitable growth. In today’s economic
climate that may seem like history, but in the global
economic downturn it has become clear that the
strategy developed in 2006 is extremely relevant and
leaves us well placed both to defend margin and to
capitalise on available growth. Our strategy is reviewed
on a quarterly basis by the Premier Farnell Leadership
Council and refined. The 2009 reviews illustrated the
importance of agility and rapid execution to realise the
opportunities we see.

In two years we have successfully transformed many 
key parts of our business with the three simple themes 
of EDE, web and internationalisation giving clear direction 
to our actions.

Our strategy is one of profitable growth through focus on our
EDE customer base, the ongoing utilisation and development
of our web proposition and the internationalisation of our
business model as we expand into new higher growth
international territories. 

All of this is increasingly relevant in a time of recession. Our
focus on EDE, particularly EDE in emerging geographies and
key vertical segments, continues to offer growth. The web
provides efficiencies and real speed to market – in 2009 alone
we launched five new language sites to expand our model.

Focus on EDE
Central to the strategy is Electronic Design Engineering –
an attractive market which offers above average gross
margin and growth rates, values our proposition, and where
customers have the potential to buy more lines per order
than other parts of the market.

The global EDE market consists of customers involved in 
the design of electronic products and components and is
estimated at circa £15 billion worldwide. EDE customers
have similar service requirements wherever they are located
around the world – these include a broad product offering,
technical support and reliable and prompt delivery. 

Electronics continue to pervade all aspects of our lives, 
driven by aesthetics, size, functionality, legislation and the
environment. Even in recession, key industries like medical
and biometric security are forecast to grow, and while volume
production in areas like motor and consumer electronics may
decline, the number of design projects is forecast to be less
affected than production volume.

While our intelligence leads us to believe that MRO will
decline over the coming months we still believe that EDE 
will grow and is driven by key geographies and segments.
That, combined with our low market share and strong
customer acquisition programmes offer potential 
topline growth. 

In our key emerging territories we saw strong growth 
driven by these customer acquisition programmes 
(see “internationalising our model” on page 25).

Business Review

Strategy
R
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An important part of the proposition is the product range 
that we offer to EDEs. At the beginning of our strategy, we
announced that we intended to add approximately 70,000
products to our current stocked range with a further 50,000
lines to be available on demand. We have made good
progress this year and have added over 90,000 new products
(before deletions) into stock and have made further available
on an as needed basis. 

We have set as a goal for this part of our strategy that 50% 
of MDD revenue will come from EDE customers by the end 
of financial year 2010 and remain committed to that goal 
even in the current climate.

Enhance our web and eCommerce platforms
This part of our strategy is intended to provide design
engineers and purchasing professionals with a fast and
efficient channel to access the holistic solutions that they 
seek – combining access to products, information and
technical support.

The web is increasingly the preferred channel for EDE
customers and as well as offering them an efficient solution, 
it is how they interact with the broader technical community. 

It also offers Premier Farnell a lower cost to serve channel
compared with more traditional sales channels. We clearly
recognise the importance of this in the current climate and
have programmes in place to enhance our web further and
accelerate its adoption by our customers. Our aim is to
provide excellence in e-com solutions that don’t just benefit
us in terms of efficiency, but also offer our customers unique
benefits. In 2008, two key initiatives were launched online –
iBuy offering purchase controls to procurement professionals,
and eQuotes offering US customers the chance to request
and pick up quotations via the website.

This part of our strategy is a key element of our multi-channel
end to end customer experience plan, which includes both
our EDE and our MRO customer base.

We set a goal for this part of the strategy that 50%–70% 
of our MDD revenue will be via eCommerce by the end of
financial year 2010. We are now achieving 32.0% of sales 
via eCommerce channels and some regions are already
trading over 65%.

Internationalising our model 
Despite this period of deep recession, China, India and 
much of Eastern Europe are among the few areas still forecast
to achieve overall market growth, with China in particular
already committed to major government investment to
maintain economic growth.

The Chinese market for small volume electronics is estimated
at over £1 billion annually and growing at a rate faster than
Chinese GDP. This market is highly fragmented, offering a
significant growth opportunity and potential for us to achieve
market leadership with the growing number of design
engineers graduating from Chinese universities every year 
and engaging in design activities in their local industries. 

Our Premier Electronics business in China continues to make
good progress after its launching in 2007. The business is
focused on the local design community supported by local
inventory and next day delivery available in over 110 Chinese
cities. Growth in 2009 was 39.4%, driven by strong customer
acquisition programmes.

The expansion of the European Union and the highly
fragmented nature of these new markets also offer growth
opportunities. Our programme of expansion into Eastern
Europe has progressed strongly and showed growth of
68.4% with a clear focus on customer acquisition, EDE and
the web – five local language websites were launched in the
region during the year with a number of additional planned.
We also successfully completed the acquisition of the end
user business of our former distributor in Poland, Hungary
and the Czech Republic – Microdis – further driving growth 
in the region.

In January 2008, we successfully completed the acquisition of
the high service distribution business of Hynetic Electronics in
India. This business, which had sold the Farnell product range
for over six years as a distributor, has offices in nine locations
across the country, its own localised Farnell website and a
local catalogue for the Indian market.

In 2009, 17.6% of our MDD revenue came from developing
markets, making good progress towards our stated goal 
of 20%.

R 
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Initiatives to drive operational and cash efficiencies
As part of the strategic review in October 2006, we completed
a thorough analysis of our business processes. While this
confirmed the robustness of our existing processes, we
identified areas where efficiency improvements could be
made and we have been implementing those improvements
over the last two years.

The web continues to delight customers and has resulted 
in tangible benefits across the organisation. Over the next 
two years we anticipate that we will be able to reduce 
our operating expenses as a percentage of sales by 
2 percentage points (approximately £16 million). During the
year the web reached a critical mass which allowed us to 
re-evaluate the structure of certain operations and remove
costs. The annualised benefit of these reshaping actions
executed in the fourth quarter was £12 million, £4 million 
of which related directly to our transition to the web.

Continued rationalisation of operations will be ongoing as 
we continue with our plans to achieve an overall operating
expense reduction of approximately £16 million. Subsequent
to year end we took further action to expand our customer
reach, touch more customers more frequently and further
realise the benefits of our significant investments in the web
and our unique multi-channel sales approach. In North
America, we are restructuring our branch network and in
Europe we are rationalising our structure to leverage our 
pan-European talent. Detailed customer transition plans are
in place to ensure that customers will continue to experience
excellence from our multi-channel proposition, including
expanded contact centres and a rich web environment.

Combined these actions will reduce operating expenses as 
a percentage of sales by 2 percentage points (approximately
£16 million) and once the benefits are fully realised, the Group
is targeting operating margin as a percentage of sales to rise
to 12.0%. 

In order to finance our strategic transformation, the Group
committed to reducing working capital as a percentage of
sales by 2 percentage points, a saving which would pay 
for the required incremental investment. We still have one
more year in our initial three year strategy, and thus far have
seen working capital as a percentage of sales, increase from
27.1% in 2007 to 28.4% due to the slowdown experienced 
in the fourth quarter of 2009. We remain confident that 
the processes we have put in place will ensure we meet 
our target.

Actions which have reduced our working capital (before 
the impact of currency movements) include, more flexible
arrangements with certain suppliers, purchasing products 
for our global distribution centres in the lowest cost regions,
and improved web efficiencies.

Key performance indicators
The Group’s strategic transformation is intended to deliver
increased shareholder value over the period through the
successful execution of the elements described throughout
this annual report – EDE, the web and internationalisation. 
As the economic climate has changed, the appropriateness
of our strategy has been reinforced. All areas of our strategic
focus continue to grow and create new and exciting
opportunities. The Key Performance Indicators which were
set out when the strategy was announced in 2007 are
discussed in more detail on pages 8 and 9 of this report.
They comprise both strategic and financial metrics. 
The strategic metrics are those that are used to track our
success in executing the building blocks of our strategy 
and the financial metrics measure the outcomes of those
strategies in conjunction with the successful performance
management of our core business prior to the execution of
the strategy.

Business Review continued 
Strategy
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Strategic and financial measures:
> Sales per day growth focus on the faster growing 

EDE segment and operating in the faster growing 
regions of the world should deliver revenue growth 
in the 6%–8% range.

> Sales via eCommerce channels % this content rich and
lower cost to serve channel is expected to become the
primary channel for customers around the world, with
50%–70% of orders placed via eCommerce channels.

> Sales from developing markets % developing markets
are continuing to grow and produce good opportunities,
with a target of 20% of revenue from these international
and developing markets, the Group is committed to
continue investing in the areas where we see growth.

> Gross margin % gross margin stability is a key platform 
to deliver operational gearing. EDE margins are higher 
as are web margins and these work together to mitigate
the impact of lower margins in the emerging and historic
MRO markets.

> Return on sales % is a function of both the gross margin
stability and the success of efficiency programmes as 
well as reflecting the multi-channel cost to serve impact 
of our strategy.

> Return on net operating assets % reflects the effective
and efficient investment of funds and is important when
evaluating the success of our strategic initiatives.

> Free cash flow to revenue % this is a combined measure
of both the improved profitability and cash flow targets of
the strategy. We have set as a goal that we will achieve a
ratio of 6%.

> Employee engagement as a service business, our results 
are achieved through our people. Part of our investments
in the strategy have been in ensuring that we have the
right people in our business and that our employees are
actively engaged.

> Working capital as a % of sales this is a measure of the
success of our cash efficiency programmes.

Carbon footprint
We are aware that all businesses have an impact on the
environment in which they operate. As part of our strategy,
we are seeking both to limit the effect of the strategy on the
environment and to work actively to reduce the impact of 
the Group’s existing business. The actions being taken to
address our carbon footprint are outlined in our Corporate
Social Responsibility Report commencing on page 45.
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Group sales from continuing operations for the 52 week
financial year were £804.4 million (2008, 53 weeks: 
£744.7 million), reflecting year on year sales growth, 
based on sales per day for continuing businesses at 
constant exchange rates, of 1.0%. Group sales in the first
half grew 5.4% as the Group saw the continued execution 
of, and investment in, its strategy for profitable growth. 
The impact of the global economic downturn in the second
half resulted in a sales decline of 3.3% with the third quarter
growing by 1.7% and the fourth quarter declining 8.4%.
However, our ongoing focus on the execution of the strategy
has ensured that we have continued to outperform the
market and will position the Group well in the challenging 
and unpredictable economy.

Sales growth for MDD North Americas, where our EDE 
sales represent 30% of the business, was 0.3% for the full
year although the impact of the global recession resulted 
in a sales decline of 11.4% in the fourth quarter.

The success of our internationalisation plans are clearly
demonstrated by our sales growth in China of 39.4% 
for the full year with the fourth quarter maintaining double
digit sales growth of 14.8%, and Eastern Europe where 
we have maintained well over 50% sales growth each 
quarter throughout the year. In Mainland Europe, where
approximately 65% of sales are to EDE customers, full year
growth was 4.5% reflecting the resilience of our strategic
positioning despite the economic conditions. In the UK, 
the business continued to outperform the market throughout
the year with sales growth for the full year growing 0.8%.

Combined full year sales for Akron Brass and TPC Wire &
Cable, which together represent 93% of the IPD Division,
declined 2.5% as these businesses partly mitigated the
impact of the economic downturn on their traditional markets
by focusing on new product initiatives and new international
markets. Cadillac Electric sales, which represented 7% of
total IPD sales and 0.6% of Group sales declined 30.8% in
the year to £4.8 million, reflecting the continued planned wind
down of specific trading activity. As a suitable buyer for the
business has not been found, we have decided to close the
business and have successfully transferred customers and
products of the “Hoffman” range to our TPC Wire & Cable
business. The closure will be completed by the end of 
April 2009 at no significant cost to the Group.

The Group’s gross margin in the year from continuing
operations was 39.6% compared to the prior year of 39.7%.
This reflects over three years of gross margin stability which
underpins the Group’s strategy and continues to differentiate
Premier Farnell from the industry.

Key Financials
Continuing businesses

2009 2008
(52 weeks) (53 weeks)

£m £m Growth

Revenue 804.4 744.7 +1%(a)

Total operating profit 85.4 88.0 −13%(a)

Underlying operating profit(b) 88.8 88.0 −9%(a)

Total profit before taxation 72.8 71.2 +2%
Underlying profit before tax(c) 72.5 70.3 +3%

Basic earnings per share
– total 14.3p 10.0p +43%
– continuing operations 14.3p 13.7p +4%

Underlying earnings per share(c)

– total 13.9p 9.7p +43%
– continuing operations 13.9p 13.4p +4%
Notes:
(a) In order to reflect underlying business performance, sales growth is based on sales per day for continuing businesses at constant exchange rates and for like periods,

and growth in operating profit is calculated at constant exchange rates, unless otherwise stated.
(b) Underlying operating profit excludes restructuring costs of £3.4 million (2008: nil).
(c) Underlying profit before taxation and earnings per share excludes restructuring costs of £3.4 million (2008: nil) and excludes gains on the purchase and cancellation 

of preference shares of £3.7 million (2008: £0.9 million).
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Total operating profit was £85.4 million (2008: £88.0 million).
Underlying operating profit from continuing operations for the
52 week financial year was £88.8 million compared to the
prior period, which was a 53 week period, of £88.0 million.
Underlying operating margin for the year was 11.0%
compared to 11.8% in the prior year reflecting incremental
investment in our strategic initiatives in the year of over 
£8.0 million. There was a beneficial impact on operating 
profit of £9.8 million from the translation of overseas results
compared with the prior year, reflecting the relative strength
of both the US dollar and the Euro. A one cent movement 
in the exchange rate between the US dollar and sterling,
impacts the Group’s operating profit by approximately 
£0.2 million per annum, and a one cent movement in the
exchange rate between the Euro and sterling impacts the
Group’s operating profit by approximately £0.2 million 
per annum. At constant exchange rates, the decrease 
in operating profit was 9.2%, or 7.5% after adjusting for 
the extra week in the prior year.

Return on net operating assets (operating profit expressed as
a percentage of net assets excluding cash, financial liabilities,
taxation and goodwill) for the year was 29.6% before
restructuring costs (2008: 30.2%) compared to our strategic
target of 30% and reflects the impact of the relative strength
of the US dollar and Euro on our overseas net assets.

The consolidated year end balance sheet has been
significantly impacted by the relative strength of currencies
compared to sterling with the year end US dollar exchange
rate at US$ 1.44 (3 February 2008: US$ 1.97) and the 
Euro at Euro 1.13 (3 February 2008: Euro 1.33). The most
significant impacts of exchange rate movements on the year
end balance sheet compared to the prior year end has been
to increase the reported value of inventory by £32.1 million,
trade and other receivables by £21.7 million, and to increase
net financial liabilities by £59.2 million. In addition, the impact
of exchange rates on the US Pension Plan was a benefit of
£15.8 million.

Net finance costs for the year were £12.6 million compared
to £16.8 million in 2008 reflecting primarily the benefit from
the purchase and cancellation of preference shares during
the year.

Underlying profit before taxation from continuing operations
was £72.5 million compared to the prior year of £70.3 million,
an increase of 3.1% on the prior year or 5.1% after adjusting
for the extra week in the prior year.

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders was £51.7 million
(2008: £36.3 million).

Underlying earnings per share from continuing operations 
of 13.9p represented year on year growth of 3.7%.

Sales growth %

2008
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2009
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

6.0
4.7

1.7

–8.4

4.4
2.6

4.2

7.0

Gross margin %

2008
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2009
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

39.8 39.6 39.7 39.7 40.1 39.9 39.2 39.3

Underlying operating margin %

2008
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2009
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

12.1 11.5 11.7 12.0 12.1
11.2

10.6 10.2
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Marketing and Distribution Division (MDD)
MDD Comprises: Newark, Farnell Europe and Asia Pacific,
MCM and CPC

Continuing businesses
2009 2008

£m (52 weeks) (53 weeks) Growth+

Revenue 727.1 670.9 +1.6%
Total operating profit 82.8 84.4 −10.0%
Underlying operating profit* 85.7 84.4 −6.8%
Total operating margin % 11.4% 12.6%
Underlying operating margin %* 11.8% 12.6%

* Excluding restructuring costs of £2.9 million (2008: nil).
+ See note (a) on page 28.

Overall, sales for the year rose 1.6%. We have continued to
execute our strategy throughout the year, repositioning the
organisation for growth throughout the industry cycle, and
focusing on the faster growing areas of the market – EDE,
the web and internationalisation – while maintaining our focus
on profitable MRO. Sales growth in the first half of the year
was 6.2%, in line with our strategic target, while the second
half of the year was impacted by the unprecedented global
economic slowdown and saw sales decline by 3.0%. Despite
the current economic challenges, the strategy we set two
years ago is still aligned with the available opportunities for
growth. EDE, the web, China, India and most of Eastern
Europe are expected to continue growing as the global
economy declines during this down cycle, and we continue
rigorously to pursue growth in these target markets. We have
made, and despite the challenges of the global economy, will
continue to make, strategic investments in the business.
During the year we incurred incremental revenue investment
of over £8.0 million to meet the technical needs of our EDE
customer segment, as well as investing to ensure the
robustness of our global product offering. In addition, to
ensure that we are appropriately structured for the future, 
in the fourth quarter of the year we reduced our global
employee base by around 300, for a total Group wide one-off
cost of £3.4 million (of which £2.9 million related to the MDD
Division) and a total annualised benefit of £12.0 million. We
will continue to evaluate our operations to ensure that back
office systems and sales and marketing functions are
appropriately aligned to our customer shift in preferred 
sales channels.

Underlying operating profit was £85.7 million (2008: 
£84.4 million) with underlying operating margin of 11.8%
(2008: 12.6%). There was a beneficial impact on operating
profit in the financial year from the translation of overseas
results of £7.6 million, reflecting the relative strength of 
the US dollar (£4.6 million) and the Euro (£3.0 million).

Web sales grew 23.5% in the year and eCommerce channels
now account for 34.8% of total MDD sales and over 50% in
Farnell Europe. Continued enhancements to speed, search
and functionality, including several new tools to make the web
a richer channel, has seen it become our primary channel for
new customer acquisition. In addition, the development of
tools aimed at existing customers, including multi-channel
order history, allowing customers to review their entire
purchasing history online, has also resulted in a significant
proportion of customers switching to the web. Our websites
are best in class and are regularly tested against standards
set by web businesses; Premier Farnell regularly has faster
search times than well-known global web-centric brands.
Our websites contain up to three gigabytes of product,
legislative and environmental information for each of our over
400,000 products. This information is extremely valuable 
to EDE customers as they begin their designs and we have 
a dedicated team of professionals who pull together and 
distil this information.

The web migration has permitted us to effect permanent
changes to our cost base. This, together with the benefit 
of integrated programmes for cost reduction and operational
efficiency, will enable us to rebase our net operating expenses
as a percentage of sales. Accordingly, we have raised our
long-term target for return on sales for the Group as a whole
from 10% to 12%. 

The multi-channel approach for the MDD Division 
means that we will still produce informative catalogues.
These catalogues have evolved in line with our strategic
transformation and now have a greater emphasis on EDE
products and solutions than ever before. The businesses
have also used other marketing tools to attract new
customers; the year saw the launch of a journal targeted at
EDE customers, and the hosting of a number of sponsored
events which focused on specific product and market
segments. One such even focused on the LED market,
which is estimated to be growing at circa 20% annually, 
while another was focused on energy efficiency, which
continues to drive a significant amount of our customers’
redesign activities.

Product and supplier portfolio
We continue to evaluate our franchise portfolio to ensure 
that we have the right products and suppliers on our line
card. EDE customers require esoteric product for their new
designs, while profitable MRO customers require specific
products for the maintenance and repair work they conduct.
Striking the right balance is important and during the year 
we further strengthened our offering by adding more than 
40 new supplier partnerships to support our high service
proposition. The complete list follows:
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New major suppliers

Altera Programmable logic solutions
NXP Semicondctors Semiconductors, system solutions and software
Sanyo Denki Cooling, servo and power systems
Space Age Electronics Switches, relays and enclosures
Power Integration Analog integrated circuits
Lista International Storage and workspace systems
Solid State Devices Inc Semiconductors
Samtec Electronic interconnects
E-Switch Switches
Cree High Brightness LED
Blockmaster Terminal Blocks
Würth Elekronik EMC Solutions
TDK Capacitors

New emerging technology suppliers

ADDA AC DC Fans
Austria Microsystems Analog
Aventus AC DC Fans
Bridgelux High Brightness LED
Dataman Test and measurement products
Evidence Srl Real-time embedded systems
LedEngin High Brightness LED
Ht-Soft Commercial ANSI C cross compilers
Radiotronix Integrated IC-style RF modules
SIMCOM Communications
Crystek Frequency products
Wavecom Communications
Seiko Instruments CMOS IC, quartz crystal, 

micro-energy and LCD devices
Columbia Staver Heatsinks
Beaverswood Marking and Labelling
Advanced Thermal Solutions Advanced Heatsinks
Elite Semiconductor Memory
PLX Technology PCI Backplane Bridges and Dev Tools
Flexipanel/HEXWAX PIC Progamming and USB-based modules
Avonwood RFID Dev Tools and Tags
LM Technologies Radio/Comms Modules
Inova Semiconductor Communications
Amber Wireless Communications
UBLOX GPS Eval Kit
Star Micronics Ultrasonic liquid flow meters
MMD/Quartztek Frequency control products
Luminary Micro Semiconductors
Space Age Electronics Building automation
L-Com Cable assemblies, connectors and 

other connectivity devices
Coleman Cable Wire and cable products
Omron Scientific Machine safeguarding products
Mountz Torque Analyzers and Sensors
Vynicker Enclosure Systems Enclosures

Suppliers looking to reach our growing EDE customer 
base continue to partner with us in exclusive programmes.
Our high service proposition is as important to suppliers as 
it is to customers; suppliers value the high service model
because it enables the faster introduction of new products 
to EDE customers globally. When these new products 

are launched to the market quickly and effectively, as 
Premier Farnell does, there is a better chance that these 
time sensitive designs will incorporate the new technology,
thereby ensuring that the component will be required for the
ongoing large scale production of the product. 

Throughout the year we added 54,000 EDE products to 
our portfolio; these are esoteric products in high demand 
by our EDE customers. The Division’s portfolio now includes 
the majority of the world’s leading electronic component
brands and a strong base of emerging technology suppliers,
providing design engineers across the globe with increased
access to an impressive depth and breadth of product.

MDD Americas (Newark and MCM)

2009 2008
£m (52 weeks) (53 weeks) Growth+

Revenue 359.6 326.7 +0.3%
Total operating profit 32.6 31.0 −8.4%
Underlying operating profit* 33.5 31.0 −5.9%
Total operating margin % 9.1% 9.5%
Underlying operating margin%* 9.3% 9.5%

* Excluding restructuring costs of £0.9 million (2008: nil).
+ See note (a) on page 28.

Statistics from the Semiconductor Industry Association (SIA)
showed a year on year decline in billings in the Americas for
the equivalent period of 11.6%. In MDD Americas sales grew
0.3%, with the slow down experienced in the fourth quarter
offsetting the growth experienced in the first three quarters.
The first half of the year saw our strategy take hold and effect
real transformation in the Americas, while the second half
saw the business continue to drive the strategy despite the
slowing market.

Total operating margin for the year was 9.1% (2008: 9.5%).
Underlying operating margin was 9.3% (2008: 9.5%).

Web sales in MDD Americas grew by 25.9% in the year. 
Total eCommerce sales represented 20.3% of total sales 
in the year as our web channel continues to attract new
customers to our high service proposition and draw
customers from other channels to this rich source of
information. During the year the business launched several
new and innovative self-service eTools to make our web
proposition even richer, these include Multi-Channel 
Order History, which makes a customers complete history 
available regardless of channel, iBuy, Premier Farnell’s own
eProcurement solution and eQuotes which is an innovative
tool that makes turning a quote into an order, seamless.

R 
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Newark
Newark is a market-leading multi-channel distributor 
of electronic components, eProcurement solutions 
and stockroom management services in the Americas. 
Its customers include electronic design engineers and
maintenance repair technicians in the US, Canada, Mexico
and Brazil. It comprises 93% of MDD sales in the Americas.
Newark’s sales grew 0.6% in the year as the business
continued to pursue its strategic transformation in
increasingly challenging markets.

During the year Newark’s focus on the EDE segment of its
business included the introduction of more than 27,000 new
EDE products to its portfolio and launching several innovative
marketing campaigns to attract new EDE customers to 
its offering. Targeted marketing activities, together with
improvements to the web front end and the introduction 
of several new web tools, resulted in sales to the small and
emerging customer segment growing by 23.7% year on year.

New web tools included our multi-channel order history,
which gives customers access to their history with Newark
regardless of channel, and eQuotes, an innovative new online
quoting tool that can easily be converted into a purchase
order. These tools combined with improvements to our
speed and search capabilities have seen web sales increase
by 29.2%; sales via eCommerce now account for 20.3% of
total sales for the Division.

The web has not only improved functionality for our
customers, but has also provided Newark with improved
operating efficiencies. One touch order processing allows a
web order to be processed automatically; the first time it is
seen by one of our employees is when the order is sent to
our distribution facility for picking, packing and dispatch. 
The improved efficiency from this type of processing 
has allowed us to enhance our back office systems to 
ensure that they appropriately support our web offering. 
This permanent enhancement in our back office systems 
has improved our flexibility and cost structure, making the
web the most cost effective channel.

Newark continued to expand its multi-channel offering across
North America and subsequent to year end has announced a
restructuring of its branch network, resulting in the closure of
nine branches. A number of employees from these branches
will continue to form part of a local team that will continue
supporting customers and maintaining the business’ strong
presence in these markets. We have invested significantly 
in our contact centre to ensure that we are able to continue
the important one-to-one customer relationships already
established, and will continue investing in our web environment
to further attract customers to this content rich channel.

Newark Brazil recorded sales growth of 18.8% in the year
with full year sales of £6.9 million.

MCM
MCM distributes electronics and related equipment to service
and repair professionals and technical hobbyists throughout
the US and comprises 7% of MDD Americas sales. During
the year MCM sales were down 3.2% on the prior year, as
US consumer spending softened. Despite these challenges,
MCM attracted more than 30,000 new customers via the
web as a result of improvements to search engine marketing
and optimisation. Web sales improved 7.2% throughout the
year and eCommerce now accounts for 46.2% of total MCM
sales. In addition to improved web marketing, the business
continues to benefit from its traditional marketing campaigns
and innovative customer re-activation programmes. 

MDD Europe and Asia Pacific
(Farnell, CPC, Premier Electronics)
Continuing operations

2009 2008
£m (52 weeks) (53 weeks) Growth+

Revenue 367.5 344.2 +2.8%
Total operating profit 50.2 53.4 −11.0%
Underlying operating profit* 52.2 53.4 −7.4%
Total operating margin % 13.7% 15.5%
Underlying operating margin%* 14.2% 15.5%

* Excluding restructuring costs of £2.0 million (2008: nil).
+ See note (a) on page 28.

Sales increased by 2.8% in the year, as the strength
demonstrated by the business in the first half of the year
offset the slowing experienced in the second half. Mainland
Europe continues to be the region in the most advanced
stage of our strategic transformation and sales growth has
remained relatively strong. In the UK, we took actions early in
the year to address some areas where it was felt there were
failings, and throughout the year Farnell UK outperformed 
the market and embraced these changes. 

In Asia, the benefits from the strategic initiatives, in particular
the emphasis on growing China and India, helped deliver
strong growth in all four quarters. The underlying operating
margin of 14.2% reflected the impact of the sales decline in
the fourth quarter and the strategic investments we are
making for the future.

Progress has continued against the strategic initiatives. 
Web sales continue to grow, up 22.8% in the year, and
eCommerce sales now account for 46.4% of total sales. 
Five new local language websites were launched during the
year, in support of growing demand across Asia and Eastern
Europe. As predicted when we launched our strategy, EDE
sales grew faster at any time in the cycle than MRO, and we
continue to see an outperformance of EDE sales. In order 
to support this faster growing segment, MDD Europe and
Asia Pacific added more than 150,000 new EDE products to
its portfolio and signed exclusive distributorships with 40 new
EDE focused suppliers, ensuring exclusive access to new
high demand, specialised EDE products. 

Business Review continued 
Review of Operations
R 
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Light Emitting Diodes (LEDs): lighting the future 

In the current market conditions Light Emitting Diodes (LEDs) are one of the brightest lights. Sales of
LEDs are expected to show a larger growth rate than the overall semiconductor market for the first 
time ever this year, with a predicted growth on average of circa 20% annually according to market
intelligence company Databeans. 

 This predicted growth affects not just LED sales. Because a
typical LED solution is more complex than conventional lighting,
these solutions also drive the sale of associated electronics
products. LED drivers, specialised microcontrollers, thermal
solutions and lighting accessories are expected to experience 
a similar rise in sales. 

The market is driven by developments in LED technology by
companies such as Cree, Lumileds and Osram, who have
developed LEDs which are able to replace conventional lighting
sources in markets as diverse as domestic and commercial
lighting, automotive applications and signage. 

High-Brightness LEDs (HB-LEDs) offer many advantages over
conventional lighting, the most important being energy efficiency.
It is estimated that 20% of the world’s electricity generation is
given over to lighting, and conventional lighting can be as little as
5% efficient. HB-LEDs are an order of magnitude more efficient,
as well as being more reliable, longer lasting and flexible. 
Each new generation of HB-LED technology improves on 
these advantages and allows to LEDs to displace conventional
lighting in more applications. 

The LED market will get a further boost in the short term by 
the banning of incandescent bulbs, the most inefficient type of
lighting. The national governments of several countries, including
Brazil and Switzerland, have already started to phase out the 
use of incandescent bulbs and the EU is set to follow by 2012.
Premier Farnell has prepared for this by stating it will not sell any
more incandescent bulbs after current stocks are exhausted. 

With such a broad range of markets and such complexity of
design, HB-LED solutions have brought lighting under the remit
of the electronics design engineer. With its existing large EDE
client base, which operates in every area of the Electronics
market, Premier Farnell is ideally placed to capture a major share
of the HB-LED market. The Company already offers a huge range
of HB-LEDs and supporting products, which is growing on a daily
basis, and also the highest levels of support for EDEs working in
this emerging and exciting industry.
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Internationalisation also continued at pace and sales from
developing markets accounted for 17.6% of total sales,
approaching the 20% target.

Revenue by region
Continuing businesses

2009 2008 Revenue
£m (52 weeks) (53 weeks) growth+

UK (including exports) 176.9 179.1 +0.8%
Mainland Europe 155.0 134.4 +4.5%
Asia Pacific 35.6 30.7 +6.7%

+ See note (a) on page 28.

Mainland Europe
Strategic progress is most advanced in mainland Europe 
and our continued focus on EDE, the web and faster growing
international markets all combined to deliver sales growth 
of 4.5% during the year, helping to offset the effects of the
economic slowdown. Continued innovation has supported
web sales growth in the year and customers are increasingly
drawn to this content rich channel. iBuy, the new
eProcurement solution launched in the second quarter, 
has seen strong take up with over 1,000 active customers.
Customer segmentation work has ensured that the business
has the products and solutions to meet the needs of EDE
customers in high growth segments. Despite the broad
based slowing, certain segments of the market demonstrated
strong growth throughout the year and this business worked
with customers and suppliers to target this growth through
effective and efficient means. The addition of new EDE
products improves the breadth and depth of the portfolio.
Sales from the fast growing East European market grew
68.4%, more than 50% growth in each quarter. A local
approach to business in these regions, combined with the
strength of 11 local language websites, the broad product
offering and guaranteed next day delivery has resulted in the
acquisition of customers in the region every day. For more
information refer to the case study on page 35.

In December the business acquired part of the trading rights
and assets of the Microdis Holdings Group, a distributor in
Poland, Hungary and the Czech Republic. Microdis has a
long history in Eastern Europe and was an authorised
distributor for Farnell. This acquisition will extend the Farnell
footprint even further into this high growth region.

UK
The Division’s UK sales, comprising sales from Farnell UK
and CPC, increased 0.8% in the year.

Farnell: Farnell markets and distributes electronic
components, test and measurement equipment and MRO
products to design engineers, purchasing professionals 
and maintenance technicians, with businesses in the UK,
mainland Europe and Asia Pacific.

Farnell UK sales declined by 0.7% in the year, reflecting 
the challenging market conditions, yet still significantly
outperforming the market; the Association of Franchised
Distributors of Electronic Components (AFDEC) showed a
decline in the UK of 4.1%. Corrective actions taken early in
the year to address some performance related challenges
saw Farnell UK deliver three straight quarters of sales growth,
while the fourth quarter was significantly challenged by
slowing sales in many areas of the market. Despite these
challenges, progress against the strategic initiatives continues
and as a result the business was in a position to reduce
costs by way of non-essential head count reductions in the
fourth quarter. Further rationalisation is expected as we align
the business with the needs of our EDE customers, the web
and new and developing international markets.

CPC: CPC distributes electrical and electronic equipment
and accessories.

Sales for the year were broadly flat, as the business was able
to offset the softening market through innovative marketing
campaigns and targeted sales growth in some of the higher
growth segments of its market like energy efficiency and own
brand. Own brand sales continued to perform strongly and
represented 24% of total sales in the year as customers
looked for alternative products to meet their needs. CPC’s
web sales increased 16.7% and record numbers of unique
visitors logged on, driven by improvements to the web front
end and new ways of marketing the web. Despite the
challenges in the market and the increasing pressure on
prices, CPC effectively controlled its margins.

Asia Pacific
Sales in Asia Pacific were up 6.7% in the year, reflecting the
strong growth of sales in Asia offsetting the challenging year
faced by Australia and New Zealand.

Our strategy predicted that China and India would continue
to see strong growth, even if Western economies entered a
downturn and the results delivered throughout the year have
demonstrated the continued appropriateness of this strategy.
Although China and India are experiencing a slow-down, they
continue to grow and continue to demonstrate significant
opportunities for further expansion. 

In China, EDE customers are drawn to the high service
proposition that enables us to deliver next day to more 
than 110 cities across the country. The web is the preferred
channel for these customers as they spend significant
amounts of time online, researching legislative and
environmental requirements, viewing products and product
specifications, talking to one another or our technical experts
and placing orders. Sales in China increased 39.4% on the
prior year as customer acquisition activities, the broad
product offering and a targeted approach to higher growth
segments of the market continued to deliver growth, despite
the somewhat slower economy. For more information refer 
to the case study on page 35.

Business Review continued 
Review of Operations
R 
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Expanding customer reach
in Eastern Europe 

Premier Farnell entered the EDE markets in
Poland, Hungary, the Czech Republic and
Slovakia during 2007 as part of our strategy 
to penetrate profitable emerging markets in
Eastern Europe. Since then, Farnell has
expanded through 11 local language websites
and a dedicated sales team, offering 475,000
products on next day delivery to over 6,000
active customers across the region.

Eastern Europe has experienced significant levels of
industrialisation as a result of application for inclusion in the
European Union and this continues to drive considerable
development and investment. The region has a highly educated
workforce, with a large proportion of electronic design engineers,
and as the economy continues to grow, so too does the demand
from consumers, businesses and government for new products. 

Premier Farnell delivered an 68.4% growth in sales in Eastern
Europe, with the rapid acquisition of customers to our high
service proposition and the launch of five more local language
websites. We also completed an acquisition of part of the assets
and trading rights formerly belonging to the Microdis Holdings
Group, an authorised distributor for Farnell for six years. 
This acquisition has significantly extended our customer reach
within Poland, Hungary and the Czech Republic. It has allowed
us to build on the relationships with the EDE community in the
region and enhance our existing offering in support of local
design engineers.

Our high service proposition is extremely attractive to EDE
customers and we continue to take market share and grow 
our business through a consistently localised approach to 
the markets where growth exists. 

U

Supporting China’s rapid growth 

China is one of the world’s largest economies
and continues to be one of the fastest growing,
with forecasters expecting 2009 GDP of 6%. 
The strength of the economy is supported
through a large population base, fast paced
industrialisation, significant public investment 
and a high esteem for education. China has the
largest number of electronic design engineers in
the world, with an estimated 70,000 graduating
from universities every year. The majority of these
engineers remain in China, designing for local
consumption.

Increased government investment has been announced for a
number of electronics sectors, including lighting, alternative
energy and energy management, medical devices and high
technology security.

Premier Electronics was established in 2007 and offers
customers in China the same high service available to customers
around the world. With more than 20,000 products available for
next day delivery to over 110 Chinese cities, the business is well
placed to support all of the growing sectors. 

Our transformation to an EDE and web business in China
continues at pace. More than 50% of sales are now EDE
products and the business exited the year with eCommerce 
sales accounting for 30% of total sales. Sales growth for the 
year as a whole was 39.4%. 

We are committed to growing our market share in China. 
As one of the only large players in the market, we know the 
scale of opportunity that exists and continued investment will 
support growth.
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Farnell India, which started trading at the end of January
2008 completed its first year as part of the Group. The
business was quick to adopt our high service proposition 
and saw significant sequential sales growth in all four quarters.
In order to support local EDE customers, Farnell India
expanded its network to nine branches, launched a local
websites with rupee pricing, introduced a catalogue to the
market and developed cyber cafes that enable customers
who do not have access to the web a place to go and use
our website. Farnell India offers more than four million
products available for delivery from the distribution centres
located globally. For more information refer to the case study
on page 37.

Markets continued to be challenging in Australia and 
New Zealand (ANZ). This business went through a rigorous
reshaping in the third quarter in order to address some of 
the challenges it faced. A team was dispatched to address
people, product and pricing issues faced by the ANZ
business. Each of these issues has now been corrected 
and the business is now strategically aligned with
opportunities in the local market. Sales for the year 
were down 6.1%. 

 Industrial Products Division
The Industrial Products Division (IPD) comprised three
businesses during the year, Akron Brass and TPC Wire 
& Cable, both supplying high performance products to
specialist industrial markets, and Cadillac Electric which 
has now been closed.

2009 2008
£m (52 weeks) (53 weeks) Growth+

Revenue 77.3 73.8 −5.0%
Total operating profit 14.1 14.8 −17.1%
Underlying operating profit* 14.3 14.8 −15.9%
Total operating margin % 18.2% 20.1%
Underlying operating margin%* 18.5% 20.1%

* Excluding restructuring costs of £0.2 million (2008: nil).
+ See note (a) on page 28.

Our IPD Division predominantly supplies products for 
North American industrial markets. Sales for Akron Brass 
and TPC Wire & Cable combined, which together represent
93% of the IPD business, declined 2.5% in the year as both 
these businesses continued to diversify successfully in to
international and new industrial markets to offset the decline
in their traditional North American markets which have been
significantly impacted by the economic slowdown. Cadillac
Electric sales, which represent 7% of total IPD sales and
0.6% of Group sales, declined to £4.8 million, reflecting 
the planned wind down of specific trading activity.

Akron Brass
Akron Brass is a market leader in the manufacture and sale
of high performance fire-fighting equipment for fire trucks
manufacturers, public fire services and industrial facilities. 
Its products are designed to improve the safety and efficiency
of personnel and equipment engaged in the suppression of
fire and also includes lighting and electrical control solutions.
It sells through its own field sales force and through
distributors to customers around the world. It has a high
share of the North American market and seeks to grow by
broadening its product range and reach new geographic 
and industrial markets.

Sales at Akron Brass were down 0.9%, reflecting the
success of measures taken to diversify and expand into
international and new industrial markets. International 
sales now represent 21.1% of the business’s total sales.
Akron Brass also saw strong growth from new industrial
segments, including school buses, petrochemical and 
military applications. 

Tight cost controls and initiatives to ensure that the business
is the right shape for its current market conditions have
allowed the business to maintain its margins again this year.

TPC Wire & Cable
TPC is a distributor of high performance electrical wire, cable
and connectors designed for heavy duty or harsh industrial
environments in the US, Canada and Mexico. 

TPC sales declined 8.0% during the year, as the business’s
traditional automotive markets were severely impacted by the
slowing global economy. Diversification into new industrial
markets, including crane, utilities, alternative energy and
petrochemical, continues. Sales into non-automotive markets
now account for 80% of sales and the business will continue
to develop new products for the higher growth segments that
it supports. 

Programmes have been put in place to ensure that TPC is
right-sized for current business levels. Reduced overheads
and tight control on all other costs have resulted in stable
margin, despite the slowing sales environment.

Cadillac Electric
Sales in Cadillac were down 30.9% in the year at £4.8 million,
reflecting the significant challenges faced by the North
American automotive market and the planned wind down 
of specific trading activities. Towards the end of the year 
the decision was taken to transfer the “Hoffman” range of
products to the TPC Wire & Cable business and to wind
down the remaining part of this business. This will be
completed by the end of the first quarter of 2010 at no
significant cost to the Group.

Business Review continued 
Review of Operations
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U

India’s high service, high growth opportunities 

India’s electronics industry has undergone 
rapid development since the 1970s. Significant
investment in education has meant that it now
has more than 200,000 engineering graduates
contributing approximately 10% of electronic
design engineers to the global EDE market, 
as well as the local market. The importance of
engineering to India is evident in some of the
areas where it differentiates itself. For instance,
India is one of only three countries that makes its
own supercomputers, and is one of only six that
launches its own satellites.

Rapid industrialisation continues at pace and the Asian
Development Bank estimates that the economy will grow by
approximately 7% in 2009. While this represents a decline from
the prior five year period, this still anticipates healthy growth and
a robust electronics industry.

Farnell India was established on 1 February 2008, following the
acquisition of part of the assets and trading rights of Hynetics, 
a principal distributor of the Farnell brand in India.

Medical devices, consumer durables, automotive electronics,
personal computing and information technology all continue to
demonstrate strong growth within the Indian market and Farnell
India has more than four million products available to support
customers in these segments. With nine branches supporting the
major electronic engineering design centres across the country, 
a localised website and catalogue, and guaranteed next day
delivery, Farnell India is established in this market and continues
to grow. Customers across India now receive the same high
service treatment available to any Premier Farnell customer
around the world.

Premier Farnell will continue to monitor market activities, investing
for growth where it is available and adjusting the value proposition
to capitalise on opportunities.

U

Innovation to drive high value proposition

The creation of Global Technology Centres
(GTCs) has further differentiated Premier Farnell 
in the market, and continues to add value for
customers. The GTCs are fundamental to
accelerating our strategic transformation to 
EDE and the web.

Located in Chengdu, China and Bangalore, India, the GTCs
employ electronic design engineers to provide technical support
to customers, develop content for the websites, technical
journals and eCommunity, as well as develop and manage
projects that will accelerate our transformation to an EDE 
centric business. 

Ensuring that we are able to support the global EDE community
is essential. We must have the right people, product and services
in place in order to attract and retain these strategically important
customers. As fully trained and experienced EDEs, employees 
in the GTCs have more insight into the minds of EDE customers
than anyone else. They have worked in a variety of environments
and understand the design cycle, design requirements and 
how expectations are changing in relation to legislative and
environmental requirements. Working together with suppliers,
customers and technical experts, these in-house EDEs identify
products and suppliers to enhance or complement our existing
global portfolio.

The creation of new tools and data for EDE customers is also of
critical importance to our high service proposition. EDEs have a
natural propensity for the web; they are early adopters of new
technology and look for innovation in the websites they frequent.
The GTCs collect, analyse and create all of the unique data and
technical content that appears on our global websites, ensuring
complete accuracy; they are also tasked to provide advanced
engineering support and backup technical assistance for all
regions, as well as general product training and trouble-shooting. 

The GTCs are also heavily involved in the design of products and
content for the eCommunity site, including multi-vendor product
comparisons and pickup and play applications. The eCommunity
will leverage this technical expertise together with the
eCommerce expertise elsewhere in the business to create a 
rich and exciting environment where our customers and suppliers
can interact, collaborate and develop lasting relationships.
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A review of the Group’s results and operations is given 
on pages 30 to 37. Other financial matters are noted below.

Net finance costs
Net finance costs for the year of £12.6 million (2008: 
£16.8 million) comprised net interest payable of £11.9 million
(2008: £10.8 million), which was covered 7.5 times by
underlying operating profit, and a net cost of £0.7 million
(2008: £6.0 million) relating to the Company’s convertible
preference shares.

The increase in net interest payable reflects the negative
impact of exchange rates with the benefit of lower interest
rates on the Group’s bilateral banking facilities, which carry 
a LIBOR based floating rate of interest, offset by the interest
cost of additional borrowings to fund the Group’s purchase
and cancellation of preference shares.

The net cost in respect of the Company’s convertible
preference shares, included the preference dividend for 
the year of £3.5 million (2008: £5.6 million), together with a 
£0.9 million (2008: £1.3 million) charge for the amortisation 
the implied redemption premium on preference shares.

During the year the Company purchased and cancelled
1,824,302 of its preference shares for a total cash cost of
£23.6 million. Based on the book value and fair value of the
instruments at the date of purchase, the financial liability
element of the preference shares was reduced by £27.4 million
and the equity element by £4.8 million. A gain of £3.7 million
was recognised in the income statement being the difference
between the book value and fair value of the financial liability
element at the date of purchase. The gain arising from the
difference between the book value and fair value of the equity
element of £4.8 million was recognised as a movement in
retained earnings.

In the prior year, the Company purchased and cancelled
1,236,500 of its preference shares for a total cash cost 
of £17.7 million, resulting in a gain of £0.9 million being
recognised in the income statement. Further details relating
to the Company’s preference shares are given in note 15 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Taxation
The Group’s effective tax charge for continuing operations
can be analysed as follows:

2009 2008
£m (52 weeks) (53 weeks)

Profit before tax 72.8 71.2
Adjust for preference dividends and 
gain on purchase and cancellation 
of preference shares (0.2) 4.7

Adjusted profit before tax 72.6 75.9

Effective rate 29.0% 28.2%

Tax charge 21.1 21.4

This effective tax rate of 29.0% compares favourably with the
corporate tax rates of 28.0% in the UK and 35.0% in the US,
reflecting the Group’s efficient financing structure.

Business acquisition
On 16 December 2008, the Group acquired part of the assets
and trading rights of Microdis Electronics, part of Microdis
Holding AG, used in carrying on its business as an existing
authorised distributor of Farnell products in Poland, the Czech
Republic and Hungary, for a total consideration, including
costs, of £1.0 million of which £0.2 million is payable in
calendar year 2009. The fair value of the intangible assets
acquired was £1.0 million which is being amortised over a
period of 10 years.

Ordinary dividend
The Board is recommending a final ordinary dividend of 
5.2 pence per share (2008: 5.2 pence per share), which,
together with the interim dividend, amounts to a total dividend
per share of 9.4 pence (2008: 9.2 pence) an increase of 
2.2%, and with a total impact on shareholders’ funds of 
£34.0 million. The final dividend is subject to approval at 
the Annual General Meeting on 16 June 2009, is payable on 
24 June 2009 to shareholders on the register at 29 May 2009.
The Board believes that the growth in earnings and increase
in free cash flow support the level of dividend proposed. 
It recognises the value of the dividend to shareholders and
will continue to assess the appropriate level of dividend,
taking into consideration the earnings and cash requirements
of the Group.

Business Review

Financial Review
R
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Post-retirement benefits
The Group accounts for pensions and other post-retirement
benefits in accordance with IAS 19. The net charge for 
post-retirement benefits from continuing operations was 
£0.9 million (2008: £0.3 million) and can be analysed 
as follows:

2009 2008
Credit/(charge) £m (52 weeks) (53 weeks)

Defined benefit pension plans 2.2 2.5
Defined contribution pension plans (2.5) (2.3)
Other post-retirement benefits (0.6) (0.5)

Continuing operations (0.9) (0.3)

The Group’s two principal defined benefit pension plans are
in the US and the UK. The movement in the balance sheet
asset/(liability) of these plans during the year was as follows:
£m US Plan UK Plan

Asset/(liability) at beginning of year 53.4 (13.5)
Income/(expense) 2.8 (0.5)
Contributions – 3.4
Actuarial losses recognised in the year (74.8) (9.9)
Currency translation adjustment 15.8 –

Liability at end of year (2.8) (20.5)

Actuarial losses of £74.8 million were recognised during the
year relating to the US Plan, due primarily to the decline in 
US equity markets, partly offset by currency translation gains,
with a resulting liability at the year end of £2.8 million. During
the fourth quarter, the US Plan’s exposure to equity markets
was reduced with the Plan having 40.0% of its assets
invested into bonds.

The UK Plan, which has 58.5% of its investments in equities,
was also impacted by the fall in the market value of shares
during the year, partly offset by scheduled company
contributions of £3.4 million, to give a closing liability 
of £20.5 million.

The impact of the year end valuation on our defined benefit
pension plans will result in an estimated net charge to the
income statement in the year ending 31 January 2010 of
£4.8 million, compared to net income of £2.2 million in 2009.
Company contributions to the US and UK Plans in the next
financial year will be nil and £3.1 million, respectively.

Further details on the Group’s US and UK defined benefit
pension plans are given in note 27 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Cash flow and net debt
Free cash flow attributable to ordinary shareholders is
summarised below.

2009 2008
£m (52 weeks) (53 weeks)

Operating profit from continuing operations 85.4 88.0
Restructuring costs:
– income statement impact 3.4 –
– cash impact (2.0) –
Non-cash impact of restructuring costs 1.4 –
Depreciation and amortisation 18.0 19.1
Changes in working capital 2.7 (4.7)
Additional pension scheme funding 
(UK defined benefit plan) (2.9) (3.1)
Other non-cash movements (2.3) (1.5)

Cash generated from 
continuing operations 102.3 97.8
Cash generated from 
discontinued operations – (1.2)

Total cash generated from operations 102.3 96.6
Capital expenditure (16.1) (17.5)
Proceeds from sale of property, 
plant and equipment 3.3 1.9
Interest and preference dividends (15.2) (16.5)
Taxation (21.9) (23.1)

Free cash flow 52.4 41.4

Free cash flow to revenue % 6.5% 5.6%

Free cash flow to revenue % excluding 
impact of restructuring 6.8% 5.6%

Cash generated from continuing operations represented
120% of operating profit, or 117% excluding the impact 
of restructuring costs (2008: 111%). This reflects the
improvement in working capital during the year of £2.7 million
as we continue to ensure that our investment in inventory to
meet the needs of the EDE customer is achieved through
well controlled working capital management. Total working
capital as a percentage of sales was 28.4% compared to
25.7% in the prior year.

Capital expenditure of £16.1 million included £9.1 million of
software development costs, principally to enhance existing
systems. The disposal of surplus property in Germany
generated proceeds of £3.3 million.

R 
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The change in net financial liabilities is summarised below:
£m

Opening net financial liabilities (254.1)
Free cash flow 52.4
Ordinary dividends (34.0)
Business acquisitions (1.1)
Business disposals 0.7
Issue of ordinary shares 0.9
Purchase of ordinary shares (2.9)
Preference shares (net impact) 2.9
Derivative financial instruments (1.5)
Exchange movement (59.2)

Closing net financial liabilities (295.9)

The impact from exchange rates during the year was to
increase financial liabilities by £59.2 million, principally in
relation to our $225 million private placement notes.

At 1 February 2009, the Group’s net financial liabilities
comprised the following:

2009 2008
£m £m

Cash and cash equivalents 39.6 37.6
Bank loans and overdrafts (110.4) (85.7)
US$225 million Senior Notes 
due 2010 and 2013 (156.2) (114.2)
Other loans (5.1) (3.0)
Preference shares (59.4) (85.9)
Derivative financial instruments (4.4) (2.9)

(295.9) (254.1)

Debt maturity
The maturity of the Group’s gross financial liabilities at 
1 February 2009 of £331.1 million, excluding derivative
financial instruments, is as follows:

2009 2009 2008
Reported Porforma*

£m £m £m

Due within one year 0.7 0.7 0.1
Between one and two years 155.7 45.9 0.1
Between two and five years 110.6 220.4 119.4
After five years 64.1 64.1 169.2

331.1 331.1 288.8

* Reflects the impact of new borrowing facilities drawn down on 9 February 2009.

On 28 January 2009, we announced we had reached
agreement to replace our £200 million bilateral facilities which
were set to expire in mid-2010 with £150 million syndicated
committed bank facilities. The new facilities expire in January
2013 and, together with the Group’s continuing strong cash
generation, provide the necessary level of operational and
financial flexibility to meet the Group’s funding requirements
for the longer term. The impact of the higher margin and fees
payable under the new facilities are offset by a decrease in
LIBOR and will thus result in the blended cost of finance for
the Group being broadly unchanged. 

Under these new facilities, which were drawn down on 
9 February 2009, £109.8 million of the financial liabilities
categorised as “between one and two years” as at 
1 February 2009 would be re-categorised as due “between
two and five years”. Based on the new facilities, our
headroom on bank borrowings at the year end would have
been £37 million which, together with our net cash position 
of £39 million, gives us sufficient working capital funding.

The Group anticipates that the combination of free cash-flow,
existing cash resources and available bank facilities will enable
it to meet the repayment of the US$66 million Senior Notes
which become due in June 2010. 

Treasury operations
The Group is exposed to a number of different market risks,
including movement in interest rates and foreign currency
exchange rates. The Group has established policies and
procedures within the treasury function to monitor and manage
the exposures arising from volatility in these markets, with
derivative instruments being entered into when considered
appropriate by management.

The Group treasury function is responsible for sourcing and
structuring borrowing requirements, managing interest rate
and foreign exchange exposure and managing any surplus
funds, which are invested mainly in short-term deposits with
financial institutions that meet the credit criteria approved 
by the Board. Specifically, counterparty creditworthiness is
determined by reference to credit ratings as defined by the
global rating agency Fitch. For all deposits of more than 
£1 million, minimum short-term credit ratings are F1 (“highest
credit quality”) and minimum long-term ratings are A (“high
credit quality”). For deposits of over £5 million, the minimum
ratings increase to F1+ and AA – for short-term and long-term
ratings, respectively. In addition, monthly reports are
produced by the Group treasury function which are used to
monitor treasury activities. Important treasury management
decisions are approved by the Board and an annual report
detailing the Group’s debt, cash and hedging activity is
reviewed by the Board. Group policy prohibits speculative
arrangements in that transactions in financial instruments are
matched to an underlying business requirement, such as
forecast debt and interest repayments and expected foreign
currency revenues. The Group uses derivatives only to
manage its foreign currency and interest rate risks arising
from underlying business activities. The Group treasury
function is subject to periodic independent reviews by the
Internal Audit Department. Controls over interest rate and
foreign exchange exposures and transaction authenticity are
in place and dealings are restricted to those banks with the
relevant combination of geographic presence and suitable
credit rating.

The Group monitors the credit ratings of its counterparties
and credit exposure for each counterparty.

The Group typically hedges transactions primarily related to
the purchase and sale of inventories denominated in foreign
currencies through foreign exchange forward contracts. 
These contracts reduce currency risk from exchange rate
movements with respect to these transactions and cash flows.

Business Review continued 
Financial Review
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The Group does not hedge profit translation exposure, 
unless there is a corresponding cash flow, since such hedges
provide only a temporary deferral of the effect of movements
in exchange rates. Similarly, while a significant proportion of
the Group’s borrowings are denominated in US dollars, the
Group does not specifically hedge all of its long-term
investments in overseas assets.

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
The Group’s consolidated financial statements have been
reported in accordance with IFRSs. The Group has not been
required to adopt any other new accounting standards during
the year which have had a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

With effect from 2 February 2009, the Group has adopted
IFRS 8, “Operating Segments”. This will not affect the
financial results of the Company but will have an impact on the
Group’s segmental disclosure, in order to reflect a format more
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Board
on which operating decisions are made. The 2009 results
under the revised segmental format would be as follows:

Revenue £m

EDE distribution businesses
– Americas 335.5
– Europe and Asia Pacific 303.8

Total EDE distribution businesses 639.3
Other distribution businesses 87.8

Total distribution businesses 727.1
Industrial Products Division 77.3

Group total 804.4

Underlying Total 
Operating profit £m £m

EDE distribution businesses
– Americas 31.2 30.3
– Europe and Asia Pacific 44.8 43.0

Total EDE distribution businesses 76.0 73.3
Other distribution businesses 9.7 9.5

Total distribution businesses 85.7 82.8
Industrial Products Division 14.3 14.1
Head office costs (11.2) (11.5)

Group total 88.8 85.4

Details of the new accounting standards that are not 
yet effective are given in the Accounting Policies on 
pages 81 to 85.

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended
1 February 2009 on pages 117 to 124 continue to be
prepared in accordance with UK GAAP.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
There are a number of risks and uncertainties that could have
an effect on the Group’s performance. As at the date of this
report, the Board considers the risks described below to be
the principal risks facing the Group. 

During the year the Board also considered carefully the 
rapidly changing economic environment that has affected all
businesses. As a result, the Board decided to take steps to
refinance the Company’s banking facilities due to expire in 
mid 2010 and this process was successfully completed, 
as described in the Financial Review on page 40. The new
facilities expire in January 2013 and, together with the Group’s
continuing strong cash generation, provide the necessary 
level of operational and financial flexibility to meet the 
Group’s funding requirements. Based on these new facilities,
our headroom on bank borrowings at the financial year end
would have been £37 million which, together with our net
cash of £39 million, gives us a healthy funding position.

Initiatives that drive operational and cash efficiencies are
particularly important in current market conditions and the
action taken by the Group in this regard is set out in the
Business Review, together with information on the Group’s
markets and the impact of economic cycles.

The Group’s risk management structure is kept under review
in order to ensure that it adapts to changing market conditions.
The process by which risks are identified, managed and
mitigated forms part of the Group’s system of internal control
that is described in detail on page 63. The key risks identified
through that process and how they are managed are outlined
below. During the year the Board recognised the need to put
in place additional measures to identify and manage risks to
the Group’s balance sheet arising from the turmoil in the
financial sector. An example of this is the refinancing of the
Group’s bank facilities described above.

Market migration
By comparison with the migration of manufacturing to lower
cost economies in recent years, Premier Farnell’s markets
have remained geographically relatively stable. While lower
wage rates have attracted high volume manufacturing to
Eastern Europe and Asia, the migration of research and
development and small scale manufacturing, two of Premier
Farnell’s primary customer groups, is less pronounced. 
Work carried out as part of the Group’s review of strategy,
announced in October 2006, confirmed that much of the
electronic design engineering work which forms a large part
of the Group’s customer base has remained in regions in
which the Group has a strong presence. In addition, there 
is a large installed base of electronic equipment in Premier
Farnell’s traditional geographic markets that needs maintaining,
providing an ongoing market for the Group’s maintenance
and repair products. Nevertheless, there is likely to be an
ongoing decline in the Group’s manufacturing customer base
in these geographic markets. This risk is being addressed 
in two ways: first, by emphasising growth in the electronic
design engineering segment of the Group’s customer base
and, second, by continuing to increase the Group’s presence
in Asia and Eastern Europe. Further progress was made in
this area during the year with the launch of local transactional
websites in a number of Eastern European countries and in
India and the acquisition of certain assets and trading rights
of the Microdis Holdings Group, the Company’s former
distributor in Poland, Hungary and the Czech Republic. 
The Group will continue to increase its presence in
developing markets to mitigate dependence on territories
where the market for its products and services is more mature.
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Systems and infrastructure
The operations of the Group’s main businesses are heavily
dependent on its principal distribution facilities in Gaffney
(US), Leeds (UK) and Liège (Belgium), from which a
significant proportion of customer orders are despatched,
and on the Group’s IT hardware and software. The Group
takes steps to protect these distribution facilities with
measures such as sprinkler protection and the separate
storage of highly flammable products and works closely 
with its insurers in assessing the risks of damage to these
facilities. In addition, business continuity plans exist and are
under review with the aim of minimising the adverse impact
on the business should significant damage occur. For the 
UK and European business, this planning is assisted by the
Group’s ability to switch order fulfilment between distribution
facilities in Leeds and Liège, as these facilities hold a
proportion of common products. In the US a review of
warehouse management systems has led to improvements
in performance and more robust contingency plans.

The resilience of the Group’s IT infrastructure is regularly
reviewed by management; external penetration testing and
internal disaster recovery tests are carried out and regularly
audited and the Group runs automated intrusion protection
systems. Plans are developed to address areas of potential
weakness and, where practicable, these plans are fully tested.

Competitive pressures
The Group’s Marketing and Distribution Division, which
accounts for 90% of the Group’s sales, operates in a
fragmented market with a number of international and many
regional competitors. This environment creates pressure on
the prices that the Division is able to charge for its products
and on the levels of service it provides. It is therefore
fundamental that the Division’s proposition to its customers
remains attractive and at the forefront of its chosen markets.
The Group maintains awareness of developments in the
market, including actions by competitors, and anticipates
and responds to such developments. The results of the
review of strategy announced in October 2006 clearly defined
the Group’s emphasis on areas of profitable growth via
differentiation from its main competitors. An important factor
in recent years has been customer demand for the ability 
to transact with the Group electronically. Electronic channels
are increasingly preferred by customers and also bring
efficiencies to the Group. There is, therefore, a significant
focus on the Group’s progress in continually upgrading its
eCommerce capabilities and offering. This year has seen the
roll out of new transactional websites based on its global
eCommerce platform in India and in Eastern Europe and the
development and testing of the Company’s online community
to support design engineers globally, which is to be launched
next year. During the year the Group has introduced
significant enhancements to the customer experience of 
its existing websites, including eQuotes, the personalised
quoting facility in the USA, and, in Europe and Asia Pacific,
iBuy, the eProcurement tool to assist customers with
budgeting and buying efficiencies. New analytical tools
continue to help identify opportunities to improve both
functional and user experience. The increased speed and
stability of the websites has led to significant increases in
eCommerce revenues. Improving electronic channels is part
of delivering a multi-channel approach that provides flexibility
for customers and reduces the cost to serve.

Web resilience
As the volume of the Group’s business transacted via the
web grows, it is increasingly important to ensure that the
Group’s websites are available to customers. In common
with many other organisations, the Group’s websites are
occasionally subject to denial of service attacks by third
parties and to attempts to extract large volumes of data. 
This risk is addressed by regular testing of the security of the
websites using both internal and external security scans and
vulnerability tests. IP addresses identified as the source of
attacks are blocked so that they cease to have access to the
websites. In addition, all sites have redundant servers that
can be used in the event that the operating server is not
available for any reason. Infrastructure improvements are
made on a regular basis to address other causes of
unavailability of the sites.

Foreign currency
As a relatively high proportion of the Group’s sales and
operating profits arise in North America, the Group’s reported
results may be adversely affected should the US dollar weaken
in value against sterling. During the year under review, the 
US dollar strengthened compared with sterling but, should 
it weaken significantly, the consequent profit translation risk
would amount to approximately £0.2 million per annum of
operating profit for each one cent movement in the US dollar
exchange rate. The Group has denominated most of its
external borrowings in US dollars in order to mitigate this risk
and provide a hedge against dollar denominated operating
cash flows and the Group’s US investments.

In addition to the US dollar, the other major currency for
which the Group has a translation risk is the Euro. While there
was a benefit from the strengthening of the Euro towards 
the end of 2008, a significant weakening of the Euro would
adversely affect the Group’s results. This profit translation risk
is approximately £0.2 million per annum of operating profit 
for each one cent movement in the Euro exchange rate.

The Group’s policy is not to hedge profit translation risk
unless there is a real cash exposure since such hedges
provide only a temporary deferral of the effect of movements
in exchange rates.

Human resources
As a service business, Premier Farnell relies heavily on its
employees. It would be damaging to the Group if it were
unable to attract and retain personnel at key management
levels. The ways in which this risk is addressed are described
in detail in the Resources and relationships section of this
report.

Pension risks
The Group operates defined benefit pension schemes in 
the UK, US and Canada. The net financial asset/liability 
of each scheme (as quantified through actuarial review) 
is reflected in the Group’s balance sheet. Movements 
resulting from changes to the actuarial valuation results 
are reflected through the Group’s reserves and not through
the income statement.

Business Review continued 
Principal Risks and Uncertainties
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As at 1 February 2009, the pension schemes had combined
assets of £170 million comprising £99 million equity investment
and £71 million bonds/cash/others. A 10% reduction in
global equity values would therefore have an impact of
reducing Group Net Worth by approximately £10 million. 
The trustees of the pension schemes (or their equivalent in
the US and Canada) are advised on investment decisions 
by Watson Wyatt or its associated operations outside of the
UK and, where appropriate, take action to ensure that the
assets of the pension schemes contains an suitable mix 
of investments. 

The liabilities of the pension scheme reflected in the 
Group’s balance sheet are calculated by discounting future
cash flows. A 1% reduction in the long-term discount rate
assumed by the schemes’ actuaries would have the impact
of reducing Group net worth by £29.2 million. The relevant
discount rate is the expected rate over a 30 year period and
as such is relatively stable.

Recently, both the US and UK governments have engaged in 
on-market repurchases of corporate and government backed
securities (quantitative easing). It is not clear as of yet what
the impact of these programmes will be on long-term yields.
It is possible that this will cause a degree of disruption in the
short-term and greater volatility than would be expected.

Legal risks
The Group operates internationally and is subject to laws and
regulations in a large number of countries. Combined with
this, the large numbers of customers and suppliers to the
Group result in a complex set of contractual obligations and 
a risk of non-compliance.

The Group addresses this risk in a number of ways:

> Through reviews and training provided by the in-house
legal department;

> Advice provided by external counsel;

> Monitoring and reporting of issues by the Internal 
Audit function;

> Internal reporting controls processes requiring 
local management to report on areas of potential 
non-compliance; and

> Controls on the level of management required to approve
proposed contractual arrangements. 

Resources and Relationships

Employees
Premier Farnell is a high service business, driving a high
performance culture. With 99.6% of all orders delivered the
same or next day, consistent high performance and service
excellence is essential.

For two consecutive years Premier Farnell has conducted an
all-employee survey, Your Voice, in order to evaluate employee
engagement and give all employees an opportunity to share
insight into what it is like to work for Premier Farnell and
where we can improve. Based on the feedback received,
there are four areas where employees told us we could do
better – Leadership Development, Personal Development,
Innovation and Customer Focus.

Leadership development and succession planning are critical
for consistent and ongoing high performance. Premier Farnell
has a well embedded process to meet with business leaders
every six months in order to review what we are doing and
ensure that appropriate succession plans and bench strength
are in place. Additionally, these reviews are supplemented by
regular meetings throughout the year attended by the CEO,
CFO, COO and Global HR Director to review talent throughout
the Group and ensure that people plans are appropriately
aligned to the strengths and weaknesses of our current and
future leaders.

In order to further strengthen our leaders we have begun 
a programme of 360 degree feedback, where select
employees from every level in the Group are asked to
comment on the performance of their leader. 360 degree
feedback allows employees to give real feedback to their
managers and gives managers a better sense of their
performance and more importantly how it impacts
employees. We also have a well embedded mentor
programme that informally matches senior business leaders
with talented performers in order to help them navigate 
the organisation and nurture their potential growth. This
programme has been so successful that we now have plans
in place to extend it deeper into the organisation as part of
our commitment to personal development of all employees.

Attracting talented people and retaining the talent we have in
the Group is of the utmost importance for continued success.
Our commitment to personal development is unwavering. 
All employees meet with their managers at least every 
six months to review performance and talk about career
aspirations, which are included in an aspirational development
plan. Employees are then encouraged to take one hour a
week for personal development. This time is used in a variety
of ways including attending sales training in order to become
a more effective seller, job shadowing a role related to
aspirational development or studying modules in our Online
Learning Centre. Capability ladders have also been created
for certain functions; these ladders are used by employees in
order to understand what they need and how they can target
their own personal development for career progression.
These ladders have been so popular that they will be
expanded for additional functions.

eLife, a Group initiative, was created in order to encourage
employees to embrace the web and improve innovation.
Through eLife we have introduced an online performance
management and objective setting tool that gives employees
and managers access to their performance reviews and
objectives year round. We have also worked to further
embed the idea of innovation in the business this year 
with the development of an innovation exchange. The
innovation exchange is a cross-functional, global forum in
which participation changes every quarter. The exchange
participants evaluate suggestions submitted from around the
business and where relevant begin the process of developing
the innovation. We have also created innovation teams that
unite talented performers into cross-functional, global groups
with a focus on projects that sit outside of their daily scope
and stretch their capabilities.
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One such innovation team is driving improved customer
focus across the business. This is the final area where
employees told us we needed to get better and this team 
of talented performers are ensuring that customers are at 
the heart of everything we do. Every employee across 
the business has an objective related to customers and
throughout the year, each employee will interact with at least
one customer, further embedding our customer commitment
and high service culture. This initiative will be extended to the
Board of Directors who have committed to spending time in
one of our distribution facilities picking a perfect order for one
of our customers during the year.

Market position and reputation
The Marketing and Distribution Division trades through
several major brands including Farnell and Newark. 
As their product portfolios and customer bases are diverse,
the precise market positions of these brands are hard to
quantify. The roots of these major brands are all over 70 years
old and have high recognition and prominence within their
particular markets. They are true multi-channel operations
with online and paper-based product information, marketing
programmes and relationship management. The success 
of these programmes within their key market segments, 
as well as their brand reputations, is reviewed through
regular market surveys. 

Customer relationships
The MDD businesses have a customer base comprised of
some 2,000,000 customer contacts. Contacts are typically
electronic design engineers, production and maintenance
engineers or procurement specialists. They represent a
diverse spectrum of private and public organisations,
covering 156 industries and areas of commerce. No single
customer represents more than 2% of Group sales.

The Group has Customer Relationship Management (CRM)
systems within its key MDD businesses. These are adding to
a growing understanding of customers’ needs and enabling
the business to offer specific customers the services that
they most value. The Group also has a suite of web diagnostic
tools which improves our understanding of customers’ web
technology needs, product preferences and provides a
unique insight into the ways in which customers work.

The MDD businesses manage relationships with customers
through multiple channels including websites, catalogues 
and conversations with customers, both by phone and 
face-to-face.

Supplier relationships
The MDD businesses work with over 2,500 suppliers, stock
approximately 400,000 products, and offer access to more
than 4,000,000 other products. The Division’s attraction to
suppliers is directly related to its ability to seed new products
to market and drive customer acquisition across its global
customer base, using multi-channel solutions-based
technology marketing.

The supplier base is balanced to offer customers around the
globe a breadth of products from many different suppliers,
while also offering deeper product ranges from some key
suppliers with whom the Division has strategic alliances and
improved commercial terms. 

Across Farnell and Newark, the portfolio of suppliers is
managed by an international team. The largest suppliers
within this portfolio include many global premium brands 
for whom integrated, go to market strategies are developed.
During the year, the Division continued to build its proposition
to design engineers, securing new distribution agreements
with 40 suppliers to fill technology gaps. Many of these new
suppliers develop new, emerging technologies that are in
very high demand from EDE customers. Additionally, the
Division secured territorial extensions with existing suppliers
to support our emerging businesses in Asia Pacific and
Eastern Europe.

Elsewhere within the Division, supplier relationships are
managed at a business level, enabling specific customer
needs to be met by sourcing, for example, locally branded
products, or value-brand products from Asia.

Distribution network and inventory
The Marketing and Distribution Division has sales offices 
in 23 countries. These are supported by a network of
distribution centres that enable the Division to ship products
anywhere in the world within one to three days. 99.6% all
orders are dispatched on the day they are placed and
received the next day.

The network is comprised of seven primary distribution
centres:

US – Gaffney (South Carolina) and Springboro (Ohio)

UK – Leeds and Preston

Mainland Europe – Liège (Belgium)

Asia – Singapore

Australia – Sydney

These are supplemented by satellite warehouses in other
locations including Mexico, Brazil and China. Collectively, 
this network handles an average of 20,000 orders per day
and stocks some 400,000 products. Technology systems 
are therefore central to delivering high service. The network 
is managed by a global supply chain team that shares best
practice between locations and drives a programme of
continuous improvement in accuracy, efficiency and service.

At the year end the Group held £194.3 million of inventory 
in its businesses, of which £171.2 million was in the 
MDD businesses.

Inventory is managed on a line-by-line basis, utilising 
best in class forecasting and stock monitoring IT systems. 
The re-ordering of most products is automated, enabling
purchasing teams to manage order quantity, delivery or
demand exceptions. Order fill rates are among the highest 
in the industry, in line with the Group’s commitment to service
excellence. The Division aims to increase stock turns through
the use of ever more intelligent systems, seamless supply
chain integration with suppliers, and elimination of any 
non-moving stocks.

The Division uses a variety of third-party carriers to ship
orders. It has a strategic relationship with UPS, its principal
carrier, responsible for approximately two-thirds of its
worldwide deliveries each day.

Business Review continued 
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Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) – a high
performance company working to build a 
sustainable future
Premier Farnell takes seriously its role as a responsible
corporate citizen and seeks to take account of the economic,
social and environmental impacts of its operations. It is our
belief that acting in this way is a source of business opportunity,
improved competitiveness and sound business practice.

We have defined Corporate Social Responsibility as the
sustainable development of our business – balancing our
responsibilities to our stakeholders, the environment and
society. We believe that by releasing the power of individuals
within Premier Farnell, we can have a positive impact on
society and reduce our impact on the environment.

As an organisation with strong core values, we are driven to
deliver results by being totally reliable, resourceful, customer
focused and by conducting ourselves with integrity. These
values translate into every aspect of our business. We are a
forward thinking, innovative company that cares – cares
about our people, our industry and our communities.

This includes the industry-leading guidance and support we
provide on legislation that will affect both our customers and
suppliers, and the confidence that our products are sourced
from reputable manufacturers who meet appropriate
workplace standards; for employees it means giving everyone
the opportunity to have their voice heard in the way that the
business is run, listening to their ideas and communicating
openly and, for the communities in which we operate, the
Company is a trusted and valued long-term partner in
addressing social issues.

By bringing our CSR activities together with a number 
of other internal initiatives, including the creation of our
eCommunity, our work to improve further employee
engagement around the business and our customers support
programmes, we have built a solid core of good corporate
governance and a highly ethical approach. We are calling 
this our “Trust Agenda” and it serves as a framework for
everything we do as a business. During the coming year the
“Trust Agenda” will become much more visible and further
differentiate Premier Farnell.

Business Review

CSR Report
R
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Our CSR programme is focused on our environmental
impacts; the communities in which we operate; our people;
trading ethically with our customers and suppliers and the
health and safety of our employees.

We have been a member of the FTSE4Good Index of
Corporate and Social Responsibility since its launch in 
July 2001 and the Group is also a member of Business in the
Community (BiTC), a movement of over 850 of the UK’s top
companies committed to improving their impact on society.

Our programme and reporting follow the framework used in
the BiTC Corporate Responsibility (CR) Index, facilitating the
external validation of our programme. We use the feedback
from our BiTC CR Index submission to assist us in identifying
those areas where we should focus our efforts.

Every year we identify, publish and report against specific
improvement targets in our CSR report and have been doing
so since 2002.

The Board has overall responsibility for establishing the
Group’s CSR policies and the Chief Executive Officer is
accountable for ensuring that the Group operates in
accordance with these policies and reviews progress on a
monthly basis. Reporting of our performance is led by the
Company Secretary and the Board receives a report on 
the Group’s CSR performance at least every six months.
Periodic updates are provided on the premierfarnell.com
website.

A copy of our Corporate Social Responsibility Policy can 
be obtained on our website at
www.premierfarnell.com/premier_farnell/csr or by contacting
Steven Webb, Group Company Secretary and Counsel 
on +44 (0)870 129 8608.

Note
References to years throughout the CSR Report are to
calendar years, rather than the Company’s financial year. 

Highlights of the year
Our major achievements this year have been: 

> Achieved the Gold level of the BiTC CR Index; 

> The inclusion of environmental impacts into the internal
quarterly business performance reporting process; 

> The further development of our approach to sustainable
procurement;

> The implementation of carbon reduction plans in the
Company’s larger facilities; and

> A 6% improvement in the positive feedback scores from
employees about our CSR approach. This was again the
highest-scoring category in our all-employee engagement
survey.

Business Review continued 
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Striving to eliminate e-waste

It is estimated that up to 50 million tonnes of e-waste (electronic
waste) are discarded every year, with around 70% of this waste
reaching Africa, China and India, where it is dealt with by
“recyclers” that observe no health, safety or environmental
considerations. In India alone, it is believed that up to five million
people – many of them children and the majority with little or no
protection against the harmful substances released – are involved 
in this trade.

This issue has been highlighted in the media by videos such as the
following, filmed by Greenpeace;
www.youtube.com/watch?gl=GB&hl=en-GB&v=0JZey9GJQP0

As part of our commitment to working to benefit the communities 
in which we operate, Premier Farnell is collaborating with a leading
expert on the issue of lead poisoning resulting from the improper
recycling of e-waste in India to assess the most appropriate and
beneficial ways that the Company can contribute to addressing 
this serious issue.

The initiatives that are encompassed by the Premier Farnell
campaign are:

> We will be a leader in the electronics industry in raising
awareness and understanding of the issue of electronic product
recycling and the resultant harm caused to human health and
the environment.

> We will provide financial support and training materials over 
the next three years to train at least 500 teachers and therefore
250,000 students in India on the hazards of lead poisoning and
the means to avoid it.

> We will work with the appropriate industry bodies to lobby for the
introduction and/or ratification of legislation that would address
this issue (e.g. equivalents of the European Union’s RoHS and
WEEE legislation).

> We will set up a charitable trust with wide input from industry,
suppliers and customers to invest funds in the relevant projects.

Premier Farnell has publicly pledged its
commitment to a number of initiatives aimed at
reducing the harmful impacts of the unregulated
dismantling of waste electronic products.
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Our performance this year
Environment
The pervasion of electronics in every aspect of today’s world
means that we all rely on electronics for innumerable tasks
each day. Electronic design engineers are under pressure 
to design more electronic products, faster, while still taking
into account the effects that their designs have on the
environment and individual users both during the product’s
use and at its end-of-life.

Our responsibility to our customers and the environment is 
at the heart of everything we do. It is critical that we meet 
our customers’ growing needs for environmentally friendly
products, while decreasing our own environmental impacts.

Our principal environmental impacts are carbon emissions,
our use of paper and packaging and waste. We have set the
following programmes and targets in order to reduce our
impact on the environment.

Three year carbon reduction programme 
We have defined our carbon footprint and developed a
strategy and three year plan to increase energy efficiency and
reduce our carbon emissions to the lowest practicable and
economic level. We include in our carbon footprint those
primary activities over which we have direct control – all of
our activities from the receipt of products into our warehouses
to their final preparation for despatch to customers, including
the production of catalogues and marketing material; our 
use and the disposal of packaging; business travel and the
energy required to operate our facilities. We exclude the
physical delivery of products from the manufacturer to the
warehouse and from the warehouse to customers, as we 
do not have control over the associated emissions.

In those areas outside of our direct control (for example the
delivery of products to our customers by third party carriers),
we are working to understand better the opportunities to
collaborate with our parcel carriers for improved efficiency
and reduced environmental impact.

Highlights of our carbon reduction programme in 2008
include:

> The Company has begun to collect carbon emissions
data monthly and produce management reports quarterly
as part of the mainstream reporting of each business unit. 

> Plans agreed and budgeted by business units to further
reduce energy consumption and carbon emissions 
during 2009.

> Reduced our carbon emissions to 79% of those of the
baseline year of 2006.

One of the principal drivers of better energy management is
employee behaviour and we actively encourage employees
to conserve the Company’s resources through our own
“green facilities” award scheme. This promotes environmentally
friendly working practices, enabling individual sites to 
self-assess their performance, earning points for conserving
energy, reducing waste disposal and increasing levels of
recycling. The scheme, which has been running since 2003,
has this year been given added impetus by our carbon
reduction programme. All our larger facilities have teams of
green champions and all of the Company’s larger facilities
have now achieved the green facility award (16 in total).

Beginning in 2010, many larger businesses in the UK 
will be required to report their carbon emissions to the
government-led cap and trade scheme, the Carbon
Reduction Commitment. They will also be required to
purchase allowances for the carbon that they emit through
their use of energy. We have been tracking the progress of
this legislation, and planning for its impact on our business
and our carbon reduction activities leave us well-placed for 
its implementation.

Farnell in Leeds and CPC in Preston are accredited to the
Energy Efficiency Accreditation Scheme (EEAS), which
recognises businesses that are making positive moves to
reduce energy consumption, become more energy efficient
and reduce carbon emissions.

As part of their audit this year, we have been advised 
by experts at SGS that a more representative metric for
measuring our energy usage is to compare them to facility
size, rather than to sales figures. For this report, we are
applying both metrics, to facilitate transparency and
consistency with the previous year.

Driving high standards in our use of paper 
and packaging
One of our principal environmental impacts is the use 
of paper in the publication of our product catalogues,
marketing material and packaging. We take a proactive
approach to reducing the environmental impact of our
publications and packaging, while taking into account
economic and market factors.

Premier Farnell communicates with its customers via a
combination of catalogues, direct mail and the web. 
While it is the Group’s strategy to increase the level of 
web-based business, paper materials continue to be
important in offering customers choice in the way they 
select and order products.

The Group has formalised and made publicly available 
our policy and guidelines detailing the ways in which we 
aim to mitigate the impact on the environment of our 
paper publications by setting appropriate minimum 
standards for their production (paper and print), 
distribution and recyclability.
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It is our policy to:

> Engage with suppliers of paper and print who can
demonstrate their commitment to mitigating the
environmental impacts of their production processes
through certification to a recognised and properly
managed and audited scheme;

> Specify either virgin paper from certified, sustainable
sources or recycled paper with the highest available
post-consumer recycled content according to cost
considerations and the production constraints of
individual publications;

> Only place contracts with printers who have a published
environmental policy and recognised environmental
certifications;

> Specify that the packaging used for protecting
catalogues and direct mail in the delivery system is
manufactured with recycled and recyclable materials;

> Ensure we maintain up to date customer data which
ensures that the publication is relevant to the end
customer, thereby minimising wastage; and

> Encourage our customers to recycle all publications 
and packaging at the end of their lifespan.

We have been reducing the weight of the paper in our
product catalogues for the last five years and increasing 
the proportion of post-consumer recycled material 
where appropriate.

We are also concerned with reducing the environmental
impact of the packaging we use to protect the products 
we supply and to ship our customer orders. We are
continuing to develop an environmentally friendly packaging
solution for components in the form of biodegradable, 
static dissipative bags and expect to launch this innovative
product during 2009.

At our international distribution centre in Leeds we have
replaced air-filled plastic protective packaging materials with
an environmentally friendly alternative. We now use recyclable
paper from sustainable sources. Our new packaging process
is also more energy efficient. In the US, MCM now reuse the
void fill from inbound deliveries and donate their used office
paper to a recycler for Habitat for Humanity. Akron Brass 
use recycled newspaper that is prepared for them by a local
community group as void fill in their deliveries.

At the same time, we are moving to packing boxes which are
manufactured from sustainable, managed sources that are
fully recyclable.

Reducing waste to landfill
Premier Farnell has identified the generation of waste as 
one of its three key environmental impacts. The nature of 
our business is such that we order product from suppliers 
in bulk and then break these orders down into the quantities
required by our customers, resulting in waste packaging.

We also focus our efforts on minimising the volume of 
waste which goes to landfill. Where possible we re-use 
waste packaging and, where this is not achievable, we
ensure that it is sorted and recycled.

All our large facilities have recycling programmes and
initiatives in place to increase the volume and types of waste
that are recycled. The CPC facility in Preston, UK currently
achieves the highest proportion of waste recycled at 90%
and the Leeds facilities recycled 77% of their waste this year.

Overall, the Group recycles 71% of its waste, up from 63% 
in 2007.

As a supplier of electrical and electronic equipment, we have
producer obligations under the European Union’s WEEE
legislation to provide our customers with a service to enable
them to dispose of their waste electrical and electronic
equipment correctly in compliance with the legislation. 
Akron Brass, which manufactures fire-fighting equipment
from brass and aluminium, re-uses and recycles the 
industrial waste created by its manufacturing process.

Embracing environmental legislation
European environmental legislation is continually evolving 
and affects the Group's electronic component distribution
businesses. The Restriction of Hazardous Substances
(RoHS) Directive restricts the use of certain hazardous
substances in electrical and electronic equipment. Changes
to the original legislation made by the so-called “RoHS2” will
further affect industry by extending the scope of the original
directive. By restricting the hazardous substances in electrical
equipment, recycling, re-use and recovery become easier,
and safer at the products’ end-of-life. Beyond Europe, 
China is expected to announce its first restricted products
under its own RoHS legislation during 2009.

REACH Regulations impose tighter controls over the use 
of around 30,000 chemicals, in particular Substances of 
Very High Concern that cause considerable harm to human
health and the environment.

Finally, the Energy using Products Directive tracks and sets
measures to improve the energy consumption of a product
from the mining of the raw material right through to its
recycling at end-of-life.

All these pieces of legislation affect, and are clearly
communicated to, the Group’s principal customer base of
electronics design engineers through a variety of methods
including e-shots, blogs and the Group’s own web pages at
www.global-legislation.com. For more detailed information on
how Premier Farnell is embracing environmental legislation,
see the case study on page 21 of this report.

Evaluation
We collect data on the amount of energy used and carbon
dioxide emitted, waste disposed and waste recycled by the
Group’s operations in order to assess our environmental
impact.

To ensure that we have representative and reliable
environmental data, we review new data each quarter and
compare it with data from prior years. This continual review
and comparison allows us to detect and correct any errors
and may result in the restatement of certain prior year figures. 
We have also engaged the SGS Group as expert external
consultants this year to assess our data collection processes
to ensure that they are robust. The SGS audit statement
appears at the end of this report, on page 57.

Business Review continued 
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Total amount used Unit rate Unit rate
(’000) (’000) (’000) Total used/£1,000 of sales Total used/1,000 square feet

Type of energy consumed** 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Electricity (kwh) 32,201 31,596 33,982 39.7 43.9 39.9 14 14 15
Natural gas (cubic metres) 1,472 1,314 1,646 1.8 2.0 1.9 0.6 0.6 0.7
Propane (kilogrammes) 5 5 5 0.01 0.01 0.01
Fuel oil (litres) 75 97 90 0.1 0.1 0.1
Fuel for company cars/trucks (litres)* 312 311 664 0.4 0.4 0.8
Diesel (litres) 398 341 1,573 0.5 0.5 2.0

Employee business travel#
Fuel for rented cars/trucks (litres)* 511 647 855 0.6 0.9 1.04

CO2 emissions** Metric tonnes CO2 emitted Metric tonnes CO2/£1,000 of sales
2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Total 25,120 25,292 31,710 0.031 0.035 0.037

Waste disposed Total amount (000kg) Unit rate (kg per £1,000 of sales)
2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Total 1,298 1,554 1,857 1.6 2.2 2.2

Waste recycled Total amount (000kg) Unit rate (kg per £1,000 of sales)
2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Total 3,246 2,696 2,710 4.0 3.7 3.3
Percent of waste recycled 71% 63% 59%

*  Assumed 10.5 kilometres/litre of petrol consumed in the USA, and 12.75 kilometres/litre of petrol consumed in Europe and Asia Pacific.
** Natural gas conversion factors obtained from DEFRA (www.defra.gov.uk/environment/business/envrp/conversion-factors.htm). Fuel oil and propane conversion

factors obtained from US Department of Energy (www.eia.doe.gov/oiaf/1605/coefficients.html). Utilised World Resources Institute (WRI) recommended CO2

conversion factors (www.ghgprotocol.org/calculation-tools) for all other conversions. 
# We do not include business travel data as we currently do not have complete records for all business travel during the year.
Whilst we collect data on paper, print and packaging from our suppliers and internally, we have not yet developed a comprehensive collection of data for these 
and so do not report them in this table.
Business development resulted in 11 additional facilities in Asia in 2008.

R 
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Committed to sustainability
We extend our approach to sustainability to our EDE
customer base through Live EDGE. Our first Live EDGE
competition winner was the developer of an energy-efficient
ceiling fan, who Premier Farnell will support in the product’s
development and distribution. We held a second Live EDGE
competition during 2009, to continue to promote the
environmentally-friendly design of electronic products. In total
we received innovative, environmentally friendly designs from
more than 650 registrants in 65 countries. The winner of this
year’s Live EDGE competition was Pedro Rodrigues from
Portugal. Pedro designed an Intelligent Standby Energy
Saver. Mr. Rodrigues won a $25,000 cash prize and a
support package worth the same that will help him bring 
his design into production and distribution. The Live EDGE
technical judges noted that the design takes a radically
different approach to determining power usage and we are
very proud to support this design. 

In addition, the Live EDGE competition announced the creation
of an engineering scholarship to support engineering students.

Health and safety
Our aim is to provide a safe and healthy environment for 
our employees and visitors to our premises and to keep 
the number of working hours lost through health and safety
incidents to a minimum.

We monitor both the number of workplace injuries and
illnesses and the number of “lost-time” workplace injuries and
set a target to achieve rates of less than half of the averages
for our industry.

We have our own behaviour-based safety programme, 
Safety STAR (Safety Through Accountability and Recognition),
which requires supervisors to encourage safe work practices,
promotes regular safety observations, encourages and holds
employees accountable for working safely and regularly asks
employees for their ideas and suggestions for improving
safety at their facility. With Akron Brass achieving Safety 
STAR status, our two largest distribution centres and 
largest manufacturing centre in the US now adhere to 
this programme.

One of our US businesses: MCM recorded no injuries 
and three of our US businesses (MCM, Newark and TPC
Wire & Cable) qualified for the US National Safety Council
Occupational Safety Excellence Awards, having achieved
lost-time injury rates of less than half the industry average.

All our UK businesses’ facilities are accredited to OHSAS
18001: 1999, the internationally recognised standard for
health and safety management systems.

The estimated cost incurred by our US operations for injuries
resulting in days away from work in 2008 was $645,000. 
This cost is based on a $43,000 average cost per disabling
injury (as estimated by the US National Safety Council). 
This cost includes wage losses, medical expenses,
administration expenses and employment costs.
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Listening to the voice of employees

When asked about their view of our strategy, 92% of
respondents told us that they clearly understood the goals 
and objectives of the business that they work in, and 94%
understand how their personal contribution ensures that our
strategy is executed. Both of these scores exceed the average
scores for high performance companies of 85% and 92%
respectively, and, with 82% of respondents believing strongly 
in the strategy of the business, this shows the clarity with which
our strategy is communicated, understood and executed.

The most improved response this year was for our training 
and development category, with an increase of 8% in positive
responses. 65% of employees claimed a positive attitude
towards their long-term opportunities with the Company,
surpassing the high performance benchmark by 1%. The survey
demonstrated an increase in the percentage of employees who
feel a positive engagement with the Company of 2% over 2007,
with a score of 76%. 

Perceptions of the Group’s approach to corporate social
responsibility increased in 2008, with 84% of employees feeling
that the business is responsible within the local community
(2007: 75%) and 88% that it is responsible in its approach to 
the environment (2007: 82%). Again, this constitutes a higher
score than the average high performance organisation is
expected to achieve (81%).

2008 saw the second iteration of Premier Farnell’s
all-employee engagement survey, “Your Voice”.
The response rate for 2008 was 80.55% of all
employees, compared with a rate of 76.6% in
2007 and a benchmark response rate of 80.1%
for a high performance organisation. This year 
the survey was conducted in two additional
languages – Dutch and Finnish, improving its
accessibility to the Group’s employees.
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In Europe and Asia Pacific, excluding the Liège distribution
centre, the estimated cost for injuries resulting in days away
from work in 2008 was £12,582 applying UK estimates of
£2,097 per occurrence, based on Health and Safety Executive
figures. For the Liège distribution centre, estimated costs 
for injuries resulting in days away from work for 2008 was
£39,843 based on the same estimates per occurrence.

Marketplace
Our relationships with our customers and suppliers are at 
the heart of our business and we believe we can and should
work together to build a sustainable business. The Group has
a sustainable procurement programme, which identifies the
core impacts that are important to us and which we believe
we can influence through our supply chain. They are:

> Ethical trading – labour practices and working conditions
in our own brand supply chain;

> Waste – generation and disposal of waste;

> Carbon emissions – created by the delivery of goods 
to our distribution centres and our shipments to
customers; and

> Paper – used in the production of our product catalogues
and marketing activity.

Highlights of our marketplace programme in 2008 include:

> Our International Purchasing team performing workplace
social audits on eight of our most important own brand
suppliers against our labour practices and working
conditions standards; 

> Successfully rolling out our sustainable procurement
workshop programme from the UK into the US, training
the businesses’ procurement teams to take elements of
environmental and social impact into account when
purchasing from suppliers; and

> Working with one of our third-party carriers to develop the
monitoring of the environmental impacts of the deliveries
they make of the Company’s products. 

Workplace and community
Our aim is to be recognised by existing and future employees
as a responsible employer that values its people and
provides an environment in which they can develop their skills
and make a contribution to the success of the business.

Our eLife programme supports this (and contributes to 
our carbon reduction programme) by providing a range of 
e-enabled tools to allow employees to develop their skills 
and knowledge, interact with colleagues and facilitate global
collaboration. As a new innovation during the year, a number
of live, “virtual” question and answer sessions have been held
that have allowed colleagues from all parts of the world to
hear from and question the senior leaders of the organisation
without the time and carbon cost of international travel.

We also expanded our eLife to you, our investors, during 
the year as we published our first online annual report which
received very positive feedback and won industry accolades.
We thank everyone who visited our online annual report and
encourage you to visit this year’s online annual report for an
interactive report of our performance in the year, including
videos from our executive team –
www.premierfarnell.com/annualreport 2009.

We also wish to make a contribution to the communities in
which we operate, building goodwill and a reputation as a
good neighbour and employer. Our community investment
strategy and charitable giving policy support this aim.

Highlights of our workplace and community programme
include:

> 85% of employees completing our all-employee
engagement survey in 2008 thought that Premier Farnell is
socially and environmentally responsible, an improvement
of 6% over the previous year’s score;

> Farnell in Leeds has formalised two service level
partnership agreements with community organisations in
Armley which will secure the relationships over the course
of the next two years;

> Farnell helped to secure a £10,000 grant for its
community partner Armley Helping Hands, by winning the
Yorkshire Forward “Creating Better Futures” Award for its
demonstration of a successful partnership between a
community organisation and a private business;

> A community consultation day attended by around 
50 representatives of local community groups, local
government and other companies, where the Group’s
approach was outlined and discussed;

> The Contact Centre at Rockside Road in Cleveland, 
Ohio received a “Corporate Sponsor of the Year” Award
from the American Red Cross for exceptional contribution
to their blood donation drive; and

> The identification of community engagement leaders in 
the US to drive the formalisation of the US businesses’
community engagement.

Our community investment strategy is based upon building
sustainable partnerships with local community groups using
our resources, particularly our time, to support their activities.

R 
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Participating in our local communities

In recognition of the value of giving time to community partners,
Premier Farnell has formed a partnership with Armley Helping
Hands, to contribute towards the sustainable provision of
services which support elderly people in West Leeds. 

Armley Helping Hands is a registered charity supporting older
people and their families within the area of Leeds 12. The charity
aims to provide facilities for education, recreation and leisure time
activities with a view to improving quality of life and reducing
social isolation.

Premier Farnell has agreed to help Armley Helping Hands in a
number of areas to facilitate them in becoming a sustainable
organisation. Premier Farnell is working in a technical capacity 
by providing IT and web design support. The team are assisting
the charity in networking and upgrading the charity’s computers
within the office and the mobile laptops. This is enabling the
Premier Farnell team to share information and therefore making
the service more efficient.

They have also assisted in provided support on a more personal
level by providing shopping escorts to the elderly people, 
and by making available 24 hour security and access to the
charity’s minibus.

The festive season saw Premier Farnell’s team deliver 
50 Christmas hampers to the elderly patrons whom they 
had identified as being most at risk of social isolation. 
The culmination of the celebrations was a Christmas party 
for 120 elderly people, organised and supported by the 
Premier Farnell team.

These examples of how Premier Farnell is offering support in kind
are only some of the ways they are helping the charity. A protocol
outlining all of the assistance offered by Premier Farnell has been
created and agreed with Armley Helping Hands.

The benefits for Armley Helping Hands include the long-term
sustainability that has been secured thanks to their ability to
demonstrate guaranteed access to volunteers, resulting in
increased funding. Armley Helping Hands’ board of trustees are
now confident that the organisation is financially secure for the
next three years. 

The needs and priorities of the elderly service users are being
addressed effectively and the service provided is being delivered
against a coherent and co-ordinated action plan. This enables a
reduction in social isolation and improvements in community
interaction in the target group of elderly people in West Leeds.

The ongoing support provides Premier Farnell’s Leadership
development programme with experiential learning opportunities.
The projects that have been identified have also been chosen to
assist in the development of Premier Farnell’s employees’ skills.

Armley Helping Hands provide quarterly feedback to Premier
Farnell outlining volunteer support and advice to employees 
who have caring responsibilities to the elderly patrons.

The action plan agreed by Premier Farnell and Armley Helping
Hands runs until the 30 January 2010. 

Premier Farnell operates a Community Investment Policy which aims to make a contribution 
to the communities in which it operates, by building goodwill and a reputation as a good neighbour
and employer. 
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Employees are encouraged to volunteer in Company time.
Funds are raised principally through employee fundraising
activities and supplemented for specific projects with funds
from the corporate charity budget. All employees are eligible
to apply for funds and these can be a cash donation,
matched funds or goods in kind. The budget of £20,000 has
been fully utilised this year. In September, the Group matched
the fundraising of employees globally, and donated $11,000
to support the victims of the Chengdu earthquake, which
occurred near to one of the business’s facilities.

Our community partners and projects represent causes 
for which our employees have demonstrated (through
discussion groups and surveys) their interest and support.
Through dialogue with the community partners, activities 
are identified which can be supported by the employee
volunteering programme. These include large projects, 
met by team challenges and ongoing, regular activities 
met by individual volunteers.

In the US, all of the Group’s businesses participate in the
United Way, a community-based umbrella organisation
supporting various human services organisations with which
the businesses have had a relationship since the 1980’s.

In each of our US businesses we have employees who
undertake leadership roles in United Way’s fundraising
activities and every year they run a pledge and donations
drive. A number of team and individual initiatives have 
this year benefited local community groups and charities
including donations of clothing to a homeless shelter, the
hugely popular annual American Cancer Society’s Daffodil
days fundraiser, and the American Red Cross’ blood donor
scheme, for which the Cleveland Rockside Road office
received a “Corporate Sponsor of the Year” award.

Our largest site in Europe and Asia Pacific is in Leeds, UK.
This is located in an inner city area which borders on the
prosperous and fast developing city centre. 

This year, Farnell in Leeds has completed the process of
formalising partnership agreements with two organisations
local to the Leeds business. Regular activities such as
escorted shopping trips and tea dances for the elderly,
supporting primary age children in reading programmes,
mentoring of young people and team gardening challenges
are still undertaken by committed groups of volunteers,
underlined by the agreements we now have in place.

Across the Group, employees have identified the good
causes they want to support by donating their time, money
and commitment in a variety of ways: examples include the
sponsorship of and participation in a three-day event for
children in an Indian orphanage, a collection of Christmas
presents for children spending the season in a local domestic
violence refuge and supporting the American Red Cross’
“Ready When the Time Comes” scheme.

The Group recognises that these types of activity not only
benefit the community groups and good causes involved, 
but also deliver business benefits in providing training and
development opportunities for those employees who
participate. Our online personal development planning
system “Futures” enables employees to capture the
volunteering activities they have undertaken, assess the
development opportunities and benefits delivered and
discuss these as part of their performance review process
with their line manager.

The community investment programme was this year 
piloted as a module in the Group’s Leadership Development
Programme. Members of the Operational Leaders training
programme were involved in a community event as the
second of their three training modules in order to experience
delivering a project in an unfamiliar setting and also to drive
the Company’s aims to embed our community engagement
at all levels of leadership, both existing and developing.

Awards and achievements
We are delighted to report that three Premier Farnell
companies qualified this year for the US National Safety
Council Occupational Safety Excellence Awards. 
These awards recognised exemplary safety records 
at Newark, MCM and TPC Wire & Cable sites.

In addition, Ken Manchen, our Director of Safety, Health and
Environmental Affairs for the Americas, was honoured with 
an “Champion of Excellence” award by the Academy of
Certified Hazardous Materials Management for his continued
contributions to awareness of environmental, health, safety
and security issues.

Premier Farnell was this year recognised as one of 
“Where Women Want to Work” top 50 companies for 2008.
This position was awarded for our innovative approaches 
to recruiting, developing and retaining female employees in
the organisation successfully.

We remain a member of the FTSE4Good Index of Corporate
and Social Responsibility. We participated in the BiTC
Corporate Responsibility Index for the third time this year 
and improved our ranking from the Silver to the Gold level.
We are also among a small number of companies that have
participated in the Business in the Environment regional
survey of Corporate Environmental Engagement every year
since its inception in 1999 and shown improvement annually
from 2001 onwards, increasing our overall score by 3% in 
the latest survey.

R 
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Target 2008 Progress Target 2009

Performance against 2008 environmental targets and actions planned in 2009

Achieve “green facility” status at all
remaining large facilities. 

Achieve ISO 14001 accreditation at 
Farnell France facility.

The “green facility” status has been
achieved at all the remaining large
facilities in the Group this year. 

ISO 14001 accreditation was achieved at
the Farnell France facility in September
2008.

Expand the “green facility” programme:

> Develop a higher tier of achievement 
for high-performing green facilities.

> Institute a reassessment programme 
for facilities that were awarded the
status two or more years ago.

> Expand the programme to include at
three mid-sized facilities to achieve
standard green facility status. 

Implement carbon reduction plans in each
of the larger facilities to achieve a 10%
reduction in the carbon emissions
typically created by the heating and light
of those facilities by 2009 against the
baseline of 2006 carbon emissions.

In 2008 the Group achieved a reduction 
in CO2 emissions of 171 tonnes.

The Group has, so far, achieved a
reduction of 21% of CO2 emissions 
of the baseline year of 2006.

Implement additional carbon reduction
projects at large facilities to ensure we
achieve our goal of a CO2 emission
reduction equal to 10% of the emissions
from these facilities in 2006 by the end 
of 2009.

Achieve EEAS accreditation at the
European Distribution Centre (Liège).

During the year, the EEAS accreditation
scheme became wholly sponsored by 
the Carbon Trust and was renamed the
Carbon Trust Standard. The Carbon 
Trust restricted the scheme to the UK.
Therefore, the Liège facility was not able 
to apply for the accreditation.

Evaluate US accreditation schemes for
external validation of the US businesses’
environmental programmes and, if
appropriate, target accreditation of at
least one business.

The US Environmental Protection Agency
National Performance Track programme
has been evaluated and deemed suitable
for the external validation of the US
businesses’ environmental programmes.

Extend the evaluation to include the
eStewards recycling programme and
assess this accreditation’s suitability 
during FY10.

Carry out an audit of printing and copying
equipment to maximise the use of energy
and paper efficient equipment and
achieve a 5% reduction in paper
consumption at two of the Company’s
major US facilities.

The rationalisation project has been
completed in Leeds and the experience
has been shared with the US facilities,
where the programme has not yet been
rolled-out.

Progress the rationalisation of office
equipment in the major US facilities.

Work with printers and paper
manufacturers to quantify the carbon
emissions created by the production of 
the catalogues and direct mail pieces 
and determine for what percentage of 
the Group’s carbon footprint this 
activity accounts.

Premier Farnell has influenced printers
and paper manufacturers to engage in
routine collection and reporting of carbon
emissions data.

All of the main suppliers now provide 
this data and are working on processes 
to enable consistent reporting on an
ongoing basis.

Continue to reduce the total tonnage of
paper used by the Group to produce
catalogues by 10%.

Continue to use our influence as a
company to drive our suppliers to develop
papers with a higher recycled material
content and processes with lower
associated carbon emissions.

Specify recycled paper and/or FSC
certified paper for catalogues and/or
direct mail where available and
competitively priced.

Both the Farnell and CPC 2008
catalogues were printed on the lightest
grade FSC (Forestry Stewardship Council)
certified paper that is feasible for the 
print process.

Newark 2008 catalogues were printed 
on recycled content and/or FSC 
or Sustainable Forestry Initiative 
certified paper.

As of April 2008, all of MCM’s direct 
mail flyers and catalogues were 
printed on recycled content and/or 
FSC certified paper.

Continue to specify recycled and/or
sustainability-certified paper e.g. 
FSC certified, where available and
competitively priced.

Achieve a further increase in 
recycling globally.

All of the large facilities in the Group have
recycling programmes and initiatives in
place to facilitate the recycling of the
maximum possible volumes and types 
of waste.

The CPC facility in Preston has again
achieved the highest proportion of waste
recycled at 90%.

Overall, the Group recycled over 71% 
of its waste in 2008, compared with 63%
in 2007.

Maintain the high levels of recycling that
have been achieved.
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Continue to monitor the number of
recordable and lost-time workplace
injuries and illnesses that occur at our
facilities in 2008, and achieve rates of less
than 50% of the averages for our industry.

The Group’s occupational industry and
illness rate is compared to occupational
injury and illness rates for other industry
segments as compiled and published by
the US Department of Labor, Bureau of
Labor Statistics for 2007 (being the latest
statistics available).

In 2008, the rate at which industrial
injuries and illnesses occurred at 
Premier Farnell facilities worldwide was
0.68 injuries per 100,000 hours worked.
Our goal was to have a rate of 50% or
less than the average for our industry. 
Our industry average was 0.63 injuries 
per 100,000 hours worked, therefore 
not achieving the target.

The number of lost-time injuries and
illnesses that occurred at Premier Farnell
facilities worldwide was 0.52 lost-time
injuries and illnesses per 100,000 hours
worked Our target was 0.18 lost-time
injuries and illnesses per 100,000 hours
worked. We achieved 76.9% of the
industry average, missing our target 
of 50%.

The Liège Distribution Centre recorded
7.50 workplace injuries and illnesses and
7.50 lost-time injuries per 100,000 hours
worked. Excluding this figure from the
Group facilities totals, the remaining
facilities achieved 0.45 recordable
workplace injuries and illnesses and 
0.28 lost-time injuries per 100,000 hours, 
which would result in the Group achieving
its recordable injuries target, but not its
lost-time injuries target.

The Liège Distribution Centre is subject 
to labour laws and practices that differ
substantially from most other regions in
which the Group operates in respect of
paid time off work, but nevertheless it 
has been identified as a priority area 
and plans and actions will be developed
during 2009 to reduce the number of
recordable and lost-time workplace
injuries and illnesses. 

Continue to monitor the number of
recordable and lost-time workplace
injuries and illnesses that occur at our
facilities in 2009, and achieve rates of 
less than 50% of the averages for 
our industry in the US, Europe and 
Asia Pacific regions, excluding the
distribution centre in Liège.

Review and develop systems to reduce
the number of recordable and lost-time
workplace injuries and illnesses and
achieve a rate for 2009 that is lower 
than the 2008 rate at the Liège
Distribution Centre.

Achieve Safety STAR status at 
Akron Brass.

Akron Brass achieved Safety STAR status
in the fourth quarter of FY09.

Develop and deliver training on
implementing risk assessment online and
face to face in Farnell Leeds and CPC.

The risk assessment training has been
developed, but implementation was
delayed by changes to compliance
requirements which necessitated a
change in the training course. The training
has been appropriately updated to meet
these requirements.

Deliver the risk assessment training
programme online and face to face at
Farnell Leeds and CPC in Preston.

National Examination Board for
Occupational Safety and Health
(NEBOSH) certificate level training for 
two key managers at the Leeds
distribution centre.

One of the key managers has completed
the entire course and is achieved
certificate level. The remaining manager
has completed two of the three exams.

Key manager to complete the final
examination in the first half of FY10.
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Complete the labour practices and
working conditions assessment and 
have agreed plans in place as appropriate
for the Group’s eight most important 
(by sales value) own brand manufacturers
in Asia.

The eight most important own brand
Asian manufacturers have been audited
for workplace standards during 2008. 
The team that conducted the audits was
provided with supplementary training 
by the Group’s EAP Safety, Health,
Environment and Quality Manager for
Europe and Asia Pacific.

Assess a further 20 own brand suppliers 
in Asia using the Group’s workplace
standards assessment questionnaire and
conduct site visit audits on a selection of
the surveyed suppliers.

Evaluate if there is a need for the Group
SHEQ Manager and/or a member of 
the International Purchasing Office to
undertake SA8000 social auditing training.

Develop a sustainable procurement
programme at Newark, sharing learning
and best practice from the European
programme.

A training programme on sustainable
procurement was developed for the US
businesses and delivered to a group of 
18 from across the US in September.

Identify one or more priority products at
Newark and develop understanding of the
sustainability impacts of the associated
supply chain. Progress actions to improve
the issues identified.

Engage with key suppliers on waste and
carbon emissions.

We have engaged with our main UK and
European parcel carrier UPS to begin to
develop the reporting of carbon emissions
associated with deliveries to customers.

Sign up to the BiTC Marketplace
Principles.

The Group signed up to the Marketplace
Principles in quarter one of FY09.

Achieve a further improvement in our 
score in the BiTC CR index as part of our
progress towards our target of achieving
Platinum status by 2010.

The 2009 CR Index survey results will 
be published in June in a supplement to 
the Financial Times. Premier Farnell’s
ranking improved from the Silver band in
2008 to the Gold band in the results
released in 2009.

Achieve Platinum status in the BiTC 
CR Index.

Continue to monitor the rates and causes
of employee absenteeism and take
actions to achieve reductions.

The Group monitors the rates and causes
of absenteeism across the business units.

The average rate of absenteeism in the 
US businesses has kept parity with US
national rates and so reduction targets 
are not set.

In Europe, targets were set for each of the
distribution centres and contact centres.
The absence rates represent hours lost
divided by hours available and targets
were achieved with the exception of the
Maybrook distribution centre. The rate of
absenteeism at Maybrook is affected by a
number of cases of long-term sick leave
and these are being managed with the
expectation of a resolution early in the
current financial year.

New management processes have been
implemented at Liège, improving
communication between management
and employees, resulting in it achieving 
its target this year.

Continue to monitor the rates and causes
of employee absenteeism and take
actions to achieve reductions.
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SGS United Kingdom Ltd was commissioned 
by Premier Farnell plc to conduct an independent
assurance of the 2009 CSR Report, which 
comprised an evaluation of the text and 2008 
data in accompanying tables for content veracity. 
The assurance included interviews and review of
documents and records at Premier Farnell plc 
facilities in UK and USA. 

Assurance opinion
On the basis of our methodology and the verification work
performed, we are satisfied that the information and data
contained within the 2009 CSR Report verified is reliable 
and provides a reasonable representation of Premier Farnell
plc’s CSR activities in 2008.

Key areas for improvement to data collection, submission
and manipulation and to report content were identified 
during the assurance process and, as far as possible, were
addressed to incorporate improvements into this report.
These improvement opportunities are outlined below to
enable further review and establish the need for system or
process changes in future reporting cycles and to consider
reporting on additional information in future reports.

> Normalisation of data could be undertaken using a factor
more directly related to the size and scale of operations;

> Actual data could be obtained for newly acquired sites 
in future reporting cycles;

> Consideration should be made to reporting on supplier
impacts where they have a significant impact;

> Consideration should be given to reporting on all data
collected to provide a more complete representation of
the Company’s impacts;

> Estimation should be minimised wherever possible and
checks should be carried out on information provided 
by suppliers;

> Conversion factors should be maintained with reference 
to up to date information sources;

> A system should be considered for ensuring source data
is available to those responsible for reporting it and
maintained as evidence for assurance process;

> Consideration should be made to reduce the number of
manual data entries and transfers to the minimum in order
to reduce errors in reporting.

Signed:
For and on behalf of SGS United Kingdom Ltd

Pauline Earl
Managing Director
8 April 2009
www.sgs.com

Independent Assurance of the 2009 CSR Report
SGS United Kingdom Ltd’s short form report
R
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Sir Peter Gershon*, CBE, FREng,
Chairman, Aged 62
Appointed as Non-Executive Chairman 
on 1 March 2005. Currently Chairman of 
GHG Limited (General Healthcare Group) and
Vertex Group Limited and a Non-Executive
Director and Chairman-elect of Tate & Lyle
PLC. He is also a member of the Advisory
Board of the UK Defence Academy and of
the Court and Council of Imperial College.
Formerly Chief Executive of the Office of
Government Commerce, Managing Director
of Marconi Electronic Systems, a member 
of the GEC plc Board and Chairman of
Symbian Limited.

Harriet Green, BA (Hons) Aged 47
Appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 
3 April 2006. Currently a member of the
Board of Directors of Emerson Electric
Company and a founder member of
“Peaceworks” charity. Previously ran volume
distribution businesses in four continents,
(including Asia Pacific) for Arrow Electronics
as well as having functional responsibility 
for worldwide marketing, suppliers and
strategy. Prior to joining Arrow in 1994 was
Managing Director of the Macro Group, 
part of Diploma plc.

Steven Webb, LLB Solicitor Aged 46
Appointed as Company Secretary and
General Counsel in December 2000.
Previously Company Secretary and General
Counsel of Kelda Group plc and Company
Secretary of Kalon Group plc.

William B Korb*, B.S.I.E. AMP Aged 69
Appointed as a Non-Executive Director 
in January 2003. Formerly President 
and CEO of Gilbarco Incorporated. 
Non-Executive Director of Cambrex
Corporation.

Paul Withers*, MA Aged 52
Appointed as a Non-Executive Director 
in September 2007. Formerly Main Board
Director of BPB plc. Non-Executive 
Director of Hyder Consulting plc.

Mark Whiteling, M.Comm (Hons) 
Aged 46
Appointed as Chief Financial Officer 
1 September 2006. Formerly Group 
Finance Director of Communisis plc, 
the pan-European print management/direct
mail group. Prior to joining Communisis in
November 2004, he was Group Finance
Director of Tibbett & Britten plc, 
a FTSE 250 logistics company.

Laurence Bain, CA Aged 55
Appointed Chief Operating Officer in 
July 2002 and joined the Board as an
Executive Director on 1 July 2003. 
Previously Vice President and Director 
of Operations for Motorola in Europe, 
Middle East and Africa.

Dennis Millard*, CA (SA), MBA Aged 60
Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in
September 2007 and as Senior Independent
Director in June 2008. Formerly Group
Finance Director of Cookson Group plc. 
Non-Executive Chairman of Smiths News
Plc, Non-Executive Director of Debenhams
plc and Non-Executive Director and 
Senior Independent Director of Xchanging
plc. Chairman of the Board of Trustees 
of the Holy Cross Children’s Trust charity.

Andrew Dougal*, BAcc, CA Aged 57
Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in
September 2006. Formerly Chief Executive 
of Hanson plc, the international building
materials company and previously Finance
Director of Hanson, the diversified industrial
group. Non-Executive Director of Taylor
Wimpey plc, Creston Plc and, formerly, 
of BPB plc.

*Non-Executive Directors. 

Committees 
Membership at March 2009

Audit Committee 
Dennis Millard (Chairman)
Andrew Dougal
William Korb
Paul Withers

Nominations Committee 
Sir Peter Gershon (Chairman)
William Korb
Dennis Millard

Remuneration Committee 
Paul Withers (Chairman)
Andrew Dougal
William Korb
Dennis Millard
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The Premier Farnell Leadership Council (PFLC) was
formed to be a global, representative and flexible
leadership body, focused on building the organisation
and ensuring the results committed through the
implementation of the Group’s strategy are delivered
for customers, suppliers, shareholders and employees.
Through the innovative thinking and professional
expertise, the PFLC breathes life into the strategy,
drives flawless execution and works constantly to 
put people and customers at the very heart of 
Premier Farnell in the quest to become a truly high
performance organisation. Another part of the PFLC’s
activities is to evaluate the risks and opportunities to
both our strategy and the business. At its core the
PFLC comprises the direct reports of the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer – the
individual business leaders and functional heads.

The flexibility of the PFLC means it also draws on the
participation of professional experts from across the Group 
at all levels, as well as talented performers as part of their
ongoing development. Such a breadth of involvement
ensures that decisions are well guided, well formed and
always in touch with the needs of the business. This dynamic
leadership body is key to the needs of our transforming
organisation.

Recognising high performance
We are driving towards truly becoming a high performance
organisation and have developed a set of attributes to guide
us which are well utilised and understood throughout the
business. Building a high performance culture is how we 
will deliver our strategy for profitable growth and move the
organisation forward to become an even more customer-
focused market leader. As part of our commitment to driving
this change and raising standards across the Group, Premier
Farnell recognises high performing employees around the
business every quarter. Employees and managers are
encouraged to submit details of an individual or team that
they feel has gone above and beyond their required duties. 

Based on the following six attributes of a high 
performance company:

> Being driven by leaders; 

> Built on the relentless pursuit of clear strategies; 

> Energised by an intense performance driven organisation; 

> Being aligned by simple structures and systems; 

> Based on world-class company skills and flawless
execution; and, 

> Being rejuvenated by well developed people systems. 

The PFLC evaluates each entry independently and votes 
for one individual and one team that has exhibited true high
performance attributes. The person and team with the highest
number of votes receive special recognition and an award
presented by Harriet Green. In the event of very tough
competition, highly commended awards may be presented
locally by the business leaders.

In the year, Premier Farnell recognised over 40 high
performers from around the business and further embedded
these attributes in the grain of the organisation’s culture.

The Premier Farnell
Leadership Council
R



61 
Premier Farnell 
Annual Report & Accounts 2009  

 

 
 

The Company is committed to high standards of corporate 
governance throughout the Group. The Board is accountable to the 
Company’s shareholders for good governance and this statement 
describes how the principles identified in the Combined Code on 
Corporate Governance (as updated in June 2006) are applied by  
the Company. 

The Board confirms that the Company has complied with all of the 
provisions set out in Section 1 of the Combined Code throughout 
the year, except that Non-Executive Directors did not attend 
meetings with major shareholders. This point is explained below. 

Directors 
At the start of the year, the Board consisted of the Chairman,  
six Non-Executive Directors and three Executive Directors.  
On 17 June 2008 Cary Nolan and John Roques retired as  
Non-Executive Directors.  

The Chairman continued with his other commitments (as previously 
disclosed) consisting of the Non-Executive Chairmanships of 
Symbian Limited (until he stepped down on 2 December 2008), 
GHG Limited (General Healthcare Group) and Vertex Data Science 
Limited and his membership of the Advisory Board of the UK 
Defence Academy and the Court and Council of Imperial College. 
On 1 February 2009 Sir Peter took up a Non-Executive Directorship 
as Chairman-elect of Tate & Lyle plc.  

Dennis Millard is the Company’s Senior Independent Non-Executive 
Director, having been appointed on John Roques’s retirement. 

All the Non-Executive Directors who have served during the year are 
considered by the Board to be independent.  

In response to the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 
introduced in October 2008, each Director has notified the 
Company of any situation in which he or she has, or can have a 
direct or indirect interest that conflicts, or possibly may conflict, with 
the interests of the Company (a situational conflict). These interests 
were considered and approved by the Board in accordance with  
the Company’s Articles of Association and each Director was 
informed of the authorisation and the terms on which it was given. 
All Directors are aware of the need to consult with the Company 
Secretary regarding any further possible situational conflict that  
may arise so that prior consideration can be given by the Board to 
whether or not such conflict will be approved. In addition, the Board 
has decided that it will review all situational conflicts annually and  
it has done so as part of the process of preparation of this report. 

Biographies of the Board members appear on page 59.  
These indicate the high level and broad range of experience that the 
Directors possess. Their knowledge of the Group’s business and of 
legal, accounting and market developments is frequently updated by 
presentations made at Board and Board Committee meetings. All of 
the Non-Executive Directors have experienced previous periods of 
economic recession in general or financial management roles and 
are therefore well equipped to provide support and guidance in the 
current climate. 

The appointment letters for Non-Executive Directors include the time 
commitment expected of them and confirmation that they have 
sufficient time available to meet this commitment. Non-Executive 
Directors are required to obtain the approval of the Chairman before 
taking on further appointments and the Chairman requires approval 
from the Board before adding to his commitments. 

A formal and comprehensive induction process is in place for new 
Directors, including presentations from management and site visits. 
Non-Executive Directors continue to make site visits on an annual 
basis to improve their knowledge of the business and the Group’s 
core markets, as well as meeting talented performers and the 
Company’s senior personnel, and to enable them to provide 
valuable insights to the executive management. During the year,  
the Non-Executive Directors made a total of eleven such visits and  
a programme for the coming year has been planned. 

Any Director appointed during the year is required, under the 
provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association, to retire and 
seek election by shareholders at the next Annual General Meeting. 
The Articles also require that every Director must retire and seek  
re-election at least every three years. 

The Board – role and meetings 
The role of the Board is to: 

• provide entrepreneurial leadership of the Company within a 
framework of prudent and effective controls which enable risk  
to be assessed and managed; 

• set the Company’s strategic aims, ensure that the necessary 
financial and human resources are in place for the Company  
to meet its objectives, and review management performance; 

• set the Company’s values and standards, either by considering 
and approving policies, procedures and guidance or by 
delegation to the Chief Executive in areas of operational 
performance. The Board monitors performance against all values 
and standards to ensure that its obligations to its shareholders 
and others are understood and met; 

• ensure adequate succession planning is in place for the Group’s 
most senior management; and 

• establish and monitor the Group’s policies and performance in 
the area of corporate social responsibility. 

The Board reviews strategic issues on a regular basis and exercises 
control over the performance of each operating company within the 
Group by agreeing budgetary targets and monitoring performance 
against those targets. Certain matters are reserved for approval by 
the Board and the Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s 
system of internal controls and risk management, as described later 
in this report. 

The roles of the Chairman and Group Chief Executive are clearly 
defined and separate. The Group Chief Executive is responsible for 
the executive management of the Group’s business; the Chairman 
runs the Board. 

The Board has five scheduled meetings each year and others as 
required. During 2008 two additional Board meetings were held to 
consider the renewal of the Company’s bank facilities. The matters 
reserved to the Board for decision include major capital expenditure, 
significant investments or disposals, treasury policy and the 
appointment and removal of the Company Secretary. In certain 
areas, specific responsibility is delegated to committees of the Board 
within defined terms of reference. 

Corporate GovernanceR
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The Audit and Remuneration Committees have, respectively, five 
and four scheduled meetings each year, although additional 
meetings may be held where required. In addition to the scheduled 
meetings of both Committees, there was an additional meeting of 
the Remuneration Committee to consider the framework of 
Executives’ remuneration in 2010. The Nominations Committee 
meets as required throughout the year and met twice in 2009.  

During the year all Directors attended the Board meetings that were 
held during their respective periods of service, apart from Dennis 
Millard, Andrew Dougal, Paul Withers and Laurence Bain, who were 
each unable to attend one of the additional, unscheduled meetings 
of the Board. All members of the respective committees attended 
the Committee meetings that were held.  

Complete copies of the terms of reference of the Audit, 
Remuneration and Nominations Committees are available on the 
Company’s web site at www.premierfarnell.com. The membership 
of the Committees appears on page 59. 

The Non-Executive Directors held a formal meeting and had a 
number of discussions during the year without the Executive 
Directors present to consider, among other things, the performance 
of the Company and the Executive Directors. 

There is an agreed procedure for Directors to take independent 
professional advice at the Company’s expense, if necessary, in the 
performance of their duties. This is in addition to the access that 
every Director has to the Company Secretary. The Company 
Secretary is charged by the Board with ensuring that Board 
procedures are followed and for advising the Board on all 
governance matters. 

The Board has adopted a number of corporate governance policies, 
including a Group Code of Ethics covering issues such as conflicts 
of interest, fraud and whistle-blowing. A copy of the Code is also 
available on the Company’s web site at www.premierfarnell.com. 
The Company has implemented arrangements with an independent 
organisation to receive information from employees for whistle-
blowing purposes. The Company has also adopted policies on 
share dealing and inside information. 

To enable the Board to function effectively and assist Directors to 
discharge their responsibilities, full and timely access is given to all 
relevant information. In the case of Board meetings, this consists of 
a comprehensive set of papers, including regular business progress 
reports and discussion documents regarding specific matters. In 
addition, senior managers are regularly invited to Board meetings 
and make business presentations. 

The Chairman, supported by the Company Secretary, maintains  
a rolling twelve-month agenda for Board meetings to ensure all 
relevant matters are planned in to the cycle of meetings and 
considered at the appropriate time. 

The Board – performance evaluation 
During the year a performance evaluation was carried out covering 
the Board, each of the principal Board Committees and individual 
Directors. The evaluation process consisted of a one to one 
discussion between the Chairman and each of the other Directors 
and the Company Secretary. This discussion was based on a series 
of questions devised for the purpose and circulated before each 
meeting. These questions combined those used for the previous 
year’s evaluation with additions designed to increase the breadth 
and depth of the evaluation. In addition, each Director completed a 
questionnaire appraising the performance of each other Director. 
The results of these evaluations were collated by the Company 

Secretary and considered by the Chairman or, in the case of the 
Chairman, by the Senior Independent Director. The Chairman 
discussed with each Director points arising from his or her 
evaluation. 

The evaluation of the Chairman was discussed in a meeting of the 
Non-Executive Directors led by the Senior Independent Director. 
The Executive Directors attended the meeting to give their views. 
The Senior Independent Director subsequently discussed the 
outcomes of this evaluation with the Chairman. 

The performance of the Board as a whole, and of each of  
its principal Committees was considered by the Board.  
The Chairman led this discussion, based on the results of his one  
to one discussions. The Board also reviewed the main outcomes  
of the prior year’s evaluation process and the actions taken. 

The main points from this review were that: 

2008 Performance Review – outcomes and actions  
Outcome Action 

In addition to the performance 
targets contained in the 
Company’s Performance Share 
Plan, agree a small number of 
additional criteria to assess the 
success of the Company over  
a three to five year timeframe. 

The success criteria were agreed 
by the Board in January 2008 
and progress against these will 
be reviewed regularly (most 
recently in January 2009). 

Review the purpose and 
frequency of Non-Executive 
Director only meetings. 

The review was carried out and 
the outcome reflected in the 
meetings held during the year. 

Continue to improve the quality  
of Board papers. A first step will 
be for Non-Executive Directors  
to provide specific feedback  
on each paper produced for  
three Board and Board 
Committee meetings. 

Non-Executive Directors provided 
feedback on the papers for three 
meetings and this resulted in a 
number of improvements to the 
Board papers. 

Consider what steps can be  
taken to mitigate the time 
pressure on Board meetings. 

As well as maintaining a rolling  
12 month agenda for Board 
meetings, preparation for 
individual meetings now includes 
an assessment of the likely time 
requirement for each agenda item 
to aid planning for the meetings. 

Document the process for 
evaluation of the performance  
of the Chief Executive. 

The process was documented 
and agreed by the Board in 
January 2008 and followed in the 
Chief Executive’s performance 
review in January 2009. 

2009 Performance Review – main outcomes 
• Improve the process for setting performance goals and targets  

in incentive schemes. 

• Provide the Board with more information to benchmark the 
Company’s performance against its main competitors. 

• Increase the Board’s input to, and focus on, progress of the 
Company’s strategy. 

• Identify a method to allow Non-Executive Directors to get to 
know key executives in greater depth. 

The actions taken to address these outcomes will be set out in the 
Company’s Annual Report to February 2010. 
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Remuneration Committee 
The composition and role of the Remuneration Committee is set  
out in the Remuneration Report on pages 69 to 77. 

Full details of Directors’ remuneration and a statement of  
the Company’s remuneration policy also appear in the 
Remuneration Report. 

Each Executive Director abstains from any discussion or voting at full 
Board meetings on Remuneration Committee recommendations 
where the recommendations have a direct bearing on his or her own 
remuneration package. 

The details of each Executive Director’s individual package are fixed 
by the Remuneration Committee in line with the policy adopted by 
the full Board. 

Nominations Committee 
The Nominations Committee, comprising the Chairman, Sir Peter 
Gershon, the Senior Independent Director, Dennis Millard, and 
William Korb, meets as necessary. 

The Committee’s principal function is to provide advice and 
recommendations to the Board on any appointments to the Board. 
The Committee also keeps the composition and balance of the 
Board under review. 

During the year, the Committee was involved in the criteria and 
appointment of a new Senior Independent Director as a result of  
the retirement of John Roques. 

Audit Committee and internal control 
The primary role of the Audit Committee is to keep under review the 
Group’s financial and other systems and controls and its financial 
reporting procedures. In fulfilling this role, the Committee receives 
and reviews work carried out by the Internal and External Auditors 
and their findings. The Company’s Internal Audit department  
works to an annual programme developed in consultation with  
the Committee, as well as covering specific matters arising during  
the year. 

The Audit Committee’s terms of reference are available on the 
Company’s web site. In addition, and following a recommendation 
from the Smith Report, the Committee has also adopted and 
implemented a Group-wide policy restricting the appointment of 
former employees of the external auditors. 

Dennis Millard, the Committee’s Chairman, was formerly the Group 
Finance Director of Cookson Group plc and is currently Chairman of 
the Audit Committees of both Debenhams plc and Xchanging plc, 
bringing recent and relevant financial expertise to the Committee.  

The Committee keeps the scope and cost effectiveness of both the 
internal and external audit functions under review. This includes an 
annual review of the effectiveness of the external auditors, including 
their quality control procedures. Following the appointment of a new 
Head of Internal Audit, the Committee reviewed and approved his 
proposals for the future structure of the department at its December 
2008 meeting. 

The independence and objectivity of the external auditors is also 
considered on a regular basis, with particular regard to the level of 
non-audit fees. The split between audit and non-audit fees for the 
year to 1 February 2009 and information on the nature of the non-
audit fees incurred appears in note 4 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. The non-audit fees were paid in respect of assurance 
and tax compliance work and are considered by the Committee not 
to affect the independence or objectivity of the auditors. 

The external auditors’ appointment is subject to periodic review by 
the Committee and the lead audit partner is rotated at least every 
five years. The Committee also maintains a formal policy on the 
provision of non-audit services by the auditors, which is reviewed 
each year. This policy prohibits the provision of services such as 
financial information systems design and implementation; internal  

audit outsourcing and legal services and requires that others  
are subject to prior approval by the Committee or its Chairman.  
This policy allows specific tax compliance services within defined 
monetary limits to be pre-approved by the Committee at the 
beginning of the year. All other permitted non-audit services are 
considered on a case-by-case basis. 

At each of its meetings, the Committee is provided with information 
on all non-audit services provided by the auditors and the estimated 
cost of such services. The Committee monitors such costs, in the 
context of the audit fee for the year, in order to ensure that the value 
of non-audit services does not increase to a level where it has the 
potential to affect the auditors’ objectivity and independence. 

The Committee also receives an annual confirmation of 
independence from the auditors. 

Throughout the year, the Group has been in full compliance with  
the applicable provisions on internal control contained in the 
Combined Code. 

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s system of 
internal controls and risk management, designed to safeguard 
shareholder investment and the Company’s assets. The Audit 
Committee monitors the system’s effectiveness on behalf of the 
Board and reviews it at least annually, while responsibility for 
implementing the system rests with the Executive Directors.  
The system includes an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating 
and managing significant business risks. However, any system  
can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance of  
meeting internal control objectives and is designed to manage  
rather than eliminate the risk of the Company failing to meet its 
business objectives. 

Summarised below are the ways in which risks are identified; the 
controls that are in place and the assurance steps that are taken. 
The processes described have been in place for the year and 
accord with the 2005 Internal Control Guidelines for directors on  
the Combined Code issued by the Financial Reporting Council  
(the “Turnbull Guidance”).  

Risk identification 
As well as the risks that management identifies through the ongoing 
processes of reporting and comparing actual performance against 
detailed financial and operating plans, analysing significant variances 
and scrutinising key performance indicators, the risk identification 
processes include: 

• An ongoing ‘risks and controls’ process for identifying, evaluating 
and managing major business risks. During the year business 
and function leaders have operated the process, which has been 
coordinated by the Head of Internal Audit. The results of the 
process are reviewed by the Audit Committee; 

• An assurance framework summary, developed to identify the 
strategic issues on which assurance is required, the external  
and internal sources from which that assurance is obtained and 
any ways in which that assurance may need to be enhanced. 
The summary is reviewed by the Audit Committee not less  
than annually; 

• Internal audit and external audit reports which, as well as 
commenting on controls to manage identified risks, also identify 
new risk areas; 

• A Code of Ethics that encourages employees to report any areas 
of concern regarding compliance with financial and other 
controls, combined with a confidential whistle-blowing helpline, 
the Trustline. In addition, the Company’s employees are 
encouraged to raise other comments, questions, issues and 
concerns that they have directly with the Chief Executive, using 
the ‘askharriet’ email address set up specifically for this purpose. 
Through this confidential route, Harriet Green receives hundreds 
of comments and queries each year on a range of issues and 
each email receives a response; 
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• A Disclosure Committee that meets at least four times a year  
to review all financial statements issued by the Company.  
The minutes of all meetings of this Committee are received  
by the Audit Committee; and 

• A quarterly process which collates all contingent liabilities 
identified by business units and function heads and leads  
to their presentation to the Disclosure Committee and the  
Audit Committee. 

Controls 
• A Code of Ethics that is widely communicated (including via the 

Group intranet) and supported by a module on the Group’s 
online learning centre that clearly defines expected standards  
of business behaviour; 

• Defined organisational structure with appropriate delegation  
of authorities; 

• Formal authorisation procedures for all investments; 

• Clear responsibilities on the part of line and financial management 
for the maintenance of good financial controls and the production 
and review of detailed, accurate and timely financial management 
information; 

• The control of key financial risks through clear authorisation levels 
and proper segregation of duties; 

• A comprehensive financial review cycle, which includes an annual 
budget approved by the Board and review of monthly variances 
against detailed financial and operating plans; 

• A quarter-end controls checklist. This includes sign off from both 
the CEO and CFO of each business covering internal controls, 
legal and regulatory compliance, Code of Ethics, and tax issues, 
as well as financial controls; and 

• A process of internal control self-assessment, co-ordinated by 
Internal Audit. 

Assurance 
• The ‘risks and controls’ process clearly identifies senior 

management responsibilities for risk mitigation action plans; 

• Internal Audit independently reviews the ‘risks and controls’ 
process operated by management; 

• In compiling the assurance framework summary, senior 
management review the sources of assurance in relation to 
principal business risks and identify to the Audit Committee the 
persons with whom responsibility for the provision of assurance 
on those risks lies;  

• Internal Audit carries out independent audits. The annual Internal 
Audit plan, agreed with the Audit Committee at the start of each 
year, provides a high degree of financial and location coverage, 
as well as allocating a significant proportion of effort to reviewing 
the risk management frameworks surrounding major  
business risks; 

• Internal Audit reports include recommendations to improve 
internal controls, together with agreed senior management 
responsibility and target resolution dates. The Internal Audit 
reports, included in the papers for every Audit Committee 
meeting, summarise these recommendations; 

• Internal Audit follows up implementation of recommendations. 
The follow up process for high priority internal audit issues 
includes monthly status reporting to senior management and 
updates at each Audit Committee meeting; 

• The Audit Committee receives a full report from the Head of 
Internal Audit each year on the department’s work and findings, 
in addition to the updates on specific issues provided at each 
meeting of the Committee; 

• The effectiveness of the internal audit function is externally 
assessed every three years; 

• A comprehensive external audit plan is agreed with the  
Audit Committee; 

• The effectiveness of the external auditor is reviewed annually and 
reported to the Audit Committee; and 

• Certification is required from individual executive managers of 
relevant sections of all financial statements. 

An executive management committee, the Disclosure Committee, 
monitors and reviews processes for disclosures made by the 
Company to its shareholders and reviews such disclosures before 
they are considered by the Board. 

The Audit Committee reports to the Board on its activities and all 
Board members receive copies of the minutes of Audit Committee 
meetings and of the information provided to the Audit Committee on 
risk identification, control and assurance. The Committee reports to 
the Board on its proceedings regularly throughout the year.  

The Audit Committee has completed its review of the effectiveness 
of the Group’s system of internal controls during the year and 
confirms that the necessary action plans to remedy identified 
weaknesses in internal control are in place. 

The statement of the Directors’ responsibilities in relation to the 
accounts appears on page 68. 

Going concern 
In making its determination that the going concern basis is the 
appropriate basis of preparation for the financial statements, the 
Board has considered a number of factors. These have included, 
but are not limited to: 

• The Group’s operating plan for the next 12 months;  

• Market forecast data, where available, for the end markets in 
which it operates;  

• An evaluation of the Group’s borrowing requirements over the 
next 12 months, including monthly peak forecasts; and 

• A review of contingent liabilities which potentially might crystallise 
over the coming 12 months. 

The Board has also reviewed the sensitivity of its operating plans to 
changes in activity levels as well as macro-economic factors that 
impact profitability and cash flow, interest rates being one example. 

Finally, the Board has reviewed and considered the nature of the 
actions that it could take to respond to adverse movements in  
the operating environment and which might lead to a situation  
where the Board was forced to reconsider its ability to continue  
as a going concern. 

Based on this evaluation, the Directors have a reasonable 
expectation that the Company and the Group have adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern 
basis in preparing the accounts. 
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Communication with stakeholders 
The Company places a great deal of importance on The Company 
places a great deal of importance on communication with  
its stakeholders. 

There is regular dialogue with individual institutional shareholders as 
well as general presentations after the interim and preliminary results. 
Since Harriet Green’s appointment as Chief Executive in April 2006, 
regular and frequent meetings have been held with a significant 
number of such shareholders. The Board regards the discussion of 
the Company’s strategy as primarily the role of the Chief Executive 
and this forms part of the regular meetings held with institutional 
shareholders. The Board also receives copies of analysts’ reports  
on the Company.  

All Company announcements are published on the Company’s  
web site, together with presentation materials. 

During the year, external advisors provided the Board with regular 
reports on the investment community’s views on the Company and 
its management. 

The Chairman is available to shareholders at any time to discuss 
strategy and governance matters. While Non-Executive Directors  
do not ordinarily attend meetings with major shareholders, they 
would do so if this were requested by shareholders. Dennis Millard, 
as Senior Independent Director of the Company, is also available  
to shareholders if they have concerns which contact through the 
normal channels cannot resolve, or where the normal channels are 
not appropriate. 

All ordinary shareholders have the opportunity to ask questions at 
the Company’s Annual General Meeting. All Directors are usually 
available to take questions at the meeting. 

At the AGM, separate resolutions are proposed on each separate 
issue and proxy forms allow shareholders to vote for or against,  
or to withhold their vote on each resolution. 

The results of proxy voting are made available on the Company’s 
website after the meeting and at the meeting itself to shareholders 
who attend. 

The notice of the AGM is sent to shareholders at least 20 working 
days before the meeting. 

As discussed in the Directors’ Report, employee communication  
is given high priority. As well as formal structures, such as the 
Company’s European Works Council, considerable time is devoted 
to other forms of employee communication. These include extensive 
employee briefings conducted by the Chief Executive and other 
members of senior management at regular intervals and a  
Group-wide intranet that is updated daily with information relevant  
to employees. 

The Group also communicates widely with suppliers and 
customers, both individually and through group events such as 
seminars on key industry developments and focus groups. 

The Group is also active in its local communities, as described in  
the Corporate Social Responsibility Report. 
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Principal activities and business review 
A detailed review of the Group’s activities and the development of its 
business, together with an indication of likely future developments, 
the main trends and factors likely to affect future performance and  
a description of the principal risks and uncertainties it faces, are set 
out on pages 3 to 44. Information about environmental matters, 
employees and social and community issues appear on pages  
45 to 57. 

The principal activity of the Group remains unchanged and is the 
distribution of electronic, electrical and industrial products to the 
design, maintenance and repair sectors. 

As described in the Business Review, the Group does not have 
significant reliance on any individual customer or supplier and 
therefore there are no contractual or other arrangements that are 
essential to the Group’s business. 

Profit and dividends 
The Group’s operating profit for the financial year from  
continuing operations was £85.4 million (2008: £88.0 million). 
Excluding restructuring costs of £3.4 million (2008: nil) to reshape 
the business and transition to the web, the Group’s operating profit 
was £88.8 million (2008: £88.0 million). The Group’s profit for the 
financial year attributable to ordinary shareholders was £51.7 million 
(2008: £36.3 million). 

The Directors recommend that a final dividend of 5.2 pence (2008: 
5.2 pence) per ordinary share be paid on 24 June 2009 to those 
shareholders on the register of members at the close of business  
on 29 May 2009. An interim dividend of 4.2 pence per ordinary 
share was paid on 15 October 2008, making a total for the year  
of 9.4 pence (2008: 9.2 pence) per ordinary share. 

The Premier Farnell Executive Trust holds ordinary shares in the 
Company (acquired in the market) in order to meet obligations under 
the Premier Farnell Performance Share Plan or to provide similar 
employee benefits. The trustees have waived the right to receive 
dividends in respect of the ordinary shares held by the Trust. 

Share capital 
Details of the changes in the issued, ordinary share capital of the 
Company during the year are set out in note 19 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 

At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, the Company will be 
seeking authority to purchase its ordinary and preference shares. 
Authorities were previously granted at the Annual General Meeting in 
2008, but expire at the close of the forthcoming meeting. 

During the year under review the Company purchased 1,824,302  
of its cumulative redeemable preference shares in the market for  
a total cash consideration of £23.6 million. These shares had  
a nominal value of £1,824,302 and represented 31.6% of the 
cumulative convertible redeemable preference shares in issue prior 
to such purchases. All shares purchased were then cancelled.  
The purchases are considered to be beneficial to the ongoing 
earnings and cash flow profile of the Group. 

During the year, the Premier Farnell Executive Trust acquired 
1,532,806 of the Company’s ordinary shares for a total cash 
consideration of £2.9 million, in order to meet future obligations 
under the Premier Farnell Performance Share Plan. 

Directors 
The names and biographical details of the Directors who held office 
at the date of this report appear on page 59. John Roques and Cary 
Nolan retired from the Board on 17 June 2008.  

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Harriet 
Green and William Korb will retire at the forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting of the Company and offer themselves for re-election.  
A formal evaluation process having been carried out during the 
course of the year in respect of both of these Directors, their 
performance continues to be effective and both continue to 
demonstrate commitment to their roles. 

During the financial year ended 1 February 2009 the Company 
provided indemnities to each of its Directors in accordance with the 
provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association providing for the 
indemnification of Directors out of the assets of the Company to the 
extent permitted by law. These indemnities constitute qualifying third 
party indemnities for the purposes of the Companies Act 2006 and 
remain in force at the date of approval of this  report. 

Additional information relating to Directors’ remuneration, service 
contracts and interests in the Company’s shares is given in the 
Remuneration Report on pages 69 to 77. The details of Directors’ 
interests in the Company’s shares form part of this report. 

Share Capital and Control 
Details of the Company’s issued share capital are set out in  
notes 15 and 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.  
The Company’s authorised share capital comprises ordinary  
shares of 5 pence each nominal value and cumulative convertible 
redeemable preference shares of £1 each nominal value. As at  
1 February 2009, the ordinary shares and preference shares 
represented 82.2% and 17.8% respectively of the Company’s  
total share capital. 

The rights attached to the Company’s ordinary shares and its 
preference shares, in addition to those conferred on their holders  
by law, are set out in the Company’s articles of association (the 
“articles”), a copy of which can be obtained on request from the 
Company Secretary. A summary of the rights attached to the 
preference shares appears in note 15 to the Consolidated  
Financial Statements. 

The articles contain certain restrictions on the transfer of ordinary 
and preference shares and on the exercise of voting rights attached 
to them, including where the Company has exercised its right to 
prohibit transfer following the omission of their holder or any person 
interested in them to provide the Company with information 
requested by it in accordance with Part 22 of the Companies Act 
2006. Holders of preference shares are entitled to receive notice of, 
but not attend or vote at general meetings of the Company other 
than in limited circumstances. 

Rules about the appointment and replacement of Directors are set 
out in the articles. Changes to the articles must be approved by 
shareholders passing a special resolution. The Directors’ powers  
are conferred on them by UK legislation and by the articles. 

Directors’ ReportR
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The Directors’ authority to effect purchases of the Company’s 
shares on its behalf is conferred by resolution of the shareholders 
and renewed annually at the Company’s Annual General Meeting. 

There are no agreements between any Group company and any of 
its employees or any Director of the Company which provide for 
compensation to be paid to the employee or Director for termination 
of employment or for loss of office as a consequence of a takeover 
of the Company, other than provisions that would apply on any 
termination of employment. 

The Company’s multi-currency syndicate bank facilities contain 
provisions allowing the lending banks to terminate the facilities in  
the event of a change of control. 

The trustees of the Premier Farnell Executive Trust (an employee 
benefit trust) may vote or abstain from voting shares held in the trust 
in any way they see fit. 

Financial instruments 
Information on the Group’s financial risk management objectives 
and policies and on the exposure of the Group to relevant risks  
in respect of financial instruments is set out under the heading 
Treasury Operations on page 40 and in note 18 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 

Supplier payment policy 
The Group’s operating companies are responsible for agreeing 
terms and conditions under which business transactions with  
their suppliers are conducted. Payments to suppliers are made in 
accordance with those terms, provided that suppliers also comply 
with all relevant terms and conditions. At 1 February 2009, the 
amount the Group owed its suppliers represented 34 working days’ 
purchases (2008: 30 working days). The Company is a holding 
company and does not have any trade creditors. 

Product research and development 
The Group’s product research and development activities are 
restricted to the development of new or enhanced products for 
Akron Brass, part of the Group’s Industrial Products Division.  
During the year Akron Brass expensed £1.6 million (2008:  
£1.3 million) of such costs. 

In addition, the Group is constantly striving to develop new and 
improved solutions to customer service. The advances in our web 
offering, such as eQuotes and iBuy, the development of the 
eCommunity allowing EDEs access to colleagues, suppliers and 
experts globally, the Global Technology Centres and the Innovation 
Lab (all of which are detailed further in our business review and the 
sections of this report on the web and EDEs) are good examples  
of this. During the year the Group expensed £2.0 million (2008:  
£1.0 million) in these areas. 

Charitable and political donations 
In the US, the Group has an ongoing policy of donating certain  
items of inventory to charitable organisations. In addition, during  
the year the Group made charitable donations in cash of £58,000. 

Further details of the Group’s charitable activities appear in the 
Corporate Responsibility section of the Business Review on  
page 51. 

The Group continues its policy of not making contributions to 
political parties. 

Employment 
The Group places great emphasis on optimising the contribution 
made by employees at all levels around the world. A Group-wide 
Performance Review process is in its tenth year of  operation.  
This process has been enhanced by the inclusion of a 360 degree 
review for all those in the Group involved in leading others and by 
making the whole process available on-line. The Group continues  
to invest in the development of its employees and has carried  
out a review of leadership skills and development needs.  
Specific employee development programmes are designed on  
the basis of these identified needs. In addition, all employees have 
attended workshops covering the attributes required for high 
performance and are now entitled to spend an hour every week on 
personal development activities. The content available through the 
Group’s on-line learning centre includes customised internal course 
material and access to a wide range of external materials delivered  
in partnership with a leading business school. A comprehensive 
induction module forms part of every new employee’s introduction 
to the Company. A formal job grading system exists across  
the Group to assist remuneration practices as well as career 
development and organisational planning processes. 

There is further information on the 360 degree reviews and on 
development plans, as well as on the Company’s other initiatives  
to attract, retain and motivate its employees, on page 43. 

Employees are informed of the performance of the Group and a 
structured communication programme allows factors affecting their 
employment to be discussed. All employees attended kick off 
meetings at the beginning of the financial year which provided them 
with the opportunity to understand their individual role in delivering 
the Company’s strategy. A comprehensive cascade process 
ensures that information on the Company’s performance is made 
available to coincide with its quarterly results announcements.  
Cyber cafes have been installed in many of the Company’s locations 
around the world to allow access to the Group’s intranet for those 
who do not normally work using personal computers. An all 
employee engagement survey was conducted during the year, 
providing a mechanism for detailed feedback on many aspects of 
what it is like to work for the Company. The survey results showed 
encouraging progress in all aspects of employee engagement and 
there are further details of the results of this survey on page 50.  

During the year a wide cross-section of the workforce had the 
opportunity to participate in the implementation of the Group’s 
business strategy through participation in the Premier Farnell 
Leadership Council. This forum consists of quarterly meetings at 
which the strategy and key issues related to its implementation are 
discussed. As well as the permanent members of the Council, each 
meeting is attended by individuals invited to contribute as subject 
matter experts or because of their high performance and potential. 

Working in close co-operation with elected representatives from  
its European operating companies, the Group’s European Works 
Council (The Premier Farnell European Forum) is in its ninth year  
of operation. The Forum provides an arena for the exchange of 
relevant and appropriate information and constructive dialogue 
between management and employees on European issues.  

The Group gives full and fair consideration to applications for 
employment from disabled persons, with regard to their particular 
aptitudes and abilities. Efforts are made to continue the employment 
of those who become disabled during their employment.  
Training, career development and promotion are, as far as 
practicable, identical for all employees according to their skills and 
abilities. The Group consistently seeks to recruit, develop and 
employ throughout the organisation suitably qualified, capable and 
experienced people, irrespective of age, race, gender, religion or 
sexual orientation. 

Employees’ participation in the Group’s performance is encouraged 
through the Group’s UK savings-related share option scheme and 
by the provision of cost-effective share dealing services. 
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Environment 
The Group recognises the importance of responsible environmental 
management and its obligation to protect the environment.  
The Group therefore gives high priority to all environmental matters. 
Further information appears in the Corporate Social Responsibility 
Report of the Business Review. 

Substantial shareholdings 
At 15 April 2009 the Company had been notified, pursuant to the 
Financial Services Authority’s Disclosure and Transparency Rules,  
of the following notifiable voting rights in its ordinary share capital: 

 %

Fidelity International 12.07
Prudential plc 9.09
Artemis Investment 6.76
UBS Global Asset Management 6.01
Axa Investment Managers UK Ltd 5.16
Newton Investment 4.97
Blackrock 4.84
Legal and General plc 3.94

Independent Auditors 
Resolutions to reappoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Auditors 
and to authorise the Directors to determine their remuneration will  
be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the 
Company. 

Audit information 
Each of the Directors confirms that so far as he or she is aware, 
there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s 
auditors are unaware and that he or she has taken all steps that he 
or she ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself  
or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish 
that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information. 

Annual General Meeting 
The notice convening the Company’s 2009 Annual General Meeting 
at Maybrook Distribution Centre, Castleton Road, Leeds, LS12 2EN 
on 16 June 2009 at 10:30 a.m. is set out in a separate document 
issued to shareholders. 

The Directors’ Report for the year ended 1 February 2009 
comprises these pages (66 to 68) and the other sections and pages 
of the Annual Report cross-referred to above, which sections and 
pages are incorporated by reference. 

By order of the Board 

Steven Webb 
Secretary 
Farnell House 
Forge Lane 
Leeds LS12 2NE 

17 April 2009 

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities  
Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial  
statements for each financial year. The Directors have prepared the 
Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European 
Union and the parent Company Financial Statements in accordance 
with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (UK GAAP).  
The financial statements are required by law to give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group and of  
the profit or loss of the Company and Group for that period. 

In preparing these financial statements the Directors are required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 
consistently; 

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and 
prudent; 

• state that the Consolidated Financial Statements comply with 
IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and the parent 
company financial statements comply with UK GAAP; and 

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis, 
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company or Group, 
as appropriate, will continue in business, in which case there 
should be supporting assumptions or qualifications as necessary. 

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above 
requirements in preparing the financial statements. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting  
records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the Company and the Group and to enable 
them to ensure that the financial statements and the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report comply with the Companies Act 1985 and,  
as regards the Consolidated Financial Statements, Article 4 of the 
IAS Regulation. They are also responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and  
other irregularities. 

The 2009 financial statements will be published on the Company's 
web site (in addition to the normal paper version). The Directors are 
responsible for maintenance and integrity of this electronic version of 
the financial statements to the same extent as for the paper version. 
The work carried out by the Auditors does not include consideration 
of the maintenance and integrity of the web site. 

Directors’ responsibility statement pursuant to DTR4 
Each of the Directors, as listed on page 59, confirms that, to the 
best of his or her knowledge: 

(a) the Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements in this report, 
which have been prepared in accordance with International  
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU,  
IFRIC interpretations and those parts of the Companies Act 1985 
applicable to companies reporting under IFRS, and the Company 
Financial Statements in this report which have been prepared in 
accordance with UK GAAP give a true and fair view of the assets, 
liabilities, financial position and profit of the Group or of the 
Company, respectively, taken as a whole; and 

(b) the Business Review contained in this Annual Report includes  
a fair review of the development and performance of the business 
and the position of the Company and the Group taken as a whole, 
together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties 
that they face. 
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Remuneration Report 
This report provides information on Directors’ remuneration.  
A resolution will be put to shareholders at the Company’s Annual 
General Meeting inviting them to approve this Report. 

Remuneration policy 
This report sets out the Company’s policy on Directors’ 
remuneration for 2009/10 and, so far as practicable, for subsequent 
years. The Committee considers that a successful remuneration 
policy needs to be sufficiently flexible to take account of future 
changes in the Group’s business environment and remuneration 
practice. Any change in policy for years after 2009/10 will be 
described in future Remuneration Reports. 

The Company’s overall policy aims are to: 

• attract, develop, motivate and keep talented people at all levels 
throughout the Group; 

• pay market competitive salaries and benefits to all of its people; 

• encourage the holding of shares in the Company as an effective 
way of aligning the interests of employees with those of 
shareholders; and 

• focus remuneration arrangements to help each business in the 
Group meet its specific targets. 

The Board’s policy for executive remuneration is to: 

• pay a basic salary which is competitive with other companies of 
similar size and complexity; 

• give executives the opportunity to increase their basic earnings  
by meeting and outperforming key short-term and long-term 
measures, thereby linking executive rewards to the Group’s 
performance and shareholder interests; 

• encourage executives to hold shares in the Company; and 

• reward executives fairly and responsibly for their contribution to 
the Group’s performance, without paying more than is necessary 
to achieve this objective. 

In framing this policy, the Board has given full consideration to the 
provisions of the Combined Code on Corporate Governance (as 
updated in June 2006). 

It is the Company’s policy that Executive Directors be permitted to 
hold one non-executive directorship with another company and that 
the fees payable in respect of the directorship are retained by the 
Executive Director. During the year, Harriet Green was appointed  
a Non-Executive Director of Emerson Electric Co and is a member 
of its Audit Committee. For this, Harriet received during the year to 
31 December 2008 fees of $35,167. Harriet has also received two 
awards of restricted stock from Emerson; the first made shortly after 
she took up her appointment in respect of 1,047 ordinary shares, 
with a fair market value as at grant of $47.715 per share and the 
second on 3 February 2009 in respect of 3,450 ordinary shares  
with a fair market value on grant of $33.33 per share.  

The Remuneration Committee and its role 
Andrew Dougal, William Korb, and Paul Withers served on the 
Remuneration Committee throughout the year. Cary Nolan and 
John Roques were members of the Committee from the beginning 
of the year until they each retired at the Company’s Annual General 
Meeting on 17 June 2008, when Dennis Millard was appointed to 
the Committee.  

Andrew Dougal was Chairman of the Committee from February 
2008 until 20 January 2009 when Paul Withers took over the 
chairmanship of the Committee. All members of the Committee  
are independent Non-Executive Directors. The Committee met five 
times during the year covered by this report. The Chairman will 
continue to ensure the Company maintains contact, as necessary, 
with its principal shareholders about remuneration. 

The Committee determines the specific remuneration packages  
for Executive Directors and makes recommendations to the Board 
on, and monitors the level and structure of, remuneration of senior 
managers (being the first layer of management below Board level).  

The Company Chairman also attends all meetings of the 
Committee. During the year the Committee received advice from 
Harriet Green in respect of the remuneration arrangements for other 
senior executives and from the Group HR Director in respect of 
remuneration arrangements generally. No individual is present when 
his or her own position is discussed. Having been appointed by the 
Committee, Hewitt New Bridge Street (‘HNBS’) provide general 
remuneration advice to the Committee and to the Company.  
The Chairman and other members of the Committee have direct 
access to advice from HNBS and the Chairman is informed of all 
material advice HNBS provides to the Company. 

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are  
available on the Company’s website or on request from the 
Company Secretary. The terms of engagement between HNBS  
and the Remuneration Committee may be obtained from the 
Company Secretary.  

The current remuneration package 
The elements of remuneration for Executive Directors and senior 
executives for the year under review and the forthcoming financial 
year are set out below. In particular, for 2009/10 the Remuneration 
Committee has considered the structure of performance related  
pay under the short and long-term incentive schemes in the light  
of the current economic downturn and extreme market uncertainty, 
and has adapted the performance conditions to reflect these  
issues. Details of how the schemes will operate in 2009/10 are  
set out below.  

Salary and benefits 
The Committee reviews salaries in June each year, taking account 
of Group and personal performance and the salaries paid by 
companies of similar size and complexity. The Committee also  
takes account of the levels of pay awarded elsewhere in the Group. 
Changes to salaries take effect from 1 July in each year. 

Remuneration ReportR
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The current base salaries for Harriet Green, Mark Whiteling and 
Laurence Bain are £500,000, £327,000 and £327,000 respectively, 
having been increased by 16% in the case of Harriet and 9% for 
Mark and Laurence. These increases were made taking account  
of benchmarking data for other companies of similar size and 
complexity and of the fact that the Company also competes for 
senior personnel against larger US companies. Harriet’s increase 
also reflects the excellent contribution which she has made as Chief 
Executive since joining the Company and the criticality of retaining 
her as Chief Executive. The increases were made in line with the 
Company’s normal pay review dates for all employees and before 
the current economic downturn became apparent. 

In view of the economic situation and recognising that the  
Company must retain flexibility to reward promotions or increases in 
responsibility and be in a position to respond to market conditions 
particular to a region or country, the Company has determined that 
there will be no merit-based salary increases for Executive Directors 
or senior management during the financial year to January 2010. 

The value of benefits for Executive Directors is included in the table 
of remuneration on page 74. These benefits include a car allowance 
and life and health insurance for Harriet Green, Mark Whiteling and 
Laurence Bain. The value of each Executive Director’s benefits is 
assessable to income tax, but is not pensionable. 

Short-term incentives 
2008/09  
The Company operates an annual performance-related bonus 
scheme (the ‘Management Incentive Plan’ or ‘MIP’) for Executive 
Directors and senior executives. The maximum bonus potential 
under the MIP during the financial year to 1 February 2009 was 
120% of base salary for Harriet Green and 90% of base salary  
for Mark Whiteling and Laurence Bain. To achieve this maximum 
required attainment of a number of business specific and personal 
targets. For the year under review, the targets were as follows:  

• Achievement of specified levels of operating profit for the financial 
year to 1 February 2009. 66.6% of each Director’s bonus was 
determined by reference to this; 

• Achievement of budgeted cash flow targets; 

• Achievement of a gross margin target; 

• Other important and measurable business objectives relevant to 
the key elements of the Group’s strategy. 

As the specified level of operating profit was not achieved, the 
Remuneration Committee assessed performance against the other 
targets. The conclusion of this was that the bonuses should be  
10% of the available opportunity, reflecting good progress against 
the other targets, particularly those related to cash flow (where 
actual performance was considerably ahead of target). These  
bonus payments are shown in the table of Directors’ remuneration 
on page 74.  

2009/10 
For the forthcoming year, the Remuneration Committee has 
considered the structure of the bonus in view of the uncertainty in 
world markets and the limited visibility which the Group has of future 
activity levels, even in normal market conditions, and, following 
consultation with a number of shareholders, has made certain 
changes to the MIP for the year commencing 2 February 2009. 
These changes are designed to ensure that the MIP supports the 
Group’s corporate goals and to incentivise the Executive Directors 
and senior management to achieve them. As a result of these 
changes, the MIP will operate as follows in 2009/10: 

• the Plan comprises a combination of operating profit (carrying  
a 70% weighting) and strategic measures (30% weighting).  
The strategic measures and operating profit targets are 
considered to be commercially sensitive and not suitable for 
detailed disclosure but are set by reference to the individual 
Director’s role and the goals of the Group. The strategic 

measures include a target relating to employee engagement, 
retention and development and other measures such as cash 
flow management;  

• the operating profit measure has been set as two six monthly 
targets, both with equal weighting, with the first set against 
budgeted performance in the period to 31 July 2009 and the 
second determined independently, by reference to performance 
between 1 August and 31 January 2010. The budget and 
second half target will be reviewed and, if necessary, adjusted 
(upwards or downwards) in June 2009 based on knowledge  
of market conditions at that time. This approach is deemed 
necessary for 2009/10 given the lack of predictability over second 
half earnings at the time the budget was set; 

• the operating profit will be calculated on a foreign currency neutral 
basis so that Directors will not benefit from or be penalised for 
swings in exchange rates;  

• the strategic objectives will be assessed over the full year; 

• any payment due will be made at the end of the financial year; 

• the maximum percentage of the bonus payable for achieving  
‘on-target’ performance has been reduced to 40%; 

• at the year end, the Committee will review the full year bonus 
outturn and, if it feels that it is sufficiently unrelated to the 
performance of the Group for the year as a whole to represent  
a “reward for failure”, it has retained the discretion to adjust the 
payment to an appropriate level.  

It is the current intention of the Company that in future years the  
MIP will revert to being assessed against twelve month targets but, 
should the outlook remain uncertain towards the end of this financial 
year, it may consider retaining the above arrangements. If it does so, 
this will be disclosed in the Company’s Remuneration Report.  

The following additional changes have been made to the MIP for 
2009/10, with the view that these will apply for both 2009/10  
and beyond: 

• the maximum bonus potential for Mark Whiteling and Laurence 
Bain has been increased to 100% of base salary to align their 
remuneration more closely to market rates. However, as stated 
above, the bonus on achieving ‘on target’ performance has been 
reduced, meaning that the amount payable if this target is met is 
lower than it was in 2008/09;  

• to reflect best practice, the Remuneration Committee has been 
given discretion to claim repayment of bonus paid in respect of 
years from 2009 onwards, if it emerges that those bonuses were 
paid in reliance on results which turn out to have been inaccurate. 

None of the bonuses referred to above is pensionable. 

Long-term incentive arrangements 
The Company’s policy is that, generally, awards of long-term 
incentives to Executive Directors and other senior managers will be 
made under its Performance Share Plan (or ‘PSP’), the key features 
of which are summarised below. The Company’s intention is that it 
will no longer make general grants of options under the Company’s 
Executive Share Option Scheme (ESOS) to individuals receiving 
awards under the PSP, although the Committee has reserved  
the power to make future grants under the ESOS in exceptional 
circumstances or to be competitive in local employment markets  
(for example, in the USA). 

Performance share plan 
Under the PSP, Executive Directors and senior executives are 
awarded rights to acquire ordinary shares. Each award made under 
the plan is subject to performance conditions which will determine 
how many (if any) of the shares under the award the participant  
is entitled to acquire after a three-year performance period.  
The maximum award which can be made to a participant in any 
year is equal to 150 percent of base salary. It is the Company’s 
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current policy to grant annual awards of 150% of salary to  
Harriet Green, and 130% to Mark Whiteling and Laurence Bain.  
The Remuneration Committee considered whether it would be 
appropriate to reduce the level of awards to be granted in 2009/10 
but determined that it would not, given the Company’s strong 
performance compared with its peer group, as described below. 

PSP awards in financial years 2007/08 and 2008/09 
For the awards made in June 2007 and April 2008, two 
performance conditions applied to awards made to Executive 
Directors. Half of each award is subject to a relative total shareholder 
return (or TSR) performance condition measured over a three-year 
period. The growth in the Company’s TSR over this period is 
compared to that of the companies in the comparator group and 
the Company’s ranking among the comparator group determines 
the percentage of the relevant half of the award that will vest and 
become exercisable. 

The comparator group consists of the FTSE 250 Index excluding 
banks, speciality and general financial, life insurance, investment 
trusts, mining, non-life insurance, oil and gas producers and real 
estate sector companies. 

The other half of the awards made to Executive Directors are subject 
to a performance condition requiring growth in the Company’s 
earnings per share (or EPS) over the three-year performance period 
to exceed the annual compound growth rate of the UK Retail Prices 
Index (RPI) over the same period by at least 4 percent (at which 
point 20% of awards vest). Full vesting will require compound  
annual growth of 12% per annum in excess of RPI. 

The performance of the Company’s TSR in the period to  
1 February 2009 has been monitored in order to determine whether, 
if performance were to be measured at that time, the performance 
condition relevant to the awards granted in calendar years 2007  
and 2008 and those granted in calendar year 2006 (for which 
performance in respect of 100% of the award is tested by reference 
to the Company’s TSR, as described above) would have been met. 
This exercise shows that, if 1 February 2009 were to be the final 
date of the test period for each of these awards, the Company’s 
TSR would rank as follows as compared with the members of the 
relevant comparator group listed as at that date, and that the 
following percentages of each award would vest: 

Award date 
(calendar year) 

Ranking of TSR among comparator  
group listed as at 1 February 2009 

Percentage 
vesting 

2006 62 out of 179 members 70.1% 
2007 41 out of 143 members 89.4% 
2008 18 out of 153 members 100% 

The information above illustrates the Company’s strong 
performance against its peer group, particularly during calendar  
year 2008.  

The graph below shows the performance, up to 1 February 2009, 
under the April 2006 award, compared to the median and upper 
quartile of the comparator group. The points plotted represent the 
three month average TSR over the performance period for both the 
Company and the median and upper quartile of the comparator 
group (in line with the Plan Rules). This demonstrates that, as at the 
end of the financial year, the Company's TSR ranked it between  
the median and upper quartile of the comparator group under the 
2006 award. 
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PSP awards in financial year 2009/10 
The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the targets to be 
applied for the forthcoming grants under the PSP. For the 
avoidance of doubt, no changes are being considered to past 
awards under the PSP.  

The outcome of this review was that, while the TSR condition is 
considered to remain an appropriate and robust measure of 
performance in respect of one half of an award, EPS should be 
replaced with a return on sales (or ‘ROS’) target in respect of  
the other half. This change formed part of the consultation with 
shareholders referred to above. ROS is calculated by dividing the 
operating profit (or adjusted operating profit if this is reported in the 
Annual Report and Accounts) by sales. The half of the award which 
is subject to an ROS target will not vest unless ROS is 12% or 
higher in the final year of the three year performance period, with  
full vesting requiring an ROS of 13% or higher. Between these 
points, the relevant half of the award vests on a straight line basis. 
For grants made in 2009, the ROS for the financial year ending in 
2012 will determine the level of vesting.  

ROS is currently one of the key strategic and financial targets for the 
Company and it is its published target to achieve a 12% ROS over 
the next three years, compared to a current ROS of around 10.6%. 
As ROS represents the gross margin from sales, less the marginal 
operating costs of the business, it can be influenced by ensuring 
that gross margins are effectively managed and by careful control  
of operating costs.  

The Committee believes that an ROS target encourages the delivery 
of substantial shareholder value through increased profitability, and 
that the targets are aligned with the Company’s strategic objectives.  

By way of example only, if the Group’s sales are £800 million and 
ROS is 10%, the pre-tax profit would be £80 million. If sales were to 
remain at £800 million, but ROS improved to 12%, the pre-tax profit 
would increase to £96 million, so each 1% improvement in ROS 
would create an extra £8 million of pre-tax profits. For the stretch 
ROS target of 13% to be met, the operating profit would need  
to be £104 million (again, assuming sales of £800 million) or an 
improvement of 30% over the current level.  

The vesting schedules for the TSR and ROS performance targets 
will be as follows: 

Rank of the Company’s TSR against  
the TSR of the members of the 
comparator group 

Percentage of one-half of an award that 
vests and becomes exercisable 

Upper quartile or above 100% 

Between upper quartile  
and median 

On a straight line basis between 
20% and 100% 

Median  20% 

Below median 0% 

Return on Sales performance in 2012 Percentage of one-half of an award that 
vests and becomes exercisable 

13% or more 100% 

Between 12% and 13% On a straight line basis between 
20% and 100% 

12%  20% 

Less than 12% 0% 

 

In addition, awards to which the TSR performance measure applies 
will continue only to vest if the Committee is satisfied that the 
underlying performance of the Company during the performance 
period justifies the exercise of an award. In the case of the ROS 
element, the Committee must be satisfied that the improvement in 
ROS has not been achieved at the expense of the Group’s market 
share in its electronics distribution sector. In assessing performance 
in respect of market share, the Remuneration Committee will take 
into account relevant industry statistics and competitor 
performance.  

For all awards made under the PSP, performance is measured  
over a three-year period and there is no re-testing of the 
performance condition. 

For 2009/10, the use of a split of TSR and ROS has been  
chosen as it is felt to provide an appropriate balance between 
relative financial returns to shareholders and the internal financial 
performance of the Company. More specifically, the TSR 
performance condition was chosen as the Committee believes  
that TSR is an appropriate method of ensuring that the rewards  
to Executive Directors are aligned with those of shareholders by 
comparing the performance of the Company to that of the index of 
which it is a member (while excluding those sectors which are felt  
to be too far removed from the Company’s operations).  

The decision to replace EPS with ROS for 2009/10 was made as 
ROS is considered to be the measure most consistent with the 
Company’s strategic goals and a robust gauge of the successful 
execution of the Group’s strategy. The range of ROS targets were 
selected on the basis that they would represent a strong level of 
performance if achieved and are felt to be no less stretching than 
the previous EPS conditions in the current market conditions.  

In line with the change from using EPS for Executive Directors,  
PSP participants below the Board will be assessed wholly on  
ROS for forthcoming awards.  

In assessing whether the TSR performance condition has been 
met, the Committee will rely on calculations of the Company’s  
TSR and that of the comparator group carried out on its behalf  
by HNBS. The Company’s EPS performance is reported quarterly 
in the Company’s results announcements. ROS is determined  
from and will be reported in the Company’s audited accounts as 
described above. In the event that the ROS figure to be used for 
determining performance under the PSP differs from the published 
headline figure, this will be disclosed and explained in the 
Remuneration Report.  

Benefits under the PSP are not pensionable. 

The PSP is due to expire in 2010, and the Committee will, therefore, 
carry out a review of the structure of the Company’s long-term 
incentives during this year before making any decision as to the 
most appropriate replacement arrangements.  

Option schemes 
The Company has an executive share option scheme, under which 
both Inland Revenue approved and unapproved options may be 
granted, and an SAYE option scheme. Benefits under these plans 
are not pensionable. As mentioned above, it is intended that, 
generally, the Company will no longer grant executive share options 
to individuals receiving awards under the PSP. 

In common with all eligible employees of the Group, Executive 
Directors are entitled to participate in the Company’s SAYE option 
scheme. These options are not subject to the satisfaction of a 
performance condition as this scheme is not restricted to Executive 
Directors and senior executives. 
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Share ownership guideline 
The Company’s executive shareholding policy requires Executive 
Directors and other senior executives to retain a number of the 
shares acquired as a result of the exercise of executive share 
options or awards under the PSP until a shareholding with a value 
equal to the executive’s annual base salary is reached. This level  
of shareholding is then to be maintained. Currently no Executive 
Director has acquired any shares in the Company from the exercise 
of executive share options or awards under the PSP and their 
holdings as disclosed below result from market purchases and, in 
the case of Harriet Green, from the vesting of awards made under 
the restricted share plan detailed below. 

Share usage under share-based incentive schemes 
Based on the number of options outstanding as at 1 February 
2009: 

• The number of new shares issued under all share option plans 
over the last ten years, together with the number potentially to be 
issued under all plans, totalled an amount equal to 3.24% of the 
Company’s issued ordinary capital; and 

• The number of new shares issued under all executive share 
option plans over the last ten years, together with the number 
potentially to be issued under all executive plans, totalled an 
amount equal to 2.87% of the Company’s issued ordinary  
share capital. 

These totals are well within the dilution limits of 10% and 5% 
respectively set by the ABI and reflected in the rules of the 
Company’s share plans. 

It is intended that awards under the PSP will be satisfied by shares 
purchased in the market by the Company’s Employee Share 
Ownership Trust. 

Relative importance of remuneration elements 
The Committee’s view is that the performance related elements  
of the remuneration package for Executive Directors should be a 
significant element of the total. This serves to align the interests of 
such Directors with shareholders. 

The charts below illustrate the mix between the salary and incentive 
pay of the Executive Directors for 2009/10 in both a ‘target’ and  
a ‘stretch’ performance scenario. These show that, if all the 
performance related elements were to pay out in full, more than  
two thirds of the Executive Directors’ total remuneration (before 
pensions) would be performance linked.  

Stretch performance
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Pension arrangements 
The final salary section of the Premier Farnell UK Pension Scheme 
(the UK Scheme) was closed to new entrants during 1998. 
Employees joining the UK Scheme since 1 January 1999 are 
entitled to money purchase benefits only and the UK Scheme is  
no longer contracted out. 

As a result of changes to pensions legislation which came into effect 
in April 2006, the Company offers employees who are over or close 
to reaching the lifetime allowance beyond which pension savings  
do not receive favourable tax treatment a cash supplement as  
an alternative to pension accrual beyond the lifetime allowance.  
Any such cash supplement is paid net of income tax and National 
Insurance Contributions and is an amount no greater than the 
amount that the Company’s pension contributions would have 
been for that individual. 

Harriet Green and Mark Whiteling are entitled to elect to receive 
either money purchase benefits from the UK Scheme or to have 
contributions made to a registered personal pension scheme.  
In each case, the Company’s contributions are equal to 25%  
of basic salary. Both Harriet and Mark have elected to have all 
contributions made to a personal pension scheme. The total cost  
to the Company of these contributions during the financial year to 
February 2009 was £117,709 (2008:£104,355) in respect of Harriet 
Green and £78,937 (2008:£73,437) in respect of Mark Whiteling. 

Throughout the year under review, Laurence Bain elected to receive 
a cash supplement in place of the contributions which would 
otherwise have been made by the Company to the UK scheme and 
the funded unapproved scheme on his behalf. This supplement is 
paid at the same rate as the Company’s previous contributions to 
the UK Scheme and the funded unapproved scheme and, taking 
into account the National Insurance contributions payable by the 
Company, equates to 27% of Laurence’s basic salary, which is in 
line with practice in previous years. The total cost to the Company 
of contributions made by the Company in respect of Laurence Bain 
for the year under review was £82,897 (2008: £79,380). 

No Executive Directors receive any final salary pension benefits. 

Service contracts 
In accordance with the Company’s policy, Harriet Green, Mark 
Whiteling and Laurence Bain have service agreements terminable 
by the Company on twelve months’ notice. Laurence Bain’s service 
agreement dated 23 April 2004 allows the Company to make a 
payment of salary and benefits in lieu of the whole or part of his 
notice period.  
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The service agreements for Harriet Green and Mark Whiteling, 
dated 7 February 2006 and 28 June 2006 respectively, entitle the 
Company to pay salary and benefits in lieu of the whole or part  
of the notice period in a single payment or by way of monthly 
instalments. Where payments are made monthly, the Director is 
under an obligation to mitigate his or her loss and, in so far as 
monthly payments relate to salary, they will reduce or cease 
altogether on his or her accepting alternative employment.  
The contractual discretion to pay monthly does not apply  
where termination results from a change of control. 

Aside from the lack of requirement to phase termination payments, 
in the event of a change of control of the Company, there are no 
special contractual provisions outside of the standard terms of the 
service contracts. The vesting of awards under the Company's 
share incentive plans is determined by the Rules of the relevant 
Plans and was approved by shareholders on adoption.  

Non-Executive Directors 
The fees for the Non-Executive Directors are approved by the 
Board following a review carried out by the Chairman and 
discussed with the Executive Directors. Fees for the Chairman are 
determined by the Remuneration Committee. All reviews are carried 
out annually in January. Business expenses are also reimbursed.  
In addition to the base fee of £36,500, £6,000 per annum was  
paid to the Chairmen of the Audit and Remuneration Committees 
and £3,000 to the Senior Independent Director during the year 
under review. The Chairman’s fee during the year was £144,000.  

In the fee reviews in January 2009, the Committee and the Board 
determined not to make any increases to the above fees for the 
Chairman or the other Non-Executive Directors.  

The Non-Executive Directors do not have contracts of service, but 
are appointed by letters of appointment. Such appointments are 
initially for a three-year term. It is normal that the appointment is 
renewed for a second three-year period, after which the Company’s 
policy is for re-appointments to be on an annual basis. The expiry 
dates of all re-appointments coincide with the Company’s Annual 
General Meeting in the relevant year. Non-Executive Directors  
are not eligible to participate in any incentive plans, share options 
schemes or Company pension arrangements and are not entitled  
to any payment in compensation for any early termination of  
their appointment. 

The commencement dates for the current appointments of  
Non-Executive Directors are: 

A Dougal 1 September 2006 (three-year) 
Sir Peter Gershon 12 June 2007 (three-year) 
W Korb 13 June 2006 (three-year) 
D Millard 1 September 2007 (three-year) 
P Withers 1 September 2007 (three-year) 

Any Director appointed by the Board during the year holds office 
only until the next Annual General Meeting and must then stand for 
election to continue in office. Thereafter, each Director must retire 
from office at every third Annual General Meeting since he or she 
last retired, at which meeting he or she will be eligible for re-election. 

 

Directors’ remuneration (audited) 
Salary or 

fees
Annual 
bonus

Benefits    
in kind   

Total 
emoluments Pension contributions 

£000 £000 £000 *1
2009
£000

2008
£000

2009 
£000 

2008 
£000 

Executive   
H Green 470 60 25   555 938 118 104 
M Whiteling 316 29 16   361 536 79 73 
L Bain 316 29 23   368 550 83 79 
Non-Executive   
Sir Peter Gershon (Chairman)  144 – –   144 130 – – 
A J H Dougal 42 – –   42 40 – – 
W B Korb 37 – –   37 34 – – 
D H Millard *3 42 – –   42 14 – – 
C J Nolan *2 14 – –   14 34 – – 
D J S Roques *2 17 – –   17 43 – – 
P N Withers *3 37 – –   37 14 – – 

 1,435 118 64   1,617 2,333 280 256 

*1 The figures for benefits in kind paid to Harriet Green, Mark Whiteling and Laurence Bain include, for each of them, a cash allowance in place of a Company car. No expense 
allowances chargeable to UK income tax were paid. Harriet Green, Mark Whiteling and Laurence Bain are all provided with life and health insurance and Harriet Green’s 
benefits in kind in 2009 include certain costs arising from the settlement of Harriet’s terms of employment. The cost of these benefits is included in the figure for benefits. 

*2 Cary Nolan and John Roques retired from the Board on 17 June 2008. 

*3 Dennis Millard and Paul Withers joined the Board on 1 September 2007. 
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Directors’ interests (audited) 
The beneficial interests of the Directors in the ordinary share capital of the Company at the beginning and end of the financial year are set  
out below, together with a note of those interests as at 15 April 2009, being within one month of the date of the Company’s Notice of 
Annual General Meeting. 

 1 February 
2009 

3 February 
2008 

15 April  
2009 

Sir Peter Gershon  120,000 120,000 120,000 
H Green  205,909 175,591 240,095 
M Whiteling   55,000 55,000 55,000 
L Bain  61,625 55,000 61,625 
A H Dougal   10,000 10,000 10,000 
W B Korb  15,000 15,000 15,000 
D H Millard  10,000 10,000 10,000 
C J Nolan  – 7,000  7,000* 
D J S Roques  – 30,000  30,000* 
P N Withers  40,000 40,000 40,000 

* As at the date of retirement for Cary Nolan and John Roques. 

In addition to the above beneficial interests in the Company’s ordinary shares, the Executive Directors are regarded for Companies Act 
purposes as being interested in 2,886,004 ordinary shares held by the Premier Farnell Executive Trust. All employees (including Executive 
Directors) are potential beneficiaries of the trust. It is not anticipated that any employee or Executive Director will be entitled to receive from 
the trust a greater number of shares than that to which they are entitled on exercise of awards made to them under the PSP. 

Share options (audited) 
At    

3 February    
2008    Granted   Exercised Lapsed

At 
1 February 

2009 

Exercise 
Price 

(pence) Exercise Period 

H Green 189,125   –   – – 189,125 211.5 April 2009 to October 2016 
 212,770   –   – – 212,770 188.0 October 2009 to October 2016 

L Bain 75,000   –   – – 75,000 153.0 October 2005 to October 2012 
 125,000   –   – – 125,000 208.0 September 2007 to September 2014 
 6,625*1 –    6,625*2 – – 143.0 June 2008 to December 2008 
 188,679   –   – – 188,679 145.8 October 2008 to October 2015 
 151,595   –   – – 151,595 188.0 October 2009 to October 2016 

M Whiteling 151,595   –   – – 151,595 188.0 October 2009 to October 2016 
 10,773*1 –   – 10,773 – 152.0 June 2012 to December 2012 
 – 12,262*1 – – 12,262 137.0 June 2013 to December 2013 

*1 SAYE share options which are not subject to any performance conditions. The other options listed above are executive options which are subject to the performance 
conditions described below. 

*2 The market price of the shares as at the date of exercise on 2 June 2008 was 165p resulting in a gain of £1,458. 

The rules of the ESOS allow annual awards to be made, with a maximum grant equal to 100 per cent of the individual’s annual salary. 
Exercise of options granted under the scheme is subject to a performance condition. This condition is that the growth in the Company’s 
adjusted EPS over the three consecutive financial years starting with the year of grant exceeds the growth in RPI over the same period by  
at least 9 per cent. At this level of performance half of the options granted are exercisable. Exercise of all options granted requires that the 
Company’s EPS growth exceeds RPI over the period by at least 15 per cent, with a sliding scale for performance between 9 per cent and 
15 per cent. The rules of the scheme approved by shareholders in 2003 provided that, if the performance condition was not met over this 
three-year period, options could also be exercised if the Company’s EPS growth exceeded RPI by a minimum of 12 per cent over the four 
financial years starting with the year of grant. The Committee decided to remove this re-testing provision with effect from 13 March 2006 
and it does not apply to any options granted after that date. 

Options granted under earlier schemes operated by the Company remain outstanding. Executive options granted under such schemes 
after 13 March 2001 may not be exercised unless the growth in the Company’s EPS over a period of three consecutive financial years 
exceeds the growth in RPI over the same period by at least nine per cent.  

The Company has met the performance condition for options awarded up to and during January 2003 and for options awarded from 
March 2004 up to and during October 2006. With the exception of the options granted in 2006 (which do not become exercisable until 
October 2009) these options are now exercisable.  

No price was paid for any option. There were no variations to the terms and conditions of any Director’s options during the year. 

The market price of the Company’s shares at 1 February 2009 was 135.5p (3 February 2008: 150.5p) and the range during the year  
was 118p – 203.5p. 
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Performance share plan (audited) 
Interests of Directors in the plan are: 

 At 
3 February 

2008 Awarded

Market price 
at date of 

award 
(pence) Vested Lapsed

At  
1 February 

2009  

End of 
performance 

period 

H Green  195,599 – 204.5 – – 195,599 April 2009 
 284,360 – 211.0 – – 284,360 June 2010 
 413,946 155.82 – – 413,946 April 2011 
L Bain 134,474 – 204.5 – – 134,474 April 2009 
 175,594 – 211.0 – – 175,594 June 2010 
 – 250,288 155.82 – – 250,288 April 2011 
M Whiteling 175,592 – 211.0 – – 175,592 June 2010 
 – 250,288 155.82 – – 250,288 April 2011 

The conditions for the vesting of an award made under the plan since the Company’s AGM in June 2007 are described under the heading 
Performance Share Plan on page 70. 

For awards made prior to June 2007, the main performance condition compares the growth of the Company’s TSR (share price growth 
and reinvested dividends) over a three-year period to that of the companies in the FTSE mid-250 Index (excluding investment trusts).  
The Company’s ranking among the comparator companies determines the percentage of shares which a participant can acquire.  
No shares may be acquired where the Company’s ranking is below median and, to acquire the full number of shares awarded, the 
Company must rank in the top quartile of the comparator group. Between these two points, vesting is on a straight-line basis, with  
20 per cent of any award vesting where the Company’s performance is at the median. 

There were no variations made to the terms and conditions of any award during the year. 

Restricted share plan (audited)  
As part of the remuneration package offered by the Company to secure Harriet Green’s services, the Company established a restricted 
share plan, of which Harriet is the sole participant. Two conditional awards of shares were made under the plan, one of which was exercised 
in March 2007 and the other being detailed below. This second tranche vested on 27 March 2008 and the shares were transferred to 
Harriet. Benefits under the restricted share plan are not pensionable. 

 At 
3 February 

2008 Awarded

Market price 
at date of 

award 
(pence) Vested Lapsed

At  
1 February 

2009 Date of vesting  

H Green 51,461 – 211.5 51,461 – – 27 March 2008 

No performance condition attached to this award.  
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Performance graph 
The graph below shows the total shareholder return for a holding of the Company’s ordinary shares for the five financial years of the 
Company of which the year to 1 February 2009 is the last. This is compared to the total shareholder return for a hypothetical holding  
in the FTSE mid-250 Index (excluding investment trusts). This was chosen as it is the index of which the Company is a constituent.  
Total shareholder return is the growth in value of a share plus the value of dividends paid, assuming that the dividends are reinvested  
in the Company’s shares on the day on which they are paid. 

Total shareholder return
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This graph shows the value, by 1 February 2009, of £100 invested in Premier Farnell over the last five financial years compared
with £100 invested in the FTSE 250 Index (excluding Investment Trusts). The other points plotted are the values at intervening
financial year-ends.
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The Company’s TSR performance for the financial year to 1 February 2009 ranks it 35th among the 250 companies making up the  
FTSE 250 as at 1 February 2009, graded by reference to the relative performance of each such company’s TSR over the same period.  
This ranking is calculated by allocating to each such company a notional score of 100 per cent at the beginning of the year and by 
measuring the percentage increase or decrease in performance of the TSR of each such company over the one year period.  

Elements of report subject to audit 
The information above under the headings Directors’ remuneration, Directors’ interests, Share options, Performance share plan and 
Restricted share plan is auditable. All other information provided in the Remuneration Report is not subject to audit. 

Approved by the Board on 17 April 2009 

Signed on behalf of the Board by 

 

Paul Withers  
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 
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Note

2009  
(52 weeks) 

£m 

2008 
(53 weeks) 

£m   

Continuing operations    
Revenue  1 804.4 744.7  
Cost of sales (485.6) (449.2)

Gross profit  318.8 295.5  
Net operating expenses 
– before restructuring costs (230.0) (207.5)  
– restructuring costs 2 (3.4) –  
Total net operating expenses 2 (233.4) (207.5)
Operating profit    
– before restructuring costs 88.8 88.0  
– restructuring costs 2 (3.4) –  
Total operating profit 1 85.4 88.0  
Finance income (interest receivable)  3 0.7 0.9  
Finance costs    
– interest payable  (12.6) (11.7)  
– preference dividends  (3.5) (5.6)  
– premium on redemption of preference shares  15 (0.9) (1.3)  
– gain on purchase of preference shares  15 3.7 0.9  
Total finance costs  3 (13.3) (17.7)

Profit before taxation  4 72.8 71.2  
Taxation  5 (21.1) (21.4)

Profit after taxation from continuing operations  51.7 49.8  
Loss after taxation from discontinued operations  23 – (13.5)  

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders  21 51.7 36.3  

Earnings per share (pence) 6    
Basic  14.3p 10.0p  
Diluted  14.2p 9.9p  
    
Earnings per share from continuing operations (pence) 6    
Basic  14.3p 13.7p  
Diluted  14.2p 13.6p  
    
Ordinary dividends  7    
Interim – proposed  4.2p 4.0p  
Final – proposed  5.2p 5.2p  
Paid  9.4p 9.0p  
Impact on shareholders’ funds (£m)  34.0 32.7  

Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense 
Financial year ended 1 February 2009 

Note

2009 
(52 weeks)  

£m 

2008 
(53 weeks) 

£m  

Profit after taxation  51.7 36.3 
   
Net exchange adjustments net of tax credit of £12.5 million (2008: tax credit of £1.4 million)  21 11.6 6.6 
Actuarial losses on pensions and other post-retirement obligations  21/27 (85.1) (1.8)
Deferred tax credit on actuarial losses on pensions and other post-retirement obligations  21 31.3 0.8 

Net (losses)/gains not recognised in the income statement  (42.2) 5.6 

Total recognised income for the financial year attributable to ordinary shareholders  9.5 41.9 

The accounting policies and notes on pages 81 to 115 are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Income Statement
Financial year ended February 2009
R
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Note 
2009  

£m 
2008  

£m  

Assets    
Non-current assets    
Goodwill  8 32.5 31.1 
Other intangible assets  9 25.0 20.1 
Property, plant and equipment  10 58.1 55.2 
Retirement benefit assets  27 – 53.4 
Deferred tax assets  17 5.0 0.2 

Total non-current assets   120.6 160.0 

Current assets    
Inventories  11 194.3 154.5 
Trade and other receivables  12 128.8 121.2 
Cash and cash equivalents  13 39.6 37.6 

Total current assets   362.7 313.3 

Liabilities    
Current liabilities    
Financial liabilities  14 (5.1) (3.0)
Trade and other payables  16 (94.5) (84.3)
Current tax payable   (17.4) (22.2)

Total current liabilities   (117.0) (109.5)

Net current assets   245.7 203.8 

Non-current liabilities    
Financial liabilities  14 (330.4) (288.7)
Retirement and other post-employment benefits  27 (35.3) (22.0)
Deferred tax liabilities  17 (6.2) (33.0)

Total non-current liabilities   (371.9) (343.7)

Net (liabilities)/assets  (5.6) 20.1 

Equity    
Ordinary shares  19 18.3 18.2 
Equity element of preference shares  15 10.4 15.2 
Share premium  21 23.8 23.0 
Capital redemption reserve  21 4.4 2.6 
Hedging reserve  21 (3.7) (2.9)
Cumulative translation reserve  21 15.3 3.7 
Retained earnings  21 (74.1) (39.7)

Shareholders’ (deficit)/funds 21 (5.6) 20.1 

The Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 78 to 115 were approved by the Board of Directors on 17 April 2009 and were signed  
on its behalf by:  

 

Mark Whiteling  
Director  

The accounting policies and notes on pages 81 to 115 are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

Consolidated Balance Sheet
At February 2009
R
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Note

2009 
(52 weeks)  

£m  

2008 
(53 weeks)  

£m  

Cash flows from operating activities   
Cash generated from operations  24 102.3 96.6 
Interest received  0.7 0.9 
Interest paid  (12.4) (11.8)
Dividends paid on preference shares  (3.5) (5.6)
Taxation paid  (21.9) (23.1)

Net cash generated from operating activities  65.2 57.0 

Cash flows from investing activities   
Acquisition of business  22 (1.1) (0.6)
Proceeds from disposal of business  23 0.7 24.4 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  24 3.3 1.9 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (7.0) (7.1)
Purchase of intangible assets (computer software)  (9.1) (10.4)

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities  (13.2) 8.2 

Cash flows from financing activities   
Issue of ordinary shares  19 0.9 1.4 
Purchase of ordinary shares 19 (2.9) (2.5)
Purchase of preference shares  15 (23.6) (17.7)
New bank loans  29.5 32.1 
Repayment of bank loans  (22.8) (29.3)
Dividends paid to ordinary shareholders  7 (34.0) (32.7)

Net cash used in financing activities  (52.9) (48.7)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts  (0.9) 16.5 
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at beginning of year  37.6 21.3 
Exchange gains/(losses) 2.3 (0.2)

Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at end of year  13 39.0 37.6 

The accounting policies and notes on pages 81 to 115 are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
Financial year ended 1 February 2009
R
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Premier Farnell plc (the “Company”) is a company incorporated and 
domiciled in the UK and is listed on the London Stock Exchange. 
The address of the Company’s registered office is Farnell House, 
Forge Lane, Leeds, LS12 2NE, England. The Company’s registered 
number is 876412.  

These Consolidated Financial Statements have been approved by 
the Board of Directors on 17 April 2009.  

Basis of preparation  
These Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared  
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) and International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee (IFRIC) interpretations endorsed by the European Union 
(EU) and with those parts of the Companies Act 1985 applicable  
to companies reporting under IFRSs. These Consolidated  
Financial Statements have been prepared under the historical  
cost convention with the exception of derivative financial 
instruments, post-retirement benefits and share-based payments 
which are recognised at fair value. A summary of the more  
important Group accounting policies adopted in the preparation  
of the Consolidated Financial Statements is set out below.  
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years 
presented, unless otherwise stated.  

(a) Amendments to published standards and interpretations 
effective for the year ended 1 February 2009  
– IFRIC 14, ‘IAS 19 – The limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum 

funding requirements and their interaction’. This interpretation 
does not have any impact on the Group’s financial statements.  

– IFRIC 11, ‘IFRS 2 – Group and treasury share transactions’.  
This interpretation does not have any impact on the Group’s 
financial statements. 

(b) Standards, amendments and interpretations effective  
for the year ended 1 February 2009 but not relevant  
The following standards, amendments and interpretations to 
published standards are mandatory for accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2008 but have no material  
impact on the Group:  

– IFRIC 12, ‘Service concession arrangements’; and  

– IFRIC 13, ‘Customer loyalty programmes’. 

(c) Standards and interpretations to existing standards that 
are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by  
the Group  
The following standards and interpretations to existing standards 
have been published that are mandatory for the Group’s accounting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 or later periods but 
which the Group has not early adopted. 

– IFRS 8, ‘Operating segments’ requires a ‘management 
approach’, under which segment information is presented  
on the same basis as that used for internal reporting purposes. 
IFRS 8 will be adopted from 2 February 2009 and will only have 
an impact on the Group’s segmental disclosure. 

– IAS 1 (revised), ‘Presentation of financial statements’ (effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009). The revised 
standard will prohibit the presentation of items of income and 
expenses (that is, ‘non-owner changes in equity’) in the statement 

of changes in equity, requiring ‘non-owner changes in equity’  
to be presented separately from owner changes in equity.  
The Group will apply IAS 1 (revised) from 2 February 2009  
which will only have a presentation impact. 

– IFRS 2 (amendment), ‘Share-based payment’ deals with vesting 
conditions and cancellations. The Group will apply IFRS 2 
(amendment) from 2 February 2009. It is not expected to  
have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

– IFRS 1 (amendment), ‘First time adoption of IFRS’, and IAS 27, 
‘Consolidated and separate financial statements’.  

– IFRS 3 (revised), ‘Business combinations’. The revised standard 
continues to apply the acquisition method to business 
combinations, with some significant changes. The Group will 
apply IFRS 3 (revised) prospectively to all business combinations 
from 1 February 2010, subject to endorsement by the EU. 

– IAS 36 (amendment), ‘Impairment of assets’. The Group will 
apply the IAS 36 (amendment) and provide the required 
disclosure where applicable for impairment tests from 2 February 
2009, subject to endorsement by the EU. 

– IAS 19 (amendment), ‘Employee benefits’. The amendment is 
part of the IASB’s annual improvements project published in  
May 2008. The Group will apply the IAS 19 (amendment) from  
2 February 2009. 

– IAS 38 (amendment), ‘Intangible assets’. The Group will apply this 
standard from 2 February 2009, subject to its endorsement by 
the EU, but it will not have a significant impact on the Group’s 
financial results. 

– IAS 39 (amendment), ‘Financial instruments: Recognition and 
measurement’. The amendment is part of the IASB’s annual 
improvements project published in May 2008. The Group will 
apply the IAS 39 (amendment) from 2 February 2009. It is not 
expected to have an impact on the Group’s income statement. 

– There are a number of minor amendments to IFRS 7, ‘Financial 
instruments: Disclosures’, IAS 8, ‘Accounting policies, changes  
in accounting estimates and errors’, IAS 10, ‘Events after the 
reporting period’, IAS 18, ‘Revenue’, and IAS 34, ‘Interim  
financial reporting’, which are part of the IASB’s annual 
improvements project published in May 2008 (not addressed 
above). These amendments, subject to endorsement by the EU, 
are unlikely to have an impact on the Group’s financial statements 
and have, therefore, not been analysed in detail. 

– IFRIC 16, ‘Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation’. 
IFRIC 16 clarifies the accounting treatment in respect of net 
investment hedging. The Group will apply IFRIC 16 from 2 
February 2009. It is not expected to have a material impact on 
the Group’s financial statements. 

The Directors anticipate that the adoption of the above Standards 
and Interpretations in paragraph (c) on the effective date will not 
have a significant impact on the Group’s financial results. 

(d) Interpretations to existing standards that are not yet 
effective and not relevant for the Group’s operations  
The following interpretations to existing standards have been 
published that are mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2009 or later periods but are not 
relevant for the Group’s operations:  

Accounting Policies
(Consolidated Financial Statements)
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– IAS 23 (Amendment), ‘Borrowing costs’. 

– IAS 32 (amendment), ‘Financial Instruments: Presentation’,  
and IAS 1 (amendment), ‘Presentation of financial  
statements’ – ‘Puttable financial instruments and obligations 
arising on liquidation’. 

– IAS 27 (revised), ‘Consolidated and separate financial 
statements’. 

– IFRS 5 (amendment), ‘Non-current assets held-for-sale and 
discontinued operations’, (and consequential amendment  
to IFRS 1, ‘First-time adoption’). 

– IAS 28 (amendment), ‘Investments in associates’ (and 
consequential amendments to IAS 32, ‘Financial Instruments: 
Presentation’, and IFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments: Disclosures’). 

– IAS 1 (amendment), ‘Presentation of financial statements’. 

– IAS 16 (amendment), ‘Property, plant and equipment’ (and 
consequential amendment to IAS 7, ‘Statement of cash flows’). 

– IAS 27 (amendment), ‘Consolidated and separate financial 
statements’. 

– IAS 28 (amendment), ‘Investments in associates’ (and 
consequential amendments to IAS 32, ‘Financial Instruments: 
Presentation’ and IFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments: Disclosures’). 

– IAS 29 (amendment), ‘Financial reporting in hyperinflationary 
economies’. 

– IAS 31 (amendment), ‘Interests in joint ventures’, (and 
consequential amendments to IAS 32 and IFRS 7). 

– IAS 40 (amendment), ‘Investment property’ (and consequential 
amendments to IAS 16). 

– IAS 41 (amendment), ‘Agriculture’.  

– IAS 20 (amendment), ‘Accounting for government grants and 
disclosure of government assistance’. 

– The minor amendments to IAS 20 ‘Accounting for government 
grants and disclosure of government assistance’, and IAS 29, 
‘Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies’, IAS 40, 
‘Investment property’, and IAS 41, ‘Agriculture’, which are part of 
the IASB’s annual improvements project published in May 2008. 

– IFRIC 15, ‘Agreements for construction of real estates’. 

– IFRIC 17, ‘Distributions of non-cash assets to owners’. 

– IFRIC 18, ‘Transfer of assets from customers’. 

The financial statements of the Company, which have been 
prepared in accordance with UK GAAP, are presented on  
pages 117 to 124.  

Key sources of estimation and uncertainty  
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of revenue and 
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ  
from these estimates. Information about such judgements and 
estimates is contained in the accounting policies and Notes to  
the Consolidated Financial Statements, and the key areas are 
summarised below:  

The key sources of estimation uncertainty that have the most 
significant effect on the carrying value of assets and liabilities are:  

– The estimation of the cost of pensions and other post retirement 
benefits (note 27);  

– The estimation of the net realisable value of inventory; and  

– The estimation of the recoverable amount of goodwill used when 
assessing goodwill for impairment (note 8).  

Basis of consolidation  
The Consolidated Financial Statements incorporate the results of the 
Company and each of its subsidiaries for the financial year ended  
1 February 2009, a 52 week period (financial year ended 3 February 
2008: 53 week period). Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the 
Group where control is deemed to exist when the Group has the 
power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating 
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The 
results of subsidiaries are included in the Consolidated Financial 
Statements from the date the control commences until the date  
that control ceases.  

Intra-group balances and transactions are eliminated on 
consolidation.  

Business combinations and goodwill  
All business acquisitions are accounted for by applying the  
purchase method.  

Goodwill arises where the fair value of the consideration paid 
exceeds the fair value attributed to the net assets acquired.  
Goodwill arising on acquisitions after 1 February 1998 and prior to  
2 February 2004, the transition date to IFRS, was capitalised and 
amortised over its estimated useful life. As a result of the transition  
to IFRS, such amortisation ceased on the transition date to IFRS. 
Goodwill arising on acquisitions made prior to 1 February 1998 was 
written off directly to reserves in the year of acquisition. Under IFRS 1 
and IFRS 3 such goodwill will remain eliminated against reserves 
and will not be written back to the income statement in the event  
of a disposal.  

Revenue recognition  
Revenue comprises the fair value for the sale of goods to outside 
customers, excluding value added and sales taxes, and is 
recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership 
have been transferred to a third party.  

Segment reporting  
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that  
is engaged in providing products (business segment), or in  
providing products within a particular economic environment 
(geographic segment), and where the risks and returns are  
different between components.  

Expense classification  
Cost of sales comprises the cost of goods delivered to customers 
including the cost of freight, packaging and inventory adjustments.  

Distribution costs represent all operating expenses including sales, 
marketing, product and purchasing, warehousing, information 
technology and electronic commerce.  

Administrative expenses comprise the cost of central head office 
and the Group Board.  

Non-recurring charges/credits that are considered to be sufficiently 
significant to have a material impact on the Group’s financial  
results are disclosed in the appropriate category on the face of  
the income statement.  
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Foreign currency translation  
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s 
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). 
The Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in pounds 
sterling, which is the Group’s presentation currency.  

Assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rates ruling  
at the end of the financial period. Exchange profits or losses on 
trading transactions are included in the Group income statement 
except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges  
or qualifying net investment hedges, which, along with other 
exchange differences arising from non-trading items are dealt  
with through reserves.  

The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have  
a functional currency different from the presentation currency are 
translated into the presentation currency as follows:  

– assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are 
translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;  

– income and expenses for each income statement are translated 
at the average exchange rate for the period; and  

– with effect from the transition date to IFRS all resulting exchange 
differences are recognised as a separate component of equity 
and included in the Group’s cumulative translation reserve.  

When a foreign entity is sold, such translation differences are 
recognised in the income statement as part of the gain or  
loss on sale.  

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of  
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign 
entity and translated at the closing rate.  

Financial instruments  
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its 
exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate risks arising from 
operational, financing and investment activities. In accordance with 
its treasury policy, the Group does not have or issue speculative 
derivative arrangements. All transactions in financial instruments  
are matched to an underlying business requirement.  

Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value.  
At period ends, the gain or loss on re-measurement to fair value  
is recognised in the income statement. However, where derivatives 
qualify for hedge accounting, recognition of any resulting gain  
or loss will depend upon the nature of the item being hedged  
(see accounting policy on hedging).  

Hedging  

Cash flow hedges  
Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of 
the variability in cash flows of a recognised asset or liability, or highly 
probable forecast transaction, the effective part of any gain or loss 
on the derivative financial instrument is recognised directly in equity. 
If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the 
recognition of a financial asset or liability, the associated gains  
or losses that were recognised directly in equity are reclassified  
into profit or loss in the same period(s) during which the interest 
income/expense is recognised. For other cash flow hedges, the 
associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from equity and 
recognised in the income statement in the same period(s) as which 
the hedged forecast transaction affects profit or loss. The gain or 
loss on any ineffective part of the hedge, or when the hedge no 
longer meets the hedging criteria, is immediately recognised in the 
income statement.  

Hedge of net investment in foreign operations  
The portion of the gain or loss on an instrument used to hedge a net 
investment in a foreign operation that is determined as an effective 
hedge is recognised directly in equity. The gain or loss on any 
ineffective portion of the hedge is recognised immediately in the 
income statement.  

Leases  
The costs of operating leases are charged to the income statement 
as they fall due.  

Dilapidation provisions  
The Group is required to perform dilapidation repairs on leased 
properties prior to the properties being vacated at the end of their 
lease term. Provision for such costs are made where a legal 
obligation is identified and the liability can be reasonably quantified.  

Property, plant and equipment  
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is 
calculated to write off the cost of the individual assets, less the 
estimated residual value, from the time it becomes operational  
by equal annual instalments over their estimated useful lives.  
Asset lives and residual values are reviewed annually.  

Depreciation rates are principally as follows:  

Freehold land  not depreciated 
Freehold buildings  50 years 
Plant and equipment  between 5 and 10 years 

Property, plant and equipment is reviewed for impairment when 
there are indications that the carrying value may not be recoverable.  

Interest is not capitalised.  

Intangible assets  
Computer software is capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred 
to acquire and bring to use the specific software and includes 
capitalised internal labour where appropriate. These costs are 
amortised on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives, 
between three and five years.  

Other intangible assets acquired through business combinations are 
recognised at fair value on acquisition and amortised on a straight 
line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:  

Contractually-based customer relationships 10 or 20 years 
Patents  18 years 



 

Accounting Policies (Consolidated Financial Statements) (continued) 
 

84 

Impairment  
The carrying amounts of the Group’s goodwill and indefinite  
lived intangible assets are reviewed annually, or when there  
are indications that the carrying value may not be recoverable,  
to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  
Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units for the purpose  
of impairment testing. If any such indication exists, the assets’ 
recoverable amount is estimated and if the carrying value exceeds 
the recoverable amount, a loss is recognised in the income 
statement. The recoverable amount is the greater of the assets’  
net selling price and value in use where value in use is based on  
the present value of the estimated future cashflows arising from  
the asset.  

A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and 
impairment losses are incurred if there is objective evidence  
of impairment as a result of a past event subsequent to the  
asset’s initial recognition. The Group assesses whether objective 
evidence exists for each financial asset or group of financial assets  
at the balance sheet date to determine whether any impairment  
has arisen.  

Post-retirement benefits  
The Group accounts for pensions and other post-retirement benefits 
in accordance with IAS 19, Employee Benefits.  

Pensions  
The Group operates both defined benefit and defined contribution 
pension plans.  

In respect of defined benefit plans (where the amount of pension  
is defined, usually based on factors such as age, years of service 
and compensation), the net asset or obligation of each plan at  
the balance sheet date is calculated by a qualified actuary using  
the projected unit credit method. The obligation is calculated by 
discounting the amount of future benefits that employees have 
earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods.  
An allowance is made for scheme expenses and non-service related 
benefits. Plan assets are recorded at fair value. The net income 
statement credit/charge comprises principally the service cost,  
and the finance income/costs, which are recognised in the  
period in which they arise. The net income statement impact  
is credited/charged in arriving at operating profit. The net  
pension deficit/surplus of each pension plan is recorded on  
the balance sheet.  

All actuarial gains and losses at the date of transition to IFRS have 
been recognised in equity at that date. Actuarial gains and losses 
that arise subsequent to the transition date to IFRS in calculating the 
Group’s obligation in respect of each plan, are recognised in the 
Statement of Recognised Income and Expense.  

Payments to defined contribution pension plans (where the Group 
pays fixed contributions into a separate entity) are charged as an 
expense as they fall due.  

Other post-retirement benefits  
In the US, the Group provides unfunded post-retirement medical 
benefits to certain US employees. The expected costs of these 
benefits are accrued over the period of employment using an 
accounting methodology similar to that for defined benefit pension 
plans. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the Statement  
of Recognised Income and Expense.  

Share-based payments  
The Group operates four equity settled, share-based incentive 
schemes: an Executive Share Option Scheme, a Performance 
Share Plan (previously referred to as the Long-Term Incentive  
Plan), a Restricted Share Plan and a Save As You Earn Scheme. 
These are accounted for in accordance with IFRS 2, Share-based 
Payment, which requires an expense to be recognised in the 
income statement over the vesting period. The expense is based on 
the fair value of each instrument at the grant date, using appropriate 
option pricing models. The expense is credited to retained earnings.  

For share based incentives where the performance measure is  
non-market based (earnings per share growth) the Black Scholes  
or Binomial Lattice model is used and the value of the expense is 
adjusted to reflect expected and actual levels of vesting. Where the 
performance conditions are market-based (share price performance 
relative to the FTSE mid-250 Index), the Monte Carlo model is used 
and the expense is not adjusted except for forfeitures. The fair value 
of SAYE grants is calculated using the Black Scholes model and the 
expense is only adjusted to reflect forfeitures. 

Share capital  
Ordinary share capital is classified as equity. Interim ordinary 
dividends are recognised when paid and final ordinary dividends  
are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are approved.  

The Group’s preference shares are split into debt and equity 
components, with the associated dividend being recognised  
on an accrual basis in the income statement as a finance cost.  
The fair value of the debt element is established on issue of the 
shares, based on the discounted cash flows of the instrument  
to the date of maturity, and is then increased each year on an 
amortised cost basis through the income statement in order  
to arrive at the redemption amount payable on maturity of the 
shares. On purchase and cancellation of preference shares by the 
Company, a gain or loss is recognised in the income statement 
based on the difference between the book value and fair value of the 
financial liability element of the instrument at the date of purchase. 
The difference between the book value and fair value of the equity 
element of the instrument is recognised as a movement in retained 
earnings. In addition, a transfer is made to non-distributable reserves 
from retained earnings in order to maintain the legal nominal value  
of share capital.  

Inventories  
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable  
value on a first in first out basis. Cost comprises all expenditure, 
including related production overheads where appropriate,  
incurred in the normal course of business in bringing the inventory  
to its present location and condition at the balance sheet date.  
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price less any selling 
costs. Provision is made against slow moving and obsolete 
inventory where appropriate.  
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Taxation including deferred tax  
Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and 
deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in 
equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.  

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for 
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the 
balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect  
of previous years.  

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, 
providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts  
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the 
amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary 
differences are not provided for: goodwill not deductible for tax 
purposes, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect 
neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to 
investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably  
not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred  
tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or 
settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax 
rates enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date.  

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which  
the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will  
be realised.  

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of  
dividends are recognised at the same time as the liability to  
pay the related dividend.  

Investment in own shares  
Shares acquired by the Premier Farnell Performance Share Plan  
are shown as a reduction in shareholders’ funds. The cost of 
administering the trust is borne by the Company as incurred.  

Trade and other receivables  
Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value.  
A provision for impairment is made when there is objective evidence, 
for example default or delinquency in payments, that the full amount 
will not be collectible. Such amounts are written down to their 
estimated recoverable amounts, with the charge being made to 
operating expenses. 

Trade and other payables  
Trade and other payables are stated at cost.  

Cash and cash equivalents  
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and short-term 
deposits repayable on demand and available within one day without 
penalty. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form  
an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as  
a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the 
cash flow statement, but shown separately within current liabilities  
in the balance sheet.  

Research and development  
Expenditure on research and development activities undertaken  
with the prospect of gaining new technical knowledge and 
understanding is expensed in the income statement as incurred.
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1 Segmental information 

Primary reporting format – business segments 
The Group is organised into three main business segments: the Marketing and Distribution Division, comprising the Americas and Europe 
and Asia Pacific, and the Industrial Products Division. 

 Revenue 

Note

2009  
(52 weeks) 

£m 

2008 
(53 weeks)  

£m 

Marketing and Distribution Division   
Americas  359.6 326.7 
Europe and Asia Pacific  367.5 344.2 

Total Marketing and Distribution Division  727.1 670.9 
Industrial Products Division  77.3 73.8 

Continuing operations  804.4 744.7 
Discontinued operations  23 – 19.3 

 804.4 764.0 

 

Segment result  
(operating profit) 

2009  
(52 weeks)  

2008 
(53 weeks)  

Before 
restructuring 

costs
Restructuring 

costs

Net of 
restructuring 

costs   
Note £m £m £m  £m 

Continuing operations    
Marketing and Distribution Division    
Americas 33.5 (0.9) 32.6  31.0 
Europe and Asia Pacific 52.2 (2.0) 50.2  53.4 

Total Marketing and Distribution Division  85.7 (2.9) 82.8  84.4 
Industrial Products Division  14.3 (0.2) 14.1  14.8 
Head Office costs (11.2) (0.3) (11.5) (11.2)

Operating profit  88.8 (3.4) 85.4  88.0 
Finance income (interest receivable) 3 0.7  0.9 
Total finance costs  3 (13.3) (17.7)

Profit before taxation  72.8  71.2 
Taxation 5 (21.1) (21.4)

Profit after taxation from continuing operations  51.7  49.8 
Loss after taxation from discontinued operations  23 – (13.5)

Profit for the financial year (attributable to ordinary shareholders)  51.7  36.3 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial StatementsR
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1 Segmental information continued 
Segment assets   Segment liabilities 

2009 
£m

2008 
£m  

2009  
£m 

2008 
£m 

Marketing and Distribution Division     
Americas  170.0 182.2 (37.4) (30.6)
Europe and Asia Pacific  213.5 208.8 (47.1) (41.6)

Total Marketing and Distribution Division  383.5 391.0 (84.5) (72.2)
Industrial Products Division  53.9 44.2 (19.3) (14.5)
Head Office  1.3 0.3 (26.7) (19.6)

Segment assets/(liabilities)  438.7 435.5 (130.5) (106.3)
Unallocated assets/(liabilities):     
Cash and cash equivalents  39.6 37.6  – – 
Financial liabilities  – – (334.8) (291.7)
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)  5.0 0.2 (6.2) (33.0)
Income tax liabilities  – – (17.4) (22.2)

 483.3 473.3 (488.9) (453.2)

IFRS does not require the restatement of prior year assets or liabilities for discontinued operations. 

Capital expenditure (including acquisitions) 

Property, plant and 
equipment  

Intangible assets 
(including computer 

software) 

2009
(52 weeks)

£m

2008 
(53 weeks) 

£m  

2009 
(52 weeks) 

£m 

2008 
(53 weeks) 

£m 

Marketing and Distribution Division     
Americas  2.4 1.1  4.5 5.0 
Europe and Asia Pacific  3.9 4.1  5.5 5.3 

Total Marketing and Distribution Division  6.3 5.2  10.0 10.3 
Industrial Products Division  0.7 1.2  0.1 0.1 

Continuing operations  7.0 6.4  10.1 10.4 
Discontinued operations  – –  – – 

 7.0 6.4  10.1 10.4 

 

Depreciation
Amortisation of  

intangible assets  
Impairment of trade 

receivables 

Note

2009 
(52 weeks)

£m

2008
(53 weeks) 

£m

2009
(52 weeks) 

£m

2008 
(53 weeks)  

£m  

2009 
(52 weeks)  

£m 

2008 
(53 weeks)  

£m 

Marketing and Distribution Division     
Americas  2.9 2.7 4.5 5.8  1.3 0.8 
Europe and Asia Pacific  4.7 3.9 4.3 5.2  1.3 0.7 

Total Marketing and Distribution Division  7.6 6.6 8.8 11.0  2.6 1.5 
Industrial Products Division  1.4 1.3 0.2 0.2  0.2 0.1 

Continuing operations  9.0 7.9 9.0 11.2  2.8 1.6 
Discontinued operations  23 – 0.1 – 0.1  – – 

 9.0 8.0 9.0 11.3  2.8 1.6 

Revenues between business segments are not significant. Head Office costs represent the cost of the central head office and the Group 
Board. Cash and cash equivalents and financial liabilities are managed on a Group basis and thus it is not practical to allocate these 
assets/liabilities to segments. 
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1 Segmental information continued 

Secondary reporting format – geographic segments 
The Group’s operations are based in two main geographical areas, the Americas and the UK, with the remainder based in the Rest of 
Europe and the Asia Pacific Region. 

Revenue 
Capital expenditure 

(including acquisitions) 

 Note

2009
(52 weeks) 

£m

2008
(53 weeks) 

£m

2009 
(52 weeks)  

£m 

2008 
(53 weeks)  

£m 

Americas  436.8 400.4 7.6 7.3 
UK  176.9 179.1 7.3 7.0 
Rest of Europe and Asia Pacific  190.7 165.2 2.2 2.5 

Continuing operations  804.4 744.7 17.1 16.8 
Discontinued operations  23 – 19.3 – – 

 804.4 764.0 17.1 16.8 

Revenue from discontinued operations in 2008 related entirely to the UK. 

The sales analysis above is based on the origin of the sale which is not materially different from the location of the customer. 

Segment assets 

2009  
£m  

2008  
£m 

Americas  223.8 226.8 
UK  144.4 143.0 
Rest of Europe and Asia Pacific  70.5 65.7 

 438.7 435.5 
Unallocated assets:   
Cash and cash equivalents  39.6 37.6 
Deferred tax assets  5.0 0.2 

 483.3 473.3 

IFRS does not require the restatement of prior year assets or liabilities for discontinued operations. 

2 Net operating expenses 

Note

2009 
(52 weeks)  

£m  

2008 
(53 weeks) 

(restated)  
£m 

Distribution costs  218.3 194.0 
Administrative expenses  11.5 11.2 
Research and development expenditure  3.6 2.3 

Continuing operations  233.4 207.5 
Discontinued operations  23 – 5.8 

 233.4 213.3 

Distribution costs include restructuring costs of £3.1 million (2008: nil) and administrative expenses include restructuring costs of £0.3 million 
(2008: nil), both relating to headcount reductions taken in the fourth quarter of 2009 to ensure the Group is appropriately structured for the 
future. The tax credit attributable to these restructuring costs was £1.0 million. 

Research and development (R&D) expenditure comprises product R&D expensed by Akron Brass of £1.6 million (2008: £1.3 million), and 
R&D costs incurred in researching and developing new and improved solutions to customer service of £2.0 million (2008: £1.0 million, which 
has been reclassified from distribution costs). 
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3 Net finance costs 

Note 

2009 
(52 weeks)  

£m  

2008 
(53 weeks)  

£m 

Finance income    
– interest receivable on short-term deposits   0.7 0.9 

Finance costs    
– interest payable on bank borrowings  (4.5) (3.9)
– other interest payable  (8.1) (7.8)
– preference dividend  (3.5) (5.6)
– premium on redemption of preference shares  15 (0.9) (1.3)
– gain on purchase of preference shares  15 3.7 0.9 

Total finance costs  (13.3) (17.7)

Net finance costs  (12.6) (16.8)

4 Profit before taxation 
Profit before taxation from continuing operations is stated after charging/(crediting):  

Note 

2009  
(52 weeks) 

£m  

2008 
(53 weeks)  

£m 

Employee benefits expense  26 134.8 123.5 
Restructuring costs 2 3.4 – 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment   9.0 7.9 
Amortisation of intangible assets   9.0 11.2 
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment  24 (0.4) (0.8)
Operating lease rentals    
– plant and machinery   1.6 1.3 
– other   5.1 4.1 
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense (included in cost of sales)   453.5 418.6 
Research and development expenditure   1.6 1.3 
Impairment of trade receivables  12 2.8 1.6 

The above disclosures for discontinued operations are given in note 23. 

During the year the Group (including its overseas subsidiaries) obtained the following services from the Group’s auditor as detailed below: 

 

2009 
(52 weeks)  

£m  

2008 
(53 weeks)  

£m 

Audit services   
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for the audit of the parent company and the Consolidated  
Financial Statements  0.4 0.4 
Other services   
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and its associates for other services:   
The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation  0.3 0.2 
Further audit related services – 0.1 
Services relating to taxation  0.2 0.1 

 0.9 0.8 

The fee for audit services shown above includes £0.1 million (2008: £0.1 million) in respect of the Company. 

Tax and other fees paid to the Group’s Auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, are in respect of assignments carried out on a worldwide 
basis. It is the Group’s policy to employ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP on assignments additional to their statutory duties where their 
expertise and experience of the Group is important, or where they are awarded assignments on a competitive basis. 

Tax services are in respect of tax compliance in a number of territories. 
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5 Taxation 

Note

2009  
(52 weeks) 

£m  

2008 
(53 weeks) 

£m 

Current taxation charge/(credit)   
– current year  22.9 18.0 
– adjustment in respect of prior years  (0.1) – 

 22.8 18.0 

Deferred taxation (credit)/charge  17   
– current year  (1.4) 3.0 
– adjustment in respect of prior years  (0.3) 0.4 

 (1.7) 3.4 

Continuing operations  21.1 21.4 
Discontinued operations 23 – 0.1 

 21.1 21.5 

Tax on items charged directly to equity:   
– current tax credit on exchange movements offset in reserves  (12.5) (1.4)
– deferred tax credit on actuarial losses (31.3) (0.8)
– deferred tax credit on purchase of preference shares  15 (0.8) (0.6)

The tax for the period is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK (28%), and can be reconciled as follows: 

Note

2009 
(52 weeks)  

£m  

2008 
(53 weeks) 

(restated)  
£m 

Profit before taxation  72.8 71.2 
Preference dividends  3.5 5.6 
Gain on purchase of preference shares  (3.7) (0.9)

Profit before tax, preference dividends and gain on purchase of preference shares  72.6 75.9 

Profit before tax, preference dividends and gain on purchase of preference shares multiplied by 28.33% 
(2008: 30.0%)  20.6 22.8 
Effect of prior year adjustments  (0.4) 0.4 
Adjustments in respect of foreign tax rates  3.0 2.5 
Benefits from internal financing structure  (4.0) (4.8)
Effect of withdrawal of tax allowances on buildings  0.8 –
Effect of UK corporation tax rate reduction on deferred tax balances – (0.8)
Other  1.1 1.3 

Continuing operations  21.1 21.4 
Discontinued operations  23 – 0.1 

 21.1 21.5 

Prior year has been restated to calculate profit before tax, preference dividends and gain on purchase of preference shares. 
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6 Earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders for the year by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, excluding those shares held by the Premier Farnell Executive Trust (note 19). For diluted 
earnings per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue is adjusted to assume issue of all dilutive potential ordinary 
shares, being those share options and awards with a non-market based performance condition granted to employees where the exercise 
price is less than the average market price of the Company’s ordinary shares during the year, and those shares with a market based 
performance condition based on the current estimate of the number of shares that will vest under the performance criteria. 

Reconciliations of earnings and the weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculations are set out below: 

Earnings 
2009

(52 weeks) 
£m 

Basic 
earnings 

per share 
2009

(52 weeks)
pence

Diluted 
earnings 

per share 
2009

(52 weeks)
pence

Earnings  
2008 

(53 weeks)  
£m  

Basic 
earnings  

per share  
2008 

(53 weeks) 
pence 

Diluted 
earnings  

per share 
2008 

(53 weeks) 
pence 

Continuing operations 51.7 14.3 14.2 49.8 13.7 13.6 
Discontinued operations – – – (13.5) (3.7) (3.7)

Total (attributable to ordinary shareholders) 51.7 14.3 14.2 36.3 10.0 9.9 

Total earnings per share    
Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders  51.7 14.3 14.2 36.3 10.0 9.9 
Gain on purchase of preference shares (3.7) (1.0) (1.0) (0.9) (0.3) (0.3)
Restructuring costs 3.4 0.9 0.9 – – – 
Tax attributable to restructuring costs (1.0) (0.3) (0.3) – – – 

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders before gain on purchase of 
preference shares and restructuring costs 50.4 13.9 13.8 35.4 9.7 9.6 

Earnings per share from continuing operations    
Profit after taxation from continuing operations 51.7 14.3 14.2 49.8 13.7 13.6 
Gain on purchase of preference shares (3.7) (1.0) (1.0) (0.9) (0.3) (0.3)
Restructuring costs 3.4 0.9 0.9 – – – 
Tax attributable to restructuring costs (1.0) (0.3) (0.3) – – – 

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders before gain on purchase of 
preference shares and restructuring costs 50.4 13.9 13.8 48.9 13.4 13.3 

Earnings per share before the gain on purchase of preference shares and excluding restructuring costs have been provided in order to 
facilitate year on year comparison. 

2009 
Number 

2008  
Number 

Weighted average number of shares  362,412,369 363,476,320 
Dilutive effect of share options  2,678,546 1,913,997 

Diluted weighted average number of shares  365,090,915 365,390,317 

7 Ordinary dividends 
Ordinary dividends paid during the year were as follows: 

 

2009 
(52 weeks) 

£m  

2008 
(53 weeks) 

£m 

Interim paid of 4.2p (2008: 4.0p) per share  15.2 14.5 
Prior year final paid of 5.2p (2008: 5.0p) per share  18.8 18.2 

 34.0 32.7 

Dividends amounting to £266,768 (2008: £68,735) in respect of the Company’s ordinary shares held by the Premier Farnell Executive Trust 
(note 19) have been waived in arriving at the aggregate of ordinary dividends paid. 

The Directors are proposing a final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 1 February 2009 of 5.2 pence per share which will  
absorb £18.8 million of shareholders’ funds. This is subject to approval at the Annual General Meeting and thus has not been provided  
for at 1 February 2009. Once approved, the final dividend will be paid on 24 June 2009 to shareholders on the register of members  
on 29 May 2009. 
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8 Goodwill 
Note £m 

Cost   
At 29 January 2007  49.6 
Additions  22 0.9 
Disposals  23 (19.3)
Currency translation adjustment  (0.1)

At 3 February 2008   31.1 
Currency translation adjustment   1.4 

At 1 February 2009   32.5 

In accordance with IAS 36, goodwill of £26.6 million (2008: £26.6 million) for the purpose of impairment testing has been allocated to the 
cash generating unit that comprises Farnell UK. 

The recoverable amounts have been measured based on value in use. 

The key assumptions in the value in use calculations, which were performed for the cash generating unit that comprises Farnell UK, based 
on data available at the mid-point of the financial year, were as follows: 

– Sales growth for the current year was based on internal forecasts with growth in the five subsequent years broadly in line with historic  
UK GDP and a terminal growth rate of 2.25% (2008: 2.25%). 

– Gross margins were projected based on recent trends. 

– A market risk premium, of 7.0% (2008: 4.5%), was used in calculating the weighted average cost of capital. 

Forecast cash flows have been prepared for a period of five years. From the second year onwards, the rate of growth used does not 
exceed the long-term growth rate for the industry in which the business operates. 

The cash flows that these projections produce have been discounted at a post-tax discount rate of 8.4% (2008: 10.9%). The Group applies 
post-tax discount rates to post-tax cash flows and this closely approximates to applying pre-tax discount rates to pre-tax cash flows. 

No impairment arose during the year as a result of this test. 

The remaining goodwill of £5.9 million (2008: £4.5 million) is allocated across five different cash generating units. No impairments arose 
during the year in relation to these amounts. 

The Directors believe there are no reasonably possible changes to a key assumption which would give rise to an impairment charge. 
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9 Other intangible assets 

Note

Computer 
software  

£m 
Other  

£m 
Total  

£m 

Cost    
At 29 January 2007  72.4 3.2 75.6 
Additions  10.4 – 10.4 
Business disposal  23 (3.9) – (3.9)
Currency translation adjustment  – – – 

At 3 February 2008  78.9 3.2 82.1 
Additions  9.1 – 9.1 
Business acquisition  22 – 1.0 1.0 
Currency translation adjustment  13.7 1.1 14.8 

At 1 February 2009  101.7 5.3 107.0 

Amortisation    
At 29 January 2007 53.2 0.2 53.4 
Charge for the year  11.2 0.1 11.3 
Business disposal  23 (2.7) – (2.7)

At 3 February 2008  61.7 0.3 62.0 
Charge for the year  8.9 0.1 9.0 
Currency translation adjustment  10.9 0.1 11.0 

At 1 February 2009  81.5 0.5 82.0 

Net book amounts    
At 1 February 2009  20.2 4.8 25.0 

At 3 February 2008  17.2 2.9 20.1 

Computer software comprises software that is separately identifiable from plant and equipment and includes software licences and  
the capitalisation of internal labour relating to software development. During the year £4.4 million (2008: £3.9 million) of internal labour  
was capitalised. 

Other intangible assets relate to the following items acquired through business combinations: 

£m  Useful life 

Contractually-based customer relationships and trade names  4.6 10/20 years 
Patents  0.2 18 years 

 4.8  
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10 Property, plant and equipment 

Note

Freehold 
land and 
buildings 

£m

Plant and 
equipment  

£m 
Total  

£m 

Cost   
At 29 January 2007 54.7 82.5 137.2 
Additions  0.5 5.9 6.4 
Business disposals 23 (1.5) (2.9) (4.4)
Other disposals  (1.9) (12.3) (14.2)
Currency translation adjustment 0.8 2.1 2.9 

At 3 February 2008 52.6 75.3 127.9 
Additions  1.1 5.9 7.0 
Disposals  (3.9) (1.3) (5.2)
Currency translation adjustment  8.1 15.0 23.1

At 1 February 2009  57.9 94.9 152.8 

Depreciation   
At 29 January 2007  17.6 60.8 78.4 
Charge for the year  1.3 6.7 8.0 
Business disposals  23 (0.3) (1.9) (2.2)
Other disposals  (0.9) (12.2) (13.1)
Currency translation adjustment  0.1 1.5 1.6 

At 3 February 2008  17.8 54.9 72.7 
Charge for the year  1.2 7.8 9.0 
Disposals  (1.1) (1.2) (2.3)
Currency translation adjustment  4.3 11.0 15.3

At 1 February 2009  22.2 72.5 94.7 

Net book amounts   
At 3 February 2009 35.7 22.4 58.1 

At 3 February 2008 34.8 20.4 55.2 

Capital commitments authorised and contracted at 1 February 2009 amounted to £nil (2008: £nil). 

11 Inventories 
2009  

£m  
2008  

£m 

Raw materials  5.2 2.1 
Work in progress  6.4 4.7 
Finished goods and goods for resale  182.7 147.7 

 194.3 154.5 

The cost of inventory recognised as an expense and included in cost of sales for continuing operations amounted to £453.5 million  
(2008: £418.6 million). 

During the year £1.9 million (2008: £2.2 million), was recognised as an expense for continuing operations relating to the write-down  
of inventory to net realisable value. 
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12 Trade and other receivables 

 
2009  

£m  
2008  

£m 

Trade receivables  115.3 108.2 
Less: provision for impairment  (5.5) (3.7)

Net trade receivables  109.8 104.5 
Other receivables  5.3 4.8 
Prepayments and accrued income  13.7 11.9 

 128.8 121.2 

Trade receivables can be analysed as follows: 

 
2009  

£m  
2008  

£m 

Not past due  87.9 85.8 
Past due but not impaired 21.1 17.5 
Past due and impaired 6.3 4.9 

 115.3 108.2 

The ageing of trade receivables classed as past due but not impaired is as follows: 

 
2009  

£m  
2008  

£m 

Up to 1 month past due  15.0 12.8 
Between 1 and 2 months past due 4.6 3.1 
Over 2 months past due 1.5 1.6 

 21.1 17.5 

The movement in the provision for impairment of trade receivables can be reconciled as follows: 

 
2009  

£m  
2008  

£m 

Provision brought forward  3.7 3.6 
Provision for impairment 2.8 1.6 
Amounts written off (1.8) (1.2)
Provision released (0.2) (0.3)
Business disposed – (0.1)
Exchange movement 1.0 0.1 

Provision carried forward 5.5 3.7 

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies: 

 
2009  

£m  
2008  

£m 

Sterling  30.7 34.0 
US dollars 61.1 52.8 
Euro 22.7 20.9 
Other 14.3 13.5 

 128.8 121.2 

The fair value of trade and other receivables is disclosed in note 18. 
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13 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise balances at bank and short-term deposits repayable on demand and available within one day  
without penalty. 

Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts include the following for the purposes of the cash flow statement: 

Note
2009  

£m  
2008  

£m 

Cash and cash equivalents  39.6 37.6 
Bank overdrafts  14 (0.6) – 

 39.0 37.6 

14 Financial liabilities 

Note
2009  

£m  
2008  

£m 

Current   
Bank overdrafts  0.6 – 
Other loans  0.1 0.1 

Current borrowings  0.7 0.1 
Derivative financial instruments  18 4.4 2.9 

 5.1 3.0 

Non-current   
Bank loans  109.8 85.7 
5.3% US dollar Guaranteed Senior Notes payable 2010  45.8 33.5 
5.9% US dollar Guaranteed Senior Notes payable 2013  110.4 80.7 
Other loans  5.0 2.9 

Non-current borrowings  271.0 202.8 
Preference shares  15 59.4 85.9 

 330.4 288.7 

The above current and non-current borrowings are unsecured. Further details of the Group’s borrowing facilities are given in note 18. 

Current and non-current borrowings and preference shares are repayable as follows: 

2009  
£m  

2008  
£m 

Within one year  0.7 0.1 
Between one and two years  155.7 0.1 
Between two and five years  110.6 119.4 
After five years  64.1 169.2 

 331.1 288.8 

Under the new multi-currency revolving credit facilities (see note18), which were drawn down on 9 February 2009, £109.8 million of the 
“between one and two years” balance would have been classified as “between two and five years”. 

15 Preference shares 
Cumulative, convertible, redeemable preference shares of £1 each 

2009 
Number 

2008  
Number 

Authorised  32,000,000 32,000,000 
Allotted, called up and fully paid  3,949,419 5,773,721 

Under IAS 39, the Company’s cumulative, convertible, redeemable preference shares are required to be split into debt and equity 
components with the preference dividend being classified as a finance cost. The fair value of the debt element is established on issue  
of the shares, based on the discounted cash flows of the instrument to the date of maturity and is then increased each year on a straight  
line basis through the income statement in order to arrive at the redemption amount payable on maturity of the shares. 



97 
Premier Farnell 
Annual Report & Accounts 2009  

 

15 Preference shares continued 
The movement in the debt and equity elements during the year is as follows: 

 

Equity 
element  

£m  

Debt 
element  

£m 

At 4 February 2008  15.2 85.9 
Premium on redemption  – 0.9 
Purchase of preference shares  (4.8) (27.4)

At 1 February 2009  10.4 59.4 

During the year the Company purchased and cancelled 1,824,302 of its preference shares at a total cash cost of £23.6 million. Based on 
the book value and fair value of the instrument at the date of purchase, the financial liability element of the preference shares was reduced  
by £27.4 million and the equity element by £4.8 million. A gain of £3.7 million was recognised in the income statement being the difference 
between the book value and fair value of the financial liability element at the date of purchase. The gain arising from the difference between 
the book value and fair value of the equity element of £4.8 million was recognised as a movement in retained earnings. A deferred tax  
credit of £0.8 million arose which is also recognised as a movement in retained earnings. A transfer from retained earnings of £1.8 million  
to non-distributable reserves was made in order to maintain the legal nominal value of share capital. 

In the prior year, the Company purchased and cancelled 1,236,500 of its preference shares at a total cost of £17.7 million, resulting in  
a gain of £0.9 million being recognised in the income statement. A deferred tax credit of £0.6 million was recognised as a movement  
in retained earnings. 

At 1 February 2009, the preference shares comprised 143,369 (2008: 148,368) US$1.35 cumulative, convertible, redeemable preference 
shares of £1 each (the ‘US preference shares’) and 3,806,050 (2008: 5,625,353) 89.2p cumulative, convertible, redeemable preference 
shares of £1 each (the ‘sterling preference shares’ and, together with the US preference shares, the ‘preference shares’). The rights and 
restrictions attaching to the preference shares are as follows: 

1) Currency 
Holders of preference shares are entitled to receive a preferential dividend, a distribution on a winding up and a payment on redemption. 
Holders of US preference shares receive such payments in US dollars. Holders of sterling preference shares receive such payments  
in sterling. 

2) Changeover 
A holder of US preference shares may serve notice on the Company requiring that some or all of their US preference shares be changed  
to sterling preference shares. 

3) Income 
a)  Each holder has a right to receive a fixed cumulative preferential dividend at the rate of US$1.35 per annum for every £1 of nominal  

value for the US preference shares and at the rate of 89.2p per annum for every £1 of nominal value for the sterling preference shares. 
Dividends on the preference shares are payable half-yearly in arrears in equal amounts, on 26 January and 26 July. 

b)  The fixed cumulative preferential dividends payable in respect of the preference shares are paid in priority to any dividend payable to  
the holders of ordinary shares and in priority to or pari passu with the holders of any other class of preference shares in the capital  
of the Company. 

c) If a holder of US preference shares has elected to changeover his US preference shares to sterling preference shares then the fixed 
cumulative preferential dividend and any arrears payable after the changeover date will be paid at the sterling rate set out above. 

4) Conversion 
a)  Each holder of preference shares is entitled to convert all or any of his fully paid preference shares into fully paid ordinary shares at the 

rate of 10.3432p in nominal amount of ordinary share capital for every £1 in nominal amount of preference share capital so converted  
(the ‘conversion rate’). 

b) The preference shares may be converted on any date at the option of the holder on and from the date of issue up to and including  
22 April 2016. 

c) If at any time 75% or more of all the preference shares have been converted into ordinary shares (but assuming, for this purpose only, 
that any preference shares which have been converted into ordinary shares pursuant to the special conversion right made available  
in 2002 had never been issued or converted), the Company may give written notice to the remaining holders of preference shares  
to convert the remaining preference shares into ordinary shares. 

d) The conversion rate may be subject to adjustment if, inter alia, the Company makes an issue of ordinary shares by way of capitalisation  
of profits or reserves, a rights issue or another offer to ordinary shareholders or if there is a change of control in the Company following  
a take-over offer or if a capital distribution is made. 



 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
98 

15 Preference shares continued 

5) Redemption 
The Company shall (subject to any statutory restrictions) on 29 April 2016 redeem all the US preference shares in issue at US$25 for every 
£1 of nominal value and all the sterling preference shares in issue at £16.518 for every £1 of nominal value. 

6) Voting 
Each preference share entitles the holder to receive notice of but not to attend or vote at general meetings of the Company save in limited 
circumstances. Subject to being entitled to vote on any resolution, each holder of preference shares has one vote on a show of hands and 
on a poll every such holder has one vote for every ordinary share to which he would be entitled on conversion of his preference shares. 

7) Winding up 
Subject to the rights attached to any shares issued on any special terms and conditions, on a return of capital on a winding-up of the 
Company the assets available for distribution will be applied, first, in paying to each holder of a preference share any arrears and accruals  
of the preferential dividend; second, in repaying US$25 for every £1 of nominal value for the US preference shares and £16.518 for every  
£1 of nominal value for the sterling preference shares; third, in repaying the capital paid up on each ordinary share; and fourth, in distributing 
the remainder rateably among the members of the Company according to the amounts paid up on their respective holdings of shares in  
the Company, each preference share being treated for this purpose as if converted at the conversion rate applicable into fully paid ordinary 
shares immediately prior to the commencement of the winding-up. 

16 Trade and other payables 
2009  

£m  
2008  

£m 

Trade payables  53.3 41.5 
Payroll and other taxes  4.0 5.6 
Other creditors  8.4 5.6 
Accruals and deferred income  28.8 31.6 

 94.5 84.3 

17 Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method. 

The movement on the net deferred tax liability is as follows: 

2009  
£m  

2008  
£m 

Brought forward  (32.8) (30.5)
Credit/(charge) for the year  1.7 (3.4)
Currency translation adjustment  (2.2) (0.3)
Taken to equity (employee benefits)  31.3 0.8 
Taken to equity (purchase of preference shares)  0.8 0.6 

Carried forward  (1.2) (32.8)

Comprising:   
Non-current assets  5.0 0.2 
Non-current liabilities  (6.2) (33.0)

 (1.2) (32.8)

Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of any significant tax losses and other temporary differences giving rise to deferred tax 
assets where it is probable that these assets will be recovered. Deferred tax is recognised in respect of any unremitted earnings of overseas 
subsidiaries where such remittance is envisaged in the foreseeable future and would have a significant impact on the tax liability. 

During the year deferred tax liabilities have increased by £0.8 million (2008: £nil) as a result of the withdrawal of tax allowances on certain 
expenditure on buildings. 
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17 Deferred tax continued 
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior to the offsetting of balances within the same jurisdiction as permitted by IAS 12) 
during the period are shown below. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are only offset where there is a legally enforceable right of offset and 
there is an intention to settle the balances net. 

Liabilities Assets   Net 

2009 
£m 

2008 
£m 

2009 
£m 

2008  
£m   

2009  
£m  

2008  
£m 

Accelerated tax depreciation  (13.9) (9.4) – – (13.9) (9.4)
Employee benefits  – (19.6) 8.8 4.0 8.8 (15.6)
Fair value of property, plant and equipment acquired  (1.3) (1.3) – – (1.3) (1.3)
Fair value of intangible assets acquired  (1.4) (1.1) – – (1.4) (1.1)
Preference shares  (1.3) (2.4) – – (1.3) (2.4)
Tax losses – – 7.1 – 7.1 – 
Other short-term timing differences  (1.8) (9.4) 2.6 6.4 0.8 (3.0)

 (19.7) (43.2) 18.5 10.4 (1.2) (32.8)

£5.0 million (2008: £0.2 million) of the deferred tax assets were not available for offset against deferred tax liabilities and have therefore been 
included within non-current assets. 

18 Financial instruments 
The Group is exposed to a number of different market risks in the normal course of business including liquidity, credit, interest rate and 
foreign currency risks. 

Liquidity risk 
Established procedures are in place to ensure that the operational and working capital requirements of the Group can be met at all times. 
These include: 

– Weekly review, monitoring and forecasting of working capital requirements across Group companies 

– Use of short term, local bank facilities 

– Operation of short term money market dealing lines 

– The implementation and ongoing review of committed multi-currency bank facilities, which are available at short notice. At the year-end 
the Group had £212.1 million of available bilateral banking facilities, which carried a LIBOR based floating rate of interest. The facilities 
were due to expire mid-2010, and at 1 February 2009 £99.1 million of these facilities were unused. On 27 January 2009 the Group 
entered into a new multi-currency revolving credit facility of £150 million, which carries a LIBOR based floating rate of interest, and expires 
in January 2013. The first drawdown on this facility occurred in February 2009, at which point the previous facility terminated. 

Credit risk 
The Group has a customer credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis through the use of 
customer credit limits. Investments are allowed only in short term instruments and only with counterparties that have sound credit ratings. 
The Group’s treasury policy stipulates the minimum credit rating that a banking institution must have before deposits can be made. Given 
the high credit quality of counterparties with whom the Group has investments, the Directors do not expect any counterparty to fail to meet 
its expectations. 

At 1 February 2009 and 3 February 2008 there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk  
is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset included in the balance sheet. 

Hedging interest rate risk 
The Group adopts a policy of ensuring that it has an appropriate mix of fixed and floating rates in managing its exposure to changes in 
interest rates on borrowings. Interest rate swaps are entered into, where necessary, to achieve this appropriate mix. At 1 February 2009  
the Group was not party to any interest rate swaps (3 February 2008: nil). 

At 1 February 2009, if interest rates on foreign currency denominated borrowings had been 50 basis points higher / lower with all other 
variables held constant, pre tax profit for the year would have been £0.2 million lower / higher (2008: £0.2 million). At 1 February 2009,  
if interest rates on pound sterling denominated borrowings had been 50 basis points higher / lower with all other variables held constant,  
pre tax profit for the year would have been £0.4 million lower / higher (2008: £0.2 million).  
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18 Financial instruments continued 

Foreign currency risk 
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in currencies other than pounds 
sterling. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily the Euro and US dollar. 

The Group hedges significant foreign currency exposures in respect of forecast sales and purchases of inventory through foreign exchange 
contracts. All such foreign exchange contracts have maturities of less than one year. 

The Group does not hedge profit translation exposure, unless there is a corresponding cash flow, since such hedges provide only a 
temporary deferral of the effects of movement in foreign exchange rates. Similarly, whilst a significant proportion of the Group’s borrowings 
are denominated in US dollars, the Group does not specifically hedge all of its long term investments in overseas assets. 

At 1 February 2009, if the US dollar had weakened/strengthened against the pound sterling by one cent, with all other variables held 
constant, operating profit for the year would have been £0.2 million lower/higher, mainly due to the translation of overseas results.  
Net assets would not have been significantly different as a result of a similar one cent movement. 

At 1 February 2009, if the Euro had weakened/strengthened against the pound sterling by one cent, with all other variables held constant, 
operating profit for the year would have been £0.2 million lower/higher, mainly due to the translation of overseas results. Net assets would 
have been £0.7 million lower/higher as a result of a similar one cent movement. 

Estimation of fair values 
The main methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments are as follows: 

– Derivatives: forward exchange contracts are marked to market using listed market prices. 

– Interest-bearing loans and borrowings: fair value is calculated based on discounted expected future principal and interest cash flows. 

– Convertible redeemable preference shares: fair value is based on quoted market prices. 

– Trade and other receivables/payables: the notional amount for trade receivables/payables with a remaining life of less than one year are 
deemed to reflect their fair value. 

Net fair value of derivative financial instruments 
The Group classifies its forward exchange contracts hedging forecast trading transactions as cash flow hedges and states them at fair 
value. The net fair value of forward exchange contracts used as hedges of forecasted trading transactions at 3 February 2009 was  
£4.4 million (3 February 2008: £2.9 million), which was reflected in a hedging reserve at that date. 

Hedge of net investment in foreign subsidiaries 
The Group’s US dollar denominated private placement notes totalling $225 million and unsecured loans of $10 million partially hedge the 
Group’s investment in its US subsidiaries. The Group’s Euro denominated unsecured loans of Euro 17 million partially hedge the Group’s 
investment in its European Union member subsidiaries. The fair value of the US dollar borrowings at 1 February 2009 was £180.7 million  
(3 February 2008: £142.1 million) and the fair value of the Euro borrowings was £15.0 million (3 February 2008: £7.5 million). A foreign 
exchange loss of £48.0 million (3 February 2008: loss of £0.6 million) was recognised in equity during the year on translation of these loans 
to pounds sterling. 

Fair value of long-term borrowings and preference shares 
The book and fair values of the Group’s long-term borrowings and preference shares are as follows: 

Book value 
2009 

£m 

Fair value 
2009 

£m 

Book value  
2008  

£m  

Fair value  
2008  

£m 

Long-term borrowings  271.0 283.9 202.8 208.5 
Preference shares  69.8 49.4 101.1 78.0 

The book value of the preference shares at 1 February 2009 comprises the equity element of £10.4 million (2008: £15.2 million) and the 
debt element of £59.4 million (2008: £85.9 million). 

Fair value of other financial instruments 
The book and fair values of the Group’s other financial instruments are as follows: 

Book value 
2009 

£m 

Fair value 
2009 

£m 

Book value  
2008  

£m  

Fair value  
2008  

£m 

Assets   
Cash at bank and in hand  39.6 39.6 37.6 37.6 
Trade and other receivables  115.1 115.1 109.3 109.3 
 
Liabilities and derivatives   
Short-term borrowings  0.6 0.6 0.1 0.1 
Derivative financial instruments  4.4 4.4 2.9 2.9 
Trade and other payables  65.7 65.7 52.7 52.7 
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18 Financial instruments continued 

Maturity of financial liabilities 
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities, which will be settled on a net basis, into relevant maturity groupings based on  
the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant. 

At 1 February 2009 

Less than 
1 year

£m 

Between 1 
and 2 years 

£m 

Between 2 
and 5 years 

£m 

Over  
5 years 

£m 

Borrowings 11.4 163.4 125.2 4.7 
Preference shares 3.5 3.5 10.6 73.3 
Derivative financial instruments 4.4 – – – 
Trade and other payables 65.7 – – – 

Following the drawdown of the new multi-currency revolving credit facility of £150 million in February 2009, £109.8 million of borrowings 
included within the “between 1 and 2 years” category above will be reclassified to the “between 2 and 5 years” category. 

At 3 February 2008 

Less than 
1 year

£m 

Between 1 
and 2 years 

£m 

Between 2 
and 5 years 

£m 

Over  
5 years 

£m 

Borrowings 10.6 10.6 134.2 82.8 
Preference shares  5.1 5.1 15.3 111.4 
Derivative financial instruments 2.9 – – – 
Trade and other payables 52.7 – – – 

 
The table below analyses the Group’s derivative financial instruments which will be settled on a gross basis into relevant maturity groupings 
based on the remaining period at the balance sheet to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant. 

At 1 February 2009 

Less than 
1 year

£m 

Between 1 
and 2 years 

£m 

Between 2 
and 5 years 

£m 

Over  
5 years 

£m 

Forward foreign exchange contracts – cash flow hedges    
Outflow 55.1 – – – 
Inflow 0.1 – – – 

 

At 3 February 2008 

Less than 
1 year

£m 

Between 1 
and 2 years 

£m 

Between 2 
and 5 years 

£m 

Over  
5 years 

£m 

Forward foreign exchange contracts – cash flow hedges    
Outflow 56.3 – – – 
Inflow – – – – 

Effective interest rates 
The effective interest rates of interest-bearing financial liabilities at the year end were as follows: 

 2009 2008 

Short-term borrowings  2.5% 5.7% 
Bilateral bank facilities  2.2% 5.2% 
US dollar private placement notes  5.7% 5.7% 
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18 Financial instruments continued 

Capital risk management 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide 
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an appropriate capital structure. In order to maintain or adjust 
the capital structure, the Group will take in to consideration the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, the level of debt and the number 
of shares in issue. 

When monitoring capital, the Group takes into consideration its gearing ratio, both including and excluding its defined benefit pension 
obligations. This is calculated as the ratio of net debt to total equity (adjusted for pension obligations as appropriate). Net debt is calculated 
as total borrowings (including current and non-current borrowings and the debt element of preference shares as shown in the consolidated 
balance sheet) less cash and cash equivalents. Total equity is as shown in the consolidated balance sheet. The defined benefit obligations 
are shown in note 27 (a) to the Consolidated Financial Statements. At the year end the net debt to total equity ratio adjusted to exclude 
pension obligations was 17.8:1 (2008: -13.0:1).  

The Group also monitors its consolidated adjusted net worth. Consolidated adjusted net worth is calculated as total equity plus any amount 
in respect of preference shares included in non-current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet. At the year end, consolidated adjusted 
net worth was £53.8 million (2008: £106.0 million). 

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 

19 Ordinary shares 

Group and Company 

 2009  
Nominal  

value  
£m 

2008 
Nominal  

value 
£m 

Authorised   
500,000,000 ordinary shares of 5p each (2008: 500,000,000)  25.0 25.0 

Allotted, called up and fully paid   
At 3 February 2008 (364,682,685 shares)  18.2 18.2 
Allotted under share option schemes (584,265 shares)  0.1 – 

At 1 February 2009 (365,266,950 shares)  18.3 18.2 

Allotments during the year 
On various dates during the year, allotments were made under the Company’s Executive Share Option Schemes totalling 584,265 (2008: 
800,731) ordinary shares with a nominal value of £29,213 (2008: £40,037) for a cash consideration of £0.9 million (2008: £1.4 million). 

Potential issues of ordinary shares 
Executive Share Option Scheme 
The Executive Share Option Scheme (ESOS) is available to Executive Directors and other senior management. Grants are made with a 
value up to 100% of an individual’s annual salary. Vesting of options is subject to a performance condition based on the growth in earnings 
per share over a minimum three year period exceeding RPI growth over the same period by a pre-determined amount. Further details of the 
vesting conditions are given in the Remuneration Report starting on page 69. The Company’s intention is that it will no longer grant options 
under the ESOS to those individuals receiving awards under the Performance Share Plan (see below). Both approved and unapproved 
share options are exercisable between three and ten years from the date of grant. 

At 1 February 2009, the aggregate number of shares covered by options under the Company’s Executive Share Option Scheme is 
7,180,152 (2008: 9,627,061) and the total potential consideration is £13.5 million (2008: £18.1 million). The following table summarises 
information about these options:  

Range of exercise prices 2009 Number
2009 Weighted average 

remaining contractual life (years) 2008 Number
2008 Weighted average  

remaining contractual life (years) 

£1.00 – £2.00 5,585,525 6.13 7,358,328 7.21 
£2.00 – £3.00 1,305,427 5.91 1,848,583 6.69 
£3.00 – £4.00 50,000 1.92 115,000 3.36 
£4.00 – £5.00 239,200 1.26 280,150 2.25 
£5.00 – £6.00 – – 25,000 2.66 

 7,180,152 5.90 9,627,061 6.90 

 



103 
Premier Farnell 
Annual Report & Accounts 2009  

 

19 Ordinary shares continued 

Save As You Earn Option Scheme 
Grants under the Save As You Earn (SAYE) option scheme are available to all eligible UK employees and are not subject to any performance 
conditions, although do require the employee to save over a three or five year period. SAYE options are exercisable within six months after 
the end of the savings contract. 

At 1 February 2009, the aggregate number of shares covered by options under the Company’s Save As You Earn option scheme  
is 959,630 (2008: 872,254) and the total potential consideration of £1.4 million (2008: £1.3 million) is made up as follows: 

Number of shares outstanding 

Date of grant  
Option 

price  2009  2008 

April 2004 194p 83,586 88,836 
April 2005 143p 85,735 361,849 
April 2006 180p 54,853 81,445 
April 2007 152p 249,231 340,124 
April 2008 137p 486,225 – 

  959,630 872,254 

Performance Share Plan (previously referred to as the Long-Term Incentive Plan) 
Prior to the Company’s Annual General Meeting on 12 June 2007, under the Company’s Performance Share Plan (PSP), Executive 
Directors and senior executives were awarded rights to acquire ordinary shares with the value up to 100% of salary in any one year.  
The main performance condition was based on the growth of the Company’s total shareholder return, TSR, (share price growth and 
reinvested dividends) over a three year period relative to the companies in the FTSE mid-250 Index (excluding investment trusts).  
Following approval at the 12 June 2007 Annual General Meeting, the upper limit for awards was increased to 150% of salary in any one 
year. In addition, half of the award made to Executive Directors is now subject to a relative TSR performance condition over a three year 
period. The other half of the award to Executive Directors, together with participants other than Executive Directors, is now subject to an 
earnings per share performance condition, and will not vest unless the annual compound growth rate of the Company’s earnings per share 
over a three year performance period exceeds the annual compound growth rate of RPI over the same period by 4%. Further details of the 
performance conditions are available in the Remuneration Report starting on page 69. 

At 1 February 2009, the aggregate number of outstanding shares covered by grants under the PSP, was 8,577,371 (2008: 4,700,671)  
as follows: 

 
Number of  

ordinary shares  

Date of grant  2009 2008 

April 2006  971,261 1,347,391 
June 2007 2,695,445 3,304,859 
July 2007 48,421 48,421 
August 2007 46,410 – 
April 2008 4,667,661 – 
June 2008 148,173 – 

 8,577,371 4,700,671 

Restricted Share Plan 
Under the Company’s Restricted Share Plan (RSP), individuals are granted rights to ordinary shares which carry no vesting conditions  
other than the requirement that the employee must still be in the Company’s employment at the vesting date. During the year 51,461  
(2008: 53,034) shares vested under the plan and 117,099 (2008:49,315) shares were granted under the plan. At 1 February 2009  
there were 166,414 (2008: 100,776) outstanding ordinary shares granted under the plan all of which vest in the financial year ending  
31 January 2010. 

Premier Farnell Executive Trust 
The Premier Farnell Executive Trust has acquired ordinary shares in the open market in order to partially meet obligations under the Premier 
Farnell Performance Share Plan or to provide similar employee benefits. The costs of administering the plan are borne by the Company.  
The Trustees have waived the right to receive dividends in respect of the ordinary shares held by the Trust. During the year the Trust 
acquired 1,532,806 (2008: 1,153,693) of the Company’s ordinary shares for a total cash consideration of £2.9 million (2008: £2.5 million), 
and the Trust used 51,461 (2008: 53,034) ordinary shares to satisfy vesting conditions under the Restricted Share Plan. At 1 February 2009, 
the Trust held 2,886,004 (2008: 1,404,659) ordinary shares with a total nominal value of £144,300 (2008: £70,233) and a total market value 
of £3.9 million (2008: £2.1 million). 
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19 Ordinary shares continued 

Reconciliation of option movements during the year 
A reconciliation of option movements under the ESOS and SAYE is as follows: 

2009 2008 

Number 
(’000)

Weighted
average 
exercise 

price 
Number  

(’000) 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 

Outstanding:   
Beginning of year  10,499 £1.85 14,399 £1.93 
Granted  575 £1.37 400 £1.52 
Forfeited  (2,350) £1.91 (2,046) £1.84 
Exercised  (584) £1.46 (801) £1.77 
Expired  – – (1,453) £2.64 

End of year  8,140 £1.83 10,499 £1.85 

Exercisable  4,684 £1.86 4,994 £2.13 
Weighted average remaining contractual life (years)  5.4  6.8 

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the year was £1.75 (2008: £2.06). 

Reconciliation of share award movements during the year  
A reconciliation of movements in awards under the PSP is as follows: 

Number of awards (’000s) 

 2009 2008 

Outstanding:   
Beginning of year 4,701 2,490 
Granted 5,545 3,465 
Forfeited (1,669) (352)
Expired – (902)

End of year 8,577 4,701 

Weighted average remaining contractual life (years) 1.8 2.1 
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20 Share-based payments 
The total charge for share-based payments was £0.8 million (2008: £2.3 million) all of which related to equity settled transactions.  
After tax, the total charge was £0.7 million (2008: £2.4million). 

The fair value of the Company’s principal grants made in the year and the assumptions used in the calculations are as follows: 

 2009  2008 

Plan PSP PSP SAYE 3yr/5yr PSP PSP SAYE 3yr/5yr 

Primary performance 
condition EPS TSR – EPS TSR – 
Grant date  17/4/08 17/4/08 24/4/08 14/6/07 14/6/07 17/4/07 
Share price  
at grant date  £1.82 £1.82 £1.85 £2.08 £2.08 £2.13 
Exercise price  N/A N/A £1.37 N/A N/A £1.52 
Number granted  4,884,770 457,261 450,420/125,064 3,099,106 317,773 314,884/89,183 
Option pricing model  Black-Scholes Monte Carlo Black-Scholes Black-Scholes Monte Carlo Black-Scholes 
Vesting period (years)  3 3 3/5 3 3 3/5 
Expected volatility  35% 35% 35% 35% 35% 35% 
Contractual life (years)  3 3 3.5/5.5 3 3 3.5/5.5 
Correlation with 
comparators N/A 20% N/A N/A 20% N/A 
Risk free rate  N/A N/A 4.7% N/A N/A 5.5% 
Dividend yield  4.9% 4.9% 5.1% 4.3% 4.3% 4.2% 
Fair value per 
instrument £1.58 £0.96 £0.57/£0.59 £1.83 £1.12 £0.75/£0.78 

The expected volatility is based on historical volatility over the last 10 years. The risk-free rate of return is the yield on zero-coupon UK 
government bonds of a term consistent with the assumed option life. No performance conditions were included in the fair value calculations 
where the condition is based on earnings per share performance. For TSR performance, assumptions are incorporated in the fair  
value calculation. 

21 Consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ (deficit)/equity 

Note

Ordinary 
share 

capital 
£m

Equity
element of 
preference

shares 
£m

Share 
premium 

£m

Capital 
redemption 

reserve 
£m

Hedging 
reserve 

£m

Cumulative 
translation  

reserve 
£m 

Retained 
earnings  

£m 
Total 

£m 

At 29 January 2007  18.2 18.4 21.6 1.4 (0.1) (2.9) (44.6) 12.0 
New share capital subscribed  – – 1.4 – – – – 1.4 
Profit for the year  – – – – – – 36.3 36.3 
Actuarial losses  – – – – – – (1.8) (1.8)
Deferred tax on actuarial losses – – – – – – 0.8 0.8 
Purchase of ordinary shares – – – – – – (2.5) (2.5)
Purchase of preference shares  15    
– equity element  – (3.2) – – – – 3.1 (0.1)
– deferred tax  – – – – – – 0.6 0.6 
– transfer to non-distributable  
 reserve  – – – 1.2 – – (1.2) – 
Share-based payments  – – – – – – 2.3 2.3 
Ordinary dividends paid  – – – – – – (32.7) (32.7)
Derivative financial instruments  – – – – (2.8) – – (2.8)
Currency translation  – – – – – 6.6 – 6.6 

At 3 February 2008  18.2 15.2 23.0 2.6 (2.9) 3.7 (39.7) 20.1 
New share capital subscribed  0.1 – 0.8 – – – – 0.9 
Profit for the year  – – – – – – 51.7 51.7 
Actuarial losses – – – – – – (85.1) (85.1)
Deferred tax on actuarial losses – – – – – – 31.3 31.3 
Purchase of ordinary shares – – – – – – (2.9) (2.9)
Purchase of preference shares  15    
– equity element  – (4.8) – – – – 4.8 – 
– deferred tax  – – – – – – 0.8 0.8 
– transfer to non-distributable  
 reserve  – – – 1.8 – – (1.8) – 
Share-based payments  – – – – – – 0.8 0.8 
Ordinary dividends paid  – – – – – – (34.0) (34.0)
Derivative financial instruments  – – – – (0.8) – – (0.8)
Currency translation  – – – – – 11.6 – 11.6 

At 1 February 2009  18.3 10.4 23.8 4.4 (3.7) 15.3 (74.1) (5.6)
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22 Business acquisition 
On 16 December 2008, the Group acquired the assets and business of Microdis Electronics, the Group’s current distributor in Poland, the 
Czech Republic and Hungary, for a total consideration of £1.0 million of which £0.2 million is payable in the year ending 31 January 2010. 
The fair value of the intangible assets acquired was £1.0 million which is being amortised over a period of ten years. The historic trading 
results and cash flows of Microdis are not significant and the trading results and cash flows of the business in the period since acquisition 
are negligible due to the acquisition being close to the Group’s financial year end. 

During the year £0.3 million was paid as planned in respect of the acquisition of Hynetic Electronics Private Limited which was acquired  
at the end of the prior financial year. 

23 Discontinued operations 
In the prior year, the Group disposed of BuckHickman, part of the Marketing and Distribution Division, Europe and Asia Pacific. The impact 
of discontinued operations on the 2008 income statement is detailed below. 

2009 
£m  

2008 
£m 

Post tax result    
Revenue  –  19.3 
Cost of sales  – (13.3)

Gross margin  –  6.0 
Net operating expenses  – (5.8)

Operating profit – 0.2 
Taxation  –  (0.1)

Profit after taxation  – 0.1 

 
Gain on disposal    
Consideration (net of costs)  –  25.2 
Net assets disposed (see below)  – (38.8)

Loss on disposal of net assets  –  (13.6)
Taxation  – – 

Net loss on disposal  –  (13.6)

 
Total income statement impact  –  (13.5)

Net assets disposed comprises:    
Goodwill –  19.3 
Intangible assets (computer software)  –  1.2 
Property, plant and equipment  –  2.2 
Inventories  –  14.0 
Receivables  –  16.8 
Payables  – (13.1)
Provisions –  (1.6)

 –  38.8 
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23 Discontinued operations continued 
Operating profit from discontinued operations is stated after charging: 

 
2009 

£m  
2008 

£m 

Employee benefits  –  3.0 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  –  0.1 
Amortisation of intangible assets  –  0.1 
Operating lease rentals    
– plant and machinery  –  0.2 
– other  –  0.4 
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense (included in cost of sales)  –  13.4 
Impairment of trade receivables  –  – 

Employee benefits comprise:    
Wages and salaries  –  2.6 
Social security costs  –  0.3 
Net pension costs  –  0.1 

 –  3.0 

    
Average number of employees (period up to disposal in year of disposal)  –  642 

Cash flows from discontinued operations included in the consolidated statement of cash flows are as follows: 

 
2009 

£m  
2008 

£m 

Net cash flows from operating activities  – (1.2)
Net cash flows from investing activities  0.7 24.4 

During 2009, the Group received £0.7 million following finalisation and agreement of the completion accounts relating to the disposal of 
BuckHickman. There was no income statement impact from this receipt. The net cash inflow from the disposal of businesses during 2008 
of £24.4 million comprised the cash consideration, net of disposal costs paid. Cash generated from discontinued operations is analysed  
in note 24. 
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24 Cash generated from operations 
2009 

(52 weeks) 
£m 

2008 
(53 weeks) 

£m 

Continuing operations   
Profit after tax from continuing operations  51.7 49.8 
 
Adjustment for:   
– tax  21.1 21.4 
– depreciation  9.0 7.9 
– amortisation of intangible assets  9.0 11.2 
– profit on sale of property, plant and equipment  (0.4) (0.8)
– preference dividends  3.5 5.6 
– interest income  (0.7) (0.9)
– interest expense  12.6 11.7 
– premium on redemption of preference shares  0.9 1.3 
– gain on purchase of preference shares  (3.7) (0.9)
– additional pension scheme funding (UK defined benefit plan)  (2.9) (3.1)
– decrease in net pension asset (other defined benefit plans)  (2.8) (3.0)
– increase in other post-retirement obligations  0.1 – 
– share-based payments  0.8 2.3 
– non-cash impact of restructuring costs 1.4 – 
 
Changes in working capital (excluding the effect of business disposals/acquisitions):   
– increase in inventories (7.8) (2.2)
– decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables  14.1 (6.7)
– (decrease)/increase in trade and other payables  (3.6) 4.2 

Cash generated from continuing operations  102.3 97.8 

Discontinued operations   
Loss after tax from discontinued operations  – (13.5)
 
Adjustment for:   
– loss on disposal  – 13.6 
– tax  – 0.1 
– depreciation  – 0.1 
– amortisation of intangible assets  – 0.1 
– decrease in reorganisation provision  – (0.1)
 
Changes in working capital:  
– increase in inventories  – (0.1)
– decrease in trade and other receivables  – 1.1 
– decrease in trade and other payables  – (2.5)

Cash generated from discontinued operations  – (1.2)

Total cash generated from operations  102.3 96.6 
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24 Cash generated from operations continued 
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment comprise: 

Note 
2009 

£m 
2008 

£m 

Net book amount  10 2.9 1.1 
Profit on sale   0.4 0.8 

Proceeds   3.3 1.9 

25 Analysis of changes in net financial liabilities 
Cash 

and cash
equivalents 

£m

Bank 
overdrafts 

£m

Loans due
within one 

year 
£m 

Loans due 
after one

year 
£m

Preference  
shares  

£m 

Derivative  
financial  

instruments  
£m 

Net 
financial 
liabilities 

£m 

At 29 January 2007 32.2 (10.9) (0.1) (199.3) (103.1) (0.1) (281.3)
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and  
bank overdrafts  5.6 10.9 – – – – 16.5 
Decrease/(increase) in debt  – – 0.1 (2.9) – – (2.8)
Purchase of preference shares  – – – – 18.5 – 18.5 
Premium on redemption of preference shares  – – – – (1.3) – (1.3)
Derivative financial instruments  – – – – – (2.8) (2.8)
Other changes  – – (0.1) 0.1 – – – 
Exchange movement  (0.2) – – (0.7) – – (0.9)

At 3 February 2008  37.6 – (0.1) (202.8) (85.9) (2.9) (254.1)
Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents and  
bank overdrafts  (0.3) (0.6) – – – – (0.9)
Decrease/(increase) in debt  – – 0.1 (6.8) – – (6.7)
Purchase of preference shares  – – – – 27.4 – 27.4 
Premium on redemption of preference shares  – – – – (0.9) – (0.9)
Derivative financial instruments  – – – – – (1.5) (1.5)
Other changes  – – (0.1) 0.1 – – – 
Exchange movement  2.3 – – (61.5) – – (59.2)

At 1 February 2009  39.6 (0.6) (0.1) (271.0) (59.4) (4.4) (295.9)

Other changes reflect the scheduled repayment of debt becoming due within the next financial year. 

26 Employees and Directors 

Note 

2009 
(52 weeks) 

£m 

2008 
(53 weeks) 

£m 

Employee benefit expense during the year for continuing operations was as follows:    
Wages and salaries   113.2 104.0 
Social security costs   19.9 16.9 
Net pension charge/(credit) 27 0.3 (0.2)
Post-retirement medical benefits  27 0.6 0.5 
Share-based payments  20 0.8 2.3 

  134.8 123.5 

The above analysis excludes restructuring costs of £3.4 million relating to severance (2008: £nil).  
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26 Employees and Directors continued 

The average monthly number of persons employed (including Executive Directors) was as follows: 

Note
2009 

Number 
2008  

Number 

Marketing and Distribution Division   
Americas  1,628 1,593 
Europe and Asia Pacific  2,147 1,958 

 3,775 3,551 
Industrial Products Division  528 520 
Head Office  47 44 

Continuing operations  4,350 4,115 
Discontinued operations (2008: period up to disposal)  23 – 642 

 4,350 4,757 

Directors’ remuneration 
A detailed analysis of Directors’ remuneration, including salaries, performance-related bonuses and long-term incentives, is provided under 
the headings Directors’ remuneration, Share options, performance share plan and restricted share plan in the Remuneration Report on 
pages 69 to 77, which form part of these financial statements. 

The total remuneration of the Directors comprises: 

2009 
£m 

2008 
£m 

Aggregate emoluments  1.6 2.3 
Company contributions to money purchase pension schemes  0.3 0.3 

 1.9 2.6 

Number of Directors to whom retirement benefits are accruing under the Group’s pension plans:   
– a money purchase plan  1 1 
– a defined benefit plan – – 

In addition to the above, the charge for share-based payments in respect of the Directors was £0.5 million (2008: £0.5 million). Gains made 
by Directors on the exercise of share options during the year amounted to £1,458 (2008: £nil). 

Details of the highest paid Director are given on page 74 under the heading Directors’ remuneration. Further details on Directors’ pension 
arrangements are given on page 73. 

The key management of the Group are deemed to be the Board of Directors who have authority and responsibility for planning and 
controlling all significant activities of the Group. 
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27 Pension commitments and other post-retirement obligations 

Note 
2009  

£m 
2008 

£m 

Non-current assets    
Retirement benefit assets  a – 53.4 

Non-current liabilities    
Retirement benefit liabilities  a (24.2) (14.0)
Post-retirement medical benefits  b (11.1) (8.0)

 (35.3) (22.0)

The following actuarial (losses)/gains were recognised in the year through the Consolidated Statement of Recognised Income and Expense 
following the year end valuations of the Group’s pension and post-retirement plans: 

 

2009 
(52 weeks) 

£m 

2008 
(53 weeks) 

£m 

Defined benefit pension plans – US (74.8) (6.1)
    – UK (9.9) 5.0 
    – Other (0.3) – 
Post-retirement medical benefits (0.1) (0.7)

(85.1) (1.8)

a) Pensions 
The Group operates pension plans throughout the world covering the majority of its employees. These plans are devised in accordance  
with local conditions and practices in the countries concerned and include defined contribution and defined benefit plans. The Group’s two 
principal defined benefit plans are in the UK and in the US. Full pension disclosures are given below, and further information is given in the 
Principal Risks and Uncertainties section of the Business Review on pages 42 and 43. 

The net pension (charge)/credit and balance sheet (liability)/asset of the Group’s pension plans are as follows: 

 

2009 
(52 weeks) 

£m 

2008 
(53 weeks) 

£m 

Pension (charge)/credit from continuing operations   
Defined benefit plans  – UK  (0.5) (0.3)
   – US  2.8 2.9 
   – Other plans  (0.1) (0.1)
Defined contribution plans  (2.5) (2.3)

Net pension (charge)/credit from continuing operations  (0.3) 0.2 

Pension charge from discontinued operations (defined contribution plans) – (0.1)

Defined benefit balance sheet (liability)/asset:   
– UK plan (20.5) (13.5)
– US plan  (2.8) 53.4 
– Other plans (0.9) (0.5)

 (24.2) 39.4 

The disclosures relating to the UK and US defined benefit plans are set out below, based on valuations performed by Watson Wyatt 
Worldwide, Actuaries and Pension Consultants, as at 1 February 2009, using the projected unit credit method. 
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27 Pension commitments and other post-retirement obligations continued 
The principal assumptions are as follows: 

UK Plan 
2009 

%

UK Plan 
2008

%

US Plan  
2009 

% 

US Plan 
2008 

% 

Rate of increase in pensionable salaries  4.1 5.0 3.0 4.5 
Rate of increase in pensions in payment (where applicable) 2.9 3.0 3.3 3.5 
Discount rate  6.6 6.2 6.5 6.5 
Inflation assumption  3.5 3.5 1.8 3.0 
Expected return on plan assets   
– equities  7.8 7.8 8.5 7.8 
– gilt bonds  4.4 4.5 2.9 – 
– corporate bonds 6.0 6.2 7.5 – 
– cash/other  5.0 5.0 2.9 4.4 
– weighted average  6.7 6.7 7.1 7.8 
Life expectancy of a 60 year old male/female current retiree  26 yrs/29 yrs 25 yrs/28 yrs 24 yrs/26 yrs 24 yrs/26 yrs 
Life expectancy of a 60 year old male/female future retiree  27 yrs/29 yrs 26 yrs/29 yrs 25 yrs/26 yrs 25 yrs/26 yrs 

The expected return for each asset class is based on a combination of historical performance analysis, the forward looking views of the 
financial markets (as suggested by available yields), and the views of investment organisations. 

For 2009, the rates of longevity for the UK Plan are based on standard tables known as the 2000 series with long cohort improvements 
from 2000 and a plus 2 year age rating (2008: based on standard tables PA92, projected to the year 2005, with an age rating of minus 
three years applied for non pensioners and minus two years for pensioners). 

For the US Plan, for 2009 and 2008 the rates of longevity are based on standard tables RP 2000 with generational projections using scale 
AA. 

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are determined as follows: 

 

UK Plan 
2009

£m

UK Plan 
2008 

£m

UK Plan 
2007 

£m

UK Plan 
2006

£m

UK Plan 
2005

£m

US Plan 
2009 

£m

US Plan 
2008 

£m

US Plan
2007

£m

US Plan 
2006 

£m 

US Plan 
2005 

£m 

Present value of defined 
benefit obligations  (73.8) (77.6) (85.2) (89.6) (73.4) (118.2) (85.4) (85.7) (91.9) (81.0)
Fair value of plan assets  53.3 64.1 63.6 60.0 52.5 115.4 138.8 142.5 143.9 125.3 

Net (liability)/asset  (20.5) (13.5) (21.6) (29.6) (20.9) (2.8) 53.4 56.8 52.0 44.3 

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets are as follows: 

UK Plan 
2009

%

UK Plan 
2008 

%

US Plan  
2009  

% 

US Plan 
2008  

% 

Equities  58.5 56.5 58.0 99.0 
Gilt bonds  20.1 21.6 20.0 – 
Corporate bonds 19.7 20.7 20.0 – 
Cash/other  1.7 1.2 2.0 1.0 

The UK plan invests predominately in equities and gilts on an index-tracking basis. The UK equity index-tracking fund constitutes 40% of  
the pension scheme’s investment benchmark and will include a holding of Premier Farnell shares in the ratio of Premier Farnell’s market 
capitalisation to the market capitalisation of the UK FT-Actuaries All Share Index. The US plan assets at 1 February 2009 include ordinary 
shares issued by Premier Farnell plc with a fair value of £3.2 million (3 February 2008: £3.5 million). 

The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows: 

UK Plan 
2009

(52 weeks) 
£m

UK Plan 
2008

(53 weeks) 
£m

US Plan  
2009 

(52 weeks) 
£m 

US Plan 
2008 

(53 weeks) 
£m 

Current service cost  (0.1) (0.1) (3.0) (2.8)
Interest cost  (4.7) (4.4) (6.0) (5.0)
Expected return on plan assets  4.3 4.2 11.8 10.8 
Past service costs  – – – (0.1)

Total (charge)/income (included in operating expenses)  (0.5) (0.3) 2.8 2.9 
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27 Pension commitments and other post-retirement obligations continued 
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows: 

UK Plan 
2009

£m

UK Plan  
2008 

£m 

US Plan  
2009  

£m 

US Plan 
2008 

£m 

Beginning of year  (77.6) (85.2) (85.4) (85.7)
Current service cost  (0.1) (0.1) (3.0) (2.8)
Interest cost  (4.7) (4.4) (6.0) (5.0)
Actuarial gains 5.3 8.9 5.0 4.2 
Actual benefit payments  3.3 3.2 3.6 3.5 
Past service costs  – – – (0.1)
Currency translation adjustment  – – (32.4) 0.5 

End of year  (73.8) (77.6) (118.2) (85.4)

Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows: 

UK Plan 
2009 

£m

UK Plan  
2008  

£m 

US Plan  
2009  

£m 

US Plan 
2008 

£m 

Beginning of year  64.1 63.6 138.8 142.5 
Expected return on plan assets  4.3 4.2 11.8 10.8 
Contributions  3.4 3.4 – – 
Actual benefits paid  (3.3) (3.2) (3.6) (3.5)
Actuarial losses  (15.2) (3.9) (79.8) (10.3)
Currency translation adjustment  – – 48.2 (0.7)

End of year  53.3 64.1 115.4 138.8 

Actual return on plan assets  (10.9) 0.3 (68.0) 0.5

Analysis of the movement in the balance sheet (liability)/asset: 

UK Plan
2009

£m 

UK Plan  
2008 

£m 

US Plan  
2009  

£m 

US Plan 
2008 

£m 

(Liability)/asset at beginning of year  (13.5) (21.6) 53.4 56.8 
Total (expense)/income as above  (0.5) (0.3) 2.8 2.9 
Contributions  3.4 3.4 – – 
Net actuarial (losses)/gains recognised in the year  (9.9) 5.0 (74.8) (6.1)
Currency translation adjustment  – – 15.8 (0.2)

(Liability)/asset at end of year  (20.5) (13.5) (2.8) 53.4 

Cumulative actuarial losses recognised in equity: 

UK Plan 
2009 

£m

UK Plan  
2008  

£m 

US Plan  
2009  

£m 

US Plan 
2008 

£m 

Beginning of year  (3.1) (8.1) (7.0) (0.9)
Net actuarial (losses)/gains recognised in the year  (9.9) 5.0 (74.8) (6.1)

End of year  (13.0) (3.1) (81.8) (7.0)
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27 Pension commitments and other post-retirement obligations continued 
History of experience gains and losses: 

 
UK Plan 

2009
UK Plan 

2008
UK Plan 

2007
UK Plan 

2006
UK Plan 

2005
US Plan 

2009
US Plan 

2008
US Plan

2007
US Plan 

2006 
US Plan 

2005 

(Loss)/gain on plan 
assets:   
Amount (£m)  (15.2) (3.9) 0.1 6.1 2.0 (79.6) (10.3) 5.5 3.4 7.9 
Percentage of plan 
assets  (28.5%) (6.1%) 0.2% 10.2% 3.8% (69.0%) (7.4%) 3.9% 2.4% 6.3% 
Experience gains/(losses) 
on defined benefit 
obligations:   
Amount (£m)  1.4 (0.5) 0.1 (5.4) 0.2 (0.8) (0.5) (0.5) (1.9) (0.1)
Percentage of the 
present value of the  
plan liabilities  1.9% (0.6%) 0.1% (6.0%) 0.3% (0.7%) (0.6%) (0.6%) (2.1%) (0.1%)
Gains/(losses) from 
change in assumptions: 
Amount (£m)  3.9 9.4 5.4 (9.6) (7.0) 5.6 4.7 2.1 0.4 (17.7)
Percentage of the 
present value of  
plan liabilities  5.3% 12.1% 6.3% (10.7%) (9.5%) 4.7% 5.5% 2.4% 0.4% (21.9%)

The contributions expected to be paid during the financial year ended 31 January 2010 amount to £3.1 million in respect of the UK Plan and 
nil in respect of the US Plan. 

b) Post-retirement medical benefits 
In the US, the Group provides unfunded post-retirement medical benefits to certain US employees. The method of accounting for these is 
similar to that used to account for pension obligations. The charge for the year was £0.6 million (2008: £0.5 million) and the balance sheet 
obligation at 1 February 2009 amounted to £11.1 million (2008: £8.0 million). 

The disclosures relating to post-retirement medical benefits are based on an actuarial valuation performed by Watson Wyatt Worldwide, 
Actuaries and Pension Consultants, as at 1 February 2009. 

The principal assumptions were as follows: 

2009  
% 

2008  
%   

Discount rate  6.5 6.5  
Medical inflation  5.0* 5.0* 
Life expectancy of a 60 year old male current retiree  24 yrs 24 yrs  
Life expectancy of a 60 year old male future retiree  25 yrs 25 yrs  

* The assumed long-term rate of medical inflation is 5.0% per annum. In 2009, the initial rate has been assumed to be 9.0% which is assumed to reduce to the long-term rate  
at 0.5% per annum over 8 years. In 2008, the initial rate was 9.5% assumed to reduce to the long-term rate at 0.5% per annum over 9 years. 

For 2009, future life expectancy is based on RP 2000 mortality tables with generational projections using scale AA. 

The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows: 

2009 
(52 weeks) 

£m 

2008 
(53 weeks) 

£m 

Service cost  0.1 0.1 
Interest cost  0.5 0.4 

Total charge (included in operating expenses)  0.6 0.5 

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows: 

2009 
£m

2008
£m

2007
£m

2006 
£m 

2005 
£m 

Beginning of year  (8.0) (7.4) (7.1) (5.5) (4.7)
Service cost  (0.1) (0.1) (0.2) (0.2) (0.3)
Interest cost  (0.5) (0.4) (0.5) (0.4) (0.6)
Payments  0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.4 
Actuarial losses  (0.1) (0.7) (0.8) (1.1) – 
Currency translation adjustment  (2.9) 0.1 0.7 (0.4) (0.3)

End of year  (11.1) (8.0) (7.4) (7.1) (5.5)

 



115 
Premier Farnell 
Annual Report & Accounts 2009  

 

27 Pension commitments and other post-retirement obligations continued 
Cumulative actuarial gains and losses recognised in equity: 

 
2009 

£m  
2008 

£m 

Beginning of year  (2.6) (1.9)
Net actuarial losses recognised in the year  (0.1) (0.7)

End of year  (2.7) (2.6)

The effect of a 1% movement in the assumed medical cost trend rate is as follows: 

 
Increase  

£m 
Decrease 

£m 

Increase/(decrease) in the aggregate of the current service cost and interest cost  0.1 (0.1)
Increase/(decrease) in the defined benefit obligation  1.4 (1.4)

History of experience gains and losses: 

2009 2008 2007 2006 

Experience losses on defined benefit obligation:    
Amount (£m)  (0.1) (0.9) (0.3) (0.4)
Percentage of the present value of liabilities  (0.9%) (11.3%) (4.1%) (5.6%)
Gain/(loss) arising from change in assumptions:    
Amount (£m)  – 0.2 (0.5) (0.7)
Percentage of the present value of liabilities  – 2.5% (6.8%) (9.9%)

28 Operating lease commitments 
The Group has total minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases as follows: 

Land and buildings   Other assets 

2009
£m

2008 
£m   

2009 
£m 

2008 
£m 

Due within one year  3.8 4.0  0.5 0.3 
Due between one and five years  7.1 6.7  2.3 2.3 
Due after five years  1.2 0.4  – – 

Continuing operations  12.1 11.1  2.8 2.6 
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We have audited the Consolidated Financial Statements of Premier 
Farnell plc for the period ended 1 February 2009 which comprise 
the Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated Balance 
Sheet, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, the Consolidated 
Statement of Recognised Income and Expense, the Accounting 
Policies and the related notes. These Consolidated Financial 
Statements have been prepared under the accounting policies  
set out therein. 

We have reported separately on the parent Company Financial 
Statements of Premier Farnell plc for the period ended 1 February 
2009 and on the information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report 
that is described as having been audited. 

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors 
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report  
and the Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with 
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union are set out in the 
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities. 

Our responsibility is to audit the Consolidated Financial Statements 
in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and 
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This report, 
including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the 
Company’s members as a body in accordance with Section 235  
of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other purpose. We do not,  
in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other 
purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into 
whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior 
consent in writing. 

We report to you our opinion as to whether the Consolidated 
Financial Statements give a true and fair view and whether the 
Consolidated Financial Statements have been properly prepared  
in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the  
IAS Regulation. We also report to you whether in our opinion the 
information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. The information given in the 
Directors’ Report includes that specific information presented in the 
Business Review that is cross referred from the Business Review 
section of the Directors’ Report. 

In addition, we report to you if, in our opinion, we have not received 
all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if 
information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration and 
other transactions is not disclosed. 

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects 
the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 
Combined Code (2006) specified for our review by the Listing Rules 
of the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not.  
We are not required to consider whether the Board’s statements  
on internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures 
or its risk and control procedures. 

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and 
Accounts and consider whether it is consistent with the audited 
Consolidated Financial Statements. The other information comprises 
only the Chairman’s Statement, the Business Review, the Directors’ 
Report, the Corporate Governance Statement, the unaudited part of 
the Remuneration Report, and the other items listed in the contents 
section of the Annual Report and Accounts. We consider the 
implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent 
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any  
other information. 

Basis of audit opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. 
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant 
to the amounts and disclosures in the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant 
estimates and judgments made by the Directors in the preparation 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements, and of whether the 
accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s circumstances, 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed. 

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the 
information and explanations which we considered necessary  
in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable 
assurance that the Consolidated Financial Statements are free from 
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity 
or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall 
adequacy of the presentation of information in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 

Opinion 
In our opinion: 

– the Consolidated Financial Statements give a true and fair view,  
in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union,  
of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 1 February 2009  
and of its profit and cash flows for the period then ended; 

– the Consolidated Financial Statements have been properly 
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and 
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation; and 

– the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent  
with the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors 
London 

17 April 2009 

Independent Auditors’ Report
to the Members of Premier Farnell plc
R
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Note  
2009 

£m 
2008  

£m 

Fixed assets    
Investments  c 61.3 61.0 

 
Current assets    
Debtors  – due within one year  d 7.1 4.5 
   – due after more than one year  d 1,101.2 1,058.5 

  1,108.3 1,063.0 
Creditors – amounts falling due within one year  e (29.2) (56.5)

Net current assets   1,079.1 1,006.5 

Total assets less current liabilities   1,140.4 1,067.5 
Creditors – amounts falling due after more than one year  e (673.6) (572.1)
Provisions for liabilities and charges (deferred tax)  g (1.0) (1.9)

Net assets   465.8 493.5 

 
Capital and reserves    
Ordinary shares  i 18.3 18.2 
Equity element/nominal value of preference shares  f 10.4 15.2 
Share premium account  j 23.8 23.0 
Capital redemption reserve  j 4.4 2.6 
Merger reserve  j 0.6 0.6 
Retained earnings  j 408.3 433.9 

Total equity shareholders’ funds  k 465.8 493.5 

The Company Financial Statements on pages 117 to 124 were approved by the Board of Directors on 17 April 2009 and were signed  
on its behalf by: 

Mark Whiteling  
Director  

The accounting policies and notes on pages 118 to 124 form an integral part of the Company Financial Statements. 

Company Balance Sheet (UK GAAP)
At 1 February 2009
R
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Basis of preparation 
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared under 
the historical cost convention and in accordance with applicable  
UK accounting standards. A summary of the more important 
accounting policies of the Company, which the Directors consider  
to be the most appropriate, is set out below together with an 
explanation of where changes have been made to previous policies 
on the adoption of new accounting standards in the year. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles requires the use of estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Although these 
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the 
amount, event or actions, actual results ultimately may differ from 
those estimates. 

The financial year ended 1 February 2009 was a 52 week period 
(financial year ended 3 February 2008: 53 week period). 

Foreign currencies 
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the rate of 
exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated using the 
contracted rate or the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet 
date and the gains or losses on translation are included in the 
income statement. 

Retirement benefits 
Employees of the Company are able to participate in the Premier 
Farnell UK Pension Scheme, comprising both a defined benefit  
and a defined contribution plan. The assets of the plan are held 
separately from those of the Company in an independently 
administered fund. 

Defined benefit plan 
The Company is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets 
and liabilities of the scheme on a consistent and reasonable basis 
and therefore, as permitted by FRS 17, accounts for the plan as  
if it were a defined contribution plan. The Consolidated Financial 
Statements include full disclosures of the UK defined benefit plan  
in accordance with IAS 19 which is similar to FRS 17 (note 27). 

Defined contribution plan 
Payments to the defined contribution plan are charged as an 
expense as they fall due. 

Deferred taxation 
Full provision is made, on an undiscounted basis, for deferred 
taxation resulting from timing differences between the profits 
computed for taxation purposes and profits stated in the accounts 
to the extent that there is an obligation to pay more tax in the future 
as a result of the reversal of those timing differences. Deferred tax 
assets are recognised to the extent that they are expected to  
be recoverable. 

Financial instruments 
Under FRS 25, the Company’s cumulative, convertible, redeemable 
preference shares are required to be split into debt and equity 
components with the preference dividend being reclassified as a 
finance cost. The fair value of the debt element is established on 
issue of the shares, based on the discounted cashflows of the 
instrument to the date of maturity and is then increased each year 
on an amortised cost basis through the income statement in order 
to arrive at the redemption amount payable on maturity of the 
shares. On purchase and cancellation of preference shares by the 
Company, a gain or loss is recognised in the income statement 
based on the difference between the book value and fair value of the 
financial liability element of the instrument at the date of purchase. 
The difference between the book value and fair value of the equity 
element of the instrument is recognised as a movement in retained 
earnings. In addition, a transfer is made to non-distributable reserves 
from retained earnings in order to maintain the legal nominal value  
of share capital. The accounting for the Company’s preference 
shares in accordance with FRS 25 is identical to that under IAS 32, 
further details for which are given in note 15 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 

Accounting Policies
(Company Financial Statements)
R



119 
Premier Farnell 
Annual Report & Accounts 2009  

 

The Company uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its 
exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate risks arising from 
financing and investment activities. In accordance with its treasury 
policy, the Company does not have or issue speculative derivative 
arrangements. All transactions in financial instruments are matched 
to an underlying business requirement. Derivative financial 
instruments are recognised at fair value. At period ends, the gain or 
loss on re-measurement to fair value is recognised in the income 
statement. However, where derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, 
recognition of any resulting gain or loss will depend upon the nature 
of the item being hedged (see accounting policy on hedging). 

The fair value of forward currency contracts has been determined 
based upon market forward exchange rates at the balance sheet 
date. The fair value of short-term deposits, loans and overdrafts with 
maturities of less than one year are assumed to approximate to their 
book values. 

The fair value of the Company’s US dollar Guaranteed Senior  
Notes has been estimated using quoted market prices for  
similar instruments. 

The fair value of the Company’s preference shares is based on the 
quoted market price. 

Hedging 

Cash flow hedges 
Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of 
the variability in cash flows of a recognised asset or liability, or highly 
probable forecast transaction, the effective part of any gain or loss 
on the derivative financial instrument is recognised directly in equity. 
If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the 
recognition of a financial asset or liability, the associated gains or 
losses that were recognised directly in equity are reclassified into 
profit or loss in the same period(s) during which the interest 
income/expense is recognised. For other cash flow hedges, the 
associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from equity and 
recognised in the income statement in the same period(s) as which 
the hedged forecast transaction affects profit or loss. The gain or 
loss on any ineffective part of the hedge is immediately recognised  
in the income statement. 

Hedge of net investment in foreign operations 
The gain or loss on the translation of a net investment in a foreign 
operation and the instrument used to hedge this are recognised 
directly in the income statement. 

Share-based payments 
The accounting for share-based payments is similar to IFRS 2,  
full details of which are given in the Accounting Policies and  
note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

The cost for share-based incentives, in respect of shares in the 
Company, granted to employees of group companies other than 
Premier Farnell plc, is treated as an increase in investments with  
the corresponding credit direct to reserves. 

Ordinary share capital 
Ordinary share capital is classified as equity and dividends are 
recognised as a liability in the period in which they are approved. 

Cash flow 
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption from 
disclosing a cash flow statement under Financial Reporting 
Standard 1 (revised). 

Shares in subsidiary undertakings  
Shares in subsidiary undertakings are initially stated at cost. 
Provision is made where, in the opinion of the Directors,  
a permanent diminution in value has occurred. 
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a. Premier Farnell plc – income statement 
Premier Farnell plc has not presented its own income statement as permitted by Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985. The profit  
after taxation for the financial year dealt with in the accounts of the Company is £6.7 million (2008: £3.7 million) which relates entirely  
to continuing operations. Gains/losses that have been credited/charged directly to reserves are detailed in note j to the Company  
Financial Statements. 

The audit fee in respect of the Company was £0.1 million (2008: £0.1 million). 

b. Employees and Directors 
Staff costs during the year were as follows: 

2009 
(52 weeks) 

£m 

2008 
(53 weeks)  

£m 

Wages and salaries  5.4 5.9 
Social security costs  0.6 0.9 
Pension costs  1.0 0.8 
Share-based payments  0.5 1.3 

 7.5 8.9 

 

2009 
Number 

2008  
Number 

Average monthly number of persons employed (including Executive Directors)  63 54 

Directors’ remuneration is summarised in note 26 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. A detailed analysis of Directors’ remuneration, 
including salaries, performance-related bonuses, retirement benefits and long-term incentives, is provided under the headings Directors’ 
remuneration, Directors’ interests, Share options, Performance share plan and Restricted share plan in the Remuneration Report on  
pages 69 to 77, which form part of these financial statements. Details of the highest paid Director are given on page 74 under the heading 
Directors’ remuneration. 

The Executive Directors received all of their remuneration from Premier Farnell plc. However, it is not practical to allocate such costs 
between their services as executives of the Company and their services as Directors of the Group. 

c. Investments 
2009 

£m 
2008  

£m 

Shares in subsidiary undertakings  56.5 56.5 
Share-based payments  4.8 4.5 

 61.3 61.0 

The cost for share-based incentives, in respect of shares in the Company, granted to employees of Group companies other than Premier 
Farnell plc, is treated as an increase in investments with the corresponding credit direct to reserves.  

Notes to the Company Financial StatementsR
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c. Investments continued 
The principal trading subsidiary undertakings of Premier Farnell plc, owned either directly or indirectly through subsidiaries,  
are as follows: 

 
Country of incorporation 

and operation 

Premier Farnell UK Ltd  UK 
Farnell Electronic Components Pty Ltd  Australia 
Farnell Electronic Components Limited  New Zealand 
Farnell GmbH  Germany 
Farnell Danmark AS  Denmark 
Oy Farnell (Finland) AB  Finland 
Farnell Components AB  Sweden 
Farnell AG  Switzerland 
Farnell Components (Ireland) Limited  Eire 
Farnell (France) SAS  France 
Farnell (Netherlands) BV  Netherlands 
Farnell Newark Brasil Distribuidora de Produtos Electronicos Limitada  Brazil 
Farnell Components Pte Ltd  Singapore 
Farnell Components (M) SDN BHD  Malaysia 
Farnell Components (HK) Ltd  Hong Kong 
Farnell Components SL  Spain 
Farnell Italia SRL  Italy 
Farnell (Belgium) NV  Belgium 
Premier Electronics (Shanghai) Co Ltd  China 
Farnell Electronics India Pvt Ltd India 
Newark Corporation  USA 
Newark Electronics Corporation  USA 
MCM Electronics Inc  USA 
Akron Brass Company  USA 
Premier Farnell LLC  USA 
Premier Farnell Canada Limited  Canada 
Premier Industrial Holland BV  Holland 
Premier Farnell Electronics de Mexico SRL  Mexico 
TPC Wire & Cable de Mexico SRL  Mexico 

All of the above are wholly owned. 

Companies incorporated in the UK are registered in England. 

All companies are involved in distribution activities. Premier Farnell LLC and Akron Brass Company are also involved in manufacturing 
activities. 

The Directors consider that to list all subsidiary undertakings would lead to a statement of excessive length. A full list of subsidiary 
undertakings will be annexed to the Company’s next annual return. 

d. Debtors 

 
2009 

£m 
2008  

£m 

Amounts falling due within one year:   
Corporate tax recoverable 5.8 3.5 
Other debtors  0.8 0.6 
Prepayments and accrued income  0.5 0.4 

 7.1 4.5 

 
Amounts falling due after more than one year:   
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings  1,101.2 1,058.5 

The balances above do not include any impaired assets. The Company does not hold any collateral as security. The carrying amount  
of debtors is a reasonable approximation to fair value. 
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e. Creditors 

Note
2009 

£m 
2008  

£m 

Amounts falling due within one year:   
Bank overdrafts (unsecured)  9.8 34.1 
Payroll and other taxes including social security  0.2 – 
Other creditors  0.1 0.1 
Accruals and deferred income  19.1 22.3 

 29.2 56.5 

 
Amounts falling due after more than one year:   
Unsecured loans  257.6 176.0 
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings  356.6 310.2 

 614.2 486.2 
Preference shares  f 59.4 85.9 

 673.6 572.1 

Unsecured loans comprise:   
Bank loans  101.4 61.8 
5.3% US dollar Guaranteed Senior Notes payable 2010  45.8 33.5 
5.9% US dollar Guaranteed Senior Notes payable 2013  110.4 80.7 

 257.6 176.0 

Bank overdrafts, unsecured loans and preference shares are repayable as follows:   
Within one year  9.8 34.1 
Between two and five years  257.6 95.3 
After five years  59.4 166.6 

 326.8 296.0 

f. Preference shares 
Cumulative, convertible, redeemable preference shares of £1 each 

2009
Number

2008  
Number 

Authorised  32,000,000 32,000,000 
Allotted, called up and fully paid  3,949,419 5,773,721 

 

2009 
£m 

2008  
£m 

Equity element  10.4 15.2 

Debt element  59.4 85.9 

The accounting and disclosure for preference shares in accordance with FRS 25 and FRS 26 is identical to IAS 32, Financial Instruments: 
Disclosure and Presentation, and IAS 39, Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement. Further details relating to the accounting, 
rights and restrictions of the preference shares are given in note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, together with an explanation 
of movements in the equity and debt elements during the year. 
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g. Deferred tax 

 
2009 

£m 
2008  

£m 

Provision at beginning of year  (1.9) (2.6)
Credit in the year  0.1 0.1 
Taken to equity (purchase of preference shares)  0.8 0.6 

Provision at end of year  (1.0) (1.9)

Deferred tax provision comprises:   
Short-term timing differences  0.3 0.5 
Preference shares  (1.3) (2.4)

 (1.0) (1.9)

h. Financial instruments 
The Company is exposed to a number of different market risks in the normal course of business including liquidity, credit and interest rate 
risk. The policies and procedures in place to control these risks are detailed in note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

The Company’s objectives, policies and strategies with respect to Financial instruments are outlined in the Company’s Accounting Policies. 

Hedge of net investment in foreign subsidiaries 
The Company has both US dollar and Euro denominated borrowings which it has designated as a hedge of net investment in its  
US and European Monetary Union member subsidiaries. The fair value of the US dollar borrowings at 1 February was £169 million  
(3 February 2008: £119.9 million) and the fair value of the Euro borrowings was £15 million (3 February 2008: £7.5 million). 

The Company has no derivative financial instruments. 

Maturity of financial liabilities 
The table below analyses the Company’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the  
balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 
Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying value as the impact of discounting is not significant. 

Less than 
1 year 

£m

Between  
1 and 2  

years  
£m 

Between  
2 and 5  

years  
£m 

Over  
5 years  

£m 

At 1 February 2009    
Borrowings 9.7 158.4 123.8 – 
Preference shares 3.5 3.5 10.6 73.3 
Trade and other payables 0.1 – – – 

 13.3 161.9 134.4 73.3 

The Company is a joint borrower with another Group company in respect of multi-currency bilateral bank facilities of £212.1 million, which 
carry a LIBOR based floating rate of interest. The facilities were due to expire mid-2010 and at 1 February 2009, £99.1 million of those 
facilities were unutilised. On 27 January 2009 the Group entered into a new multi-currency revolving credit facility of £150 million, which 
carries a LIBOR based floating rate of interest and expires in January 2013. The first drawdown on this facility occurred in February 2009,  
at which point the previous facility terminated. 

Following the drawdown of the new multi-currency revolving credit facility of £150 million in February 2009, £102.7 million of borrowings 
included within the ‘between 1 and 2 years’ category above will be reclassified to the ‘between 2 and 5 years’ category. 

Less than 
1 year 

£m

Between  
1 and 2  

years  
£m 

Between  
2 and 5  

years  
£m 

Over  
5 years  

£m 

At 3 February 2008    
Borrowings 9.7 9.7 111.1 81.6 
Preference shares 5.1 5.1 15.3 111.4 
Trade and other payables 0.1 – – – 

 14.9 14.8 126.4 193.0 
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h. Financial instruments continued 
The effective interest rates of interest-bearing financial liabilities at the year end were as follows: 

2009 2008  

Short-term borrowings  2.5% 6.3% 
Bilateral bank facilities  2.3% 5.8% 
US dollar private placement notes 5.7% 5.7% 

The book and fair values of the Company’s financial instruments are as follows: 

Book value 
2009 

£m

Fair value 
2009 

£m

Book value  
2008  

£m 

Fair value  
2008  

£m 

Long-term borrowings 257.6 270.4 176.0 181.7 
Preference shares 69.8 49.4 101.1 78.0 
Short-term borrowings 9.8 9.8 34.1 34.1 
Other payables 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 
Other receivables 0.8 0.8 0.6 0.6 

The book value of the preference shares at 1 February 2009 comprises the equity element of £10.4 million (2008: £15.2 million) and the 
debt value of £59.4 million (2008: £85.9 million). 

i. Ordinary shares 
Details of the Company’s ordinary share capital are given in note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

j. Movements in share capital and reserves 

Note

Ordinary 
share

capital 
£m

Equity
element of 
preference 

shares 
£m

Share 
premium 

£m

Capital
redemption 

reserve 
£m

Merger 
reserve 

£m

Retained 
earnings  

£m 
Total 

£m 

At 3 February 2008 18.2 15.2 23.0 2.6 0.6 433.9 493.5 
New share capital subscribed  0.1 – 0.8 – – – 0.9 
Profit for the year  – – – – – 6.7 6.7 
Share-based payments  – – – – – 0.8 0.8 
Ordinary dividends paid  – – – – – (34.0) (34.0)
Purchase of ordinary shares – – – – – (2.9) (2.9)
Purchase of preference shares  f   
– equity element  – (4.8) – – – 4.8 – 
– deferred tax  – – – – – 0.8 0.8 
– transfer to non-distributable reserve  – – – 1.8 – (1.8) – 

At 1 February 2009 18.3 10.4 23.8 4.4 0.6 408.3 465.8 

k. Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds 
2009 

£m 
2008  

£m 

Profit after taxation  6.7 3.7 
Ordinary dividends paid  (34.0) (32.7)
New share capital subscribed  0.9 1.4 
Share-based payments  0.8 2.3 
Purchase of ordinary shares (2.9) (2.5)
Purchase of preference shares   
– reduction in equity element (4.8) (3.2)
– gain arising on equity element  4.8 3.1 
– deferred tax  0.8 0.6 

Net change in shareholders’ funds  (27.7) (27.3)
Shareholders’ funds at beginning of year  493.5 520.8 

Shareholders’ funds at end of year 465.8 493.5 

l. Contingent liabilities 
The Company has guaranteed the loans of certain subsidiary undertakings which at 1 February 2009 amounted to £11.4 million  
(2008: £22.2 million). 

m. Ordinary dividends 
Ordinary dividends proposed but not yet paid in respect of the financial year ended 1 February 2009 are detailed in note 7 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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We have audited the Company Financial Statements of Premier 
Farnell plc for the period ended 1 February 2009 which comprise 
the Company Balance Sheet, the Company Accounting Policies 
and the related notes. These Company Financial Statements  
have been prepared under the accounting policies set out  
therein. We have also audited the information in the Directors’  
Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited. 

We have reported separately on the Consolidated Financial 
Statements of Premier Farnell plc for the period ended  
1 February 2009. 

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors 
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report,  
the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the Company Financial 
Statements in accordance with applicable law and United  
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out in the Statement  
of Directors’ Responsibilities. 

Our responsibility is to audit the Company Financial Statements  
and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited  
in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and 
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This report, 
including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the 
Company’s members as a body in accordance with Section 235  
of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other purpose. We do not,  
in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other 
purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into 
whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior 
consent in writing. 

We report to you our opinion as to whether the Company Financial 
Statements give a true and fair view and whether the Company 
Financial Statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance 
with the Companies Act 1985. We also report to you, whether in our 
opinion, the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent 
with the Company Financial Statements. The information given in 
the Directors’ Report includes that specific information presented  
in the Business Review that is cross referenced from the Business 
Review section of the Directors’ Report. 

In addition, we report to you if, in our opinion the Company has  
not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all  
the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if 
information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration  
and other transactions is not disclosed. 

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and 
Accounts and consider whether it is consistent with the audited 
Company Financial Statements. The other information comprises 
only the Chairman’s Statement, the Business Review, the Directors’ 
Report, the Corporate Governance Statement, the unaudited part of 
the Remuneration Report, and the other items listed in the contents 
section of the Annual Report and Accounts. We consider the 
implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent 
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the Company 
Financial Statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any  
other information. 

Basis of audit opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International  
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing 
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of 
evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the Company 
Financial Statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report to be audited. It also includes an assessment of the 
significant estimates and judgments made by the Directors in  
the preparation of the Company Financial Statements, and of 
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Company’s 
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed. 

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the 
information and explanations which we considered necessary  
in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable 
assurance that the Company Financial Statements and the part  
of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are free from 
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity 
or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall 
adequacy of the presentation of information in the Company 
Financial Statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report to be audited. 

Opinion 
In our opinion: 

– the Company Financial Statements give a true and fair view,  
in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice, of the state of the Company’s affairs  
as at 1 February 2009; 

– the Company Financial Statements and the part of the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared 
in accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and 

– the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with 
the Company Financial Statements. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and 
Registered Auditors 
London 

17 April 2009

Independent Auditors’ Report
to the Members of Premier Farnell plc
R
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AC/DC – Alternating Current or Direct Current 

AFDEC – Association for Franchised Distributors of Electronic 
Components 

ANSI C – American National Standards Institute for the  
C programming language 

ANZ – Australia and New Zealand 

BiTC – Business in the Community 

CEO – Chief Executive Officer 

CFO – Chief Financial Officer 

China – includes mainland China and Hong Kong 

COO – Chief Operating Officer 

CR Index – Corporate Responsibility Index 

CSR – Corporate Social Responsibility 

DTR – The Financial Services Authority’s Disclosure on 
Transparency Rules 

EEAS – Energy Efficiency Accreditation Scheme 

EDE – Electronic Design Engineers 

EMC – Electromagnetic Compatibility 

EuP Directive – Energy using Products Directive 

EPS – Earnings Per Share 

ESOS – Executive Share Option Plan 

eTools – Electronic Tools 

EU – European Union 

FSC – Forestry Stewardship Council 

GAAP – Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 

GDP – Gross Domestic Product 

GPS – Global Positioning System 

GTC – Global Technology Centre 

HB – High Brightness 

HNBS – Hewitt New Bridge Street 

 

IC – Integrated Circuit 

IFRS – International Financial Reporting Standards 

IPD – Industrial Products Division 

ISO – International Organization for Standardization 

KPI – Key Performance Indicator 

LCD – Liquid Crystal Display 

LED – Light Emitting Diode 

MDD – Marketing and Distribution Division 

MIP – Management Incentive Plan 

MRO – Maintenance Repair and Operation 

OCR – Optical Character Recognition 

PCI – Peripheral Component Interconnect 

PFLC – Premier Farnell Leadership Council 

PIC – Peripheral Interface Controller 

PSP – Performance Share Plan 

REACH – Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and restriction  
of Chemicals 

RFID – Radio-Frequency Identification 

RoHS – Restriction on Hazardous Substances 

RONA – Return On Net Assets 

ROS – Return On Sales 

RPI – Retail Price Index 

SIA – Semiconductor Industry Association 

STAR – Safety Through Accountability and Recognition 

TSR – Total Shareholder Return 

USB – Universal Serial Bus 

WEEE – Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment

GlossaryR
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2009/2010 financial calendar 
Quarter one results  11 June 2009
Annual General Meeting  16 June 2009
Quarter two and interim results  3 September 2009
Quarter three results 10 December 2009
Financial year end  31 Junuary 2010
 

 Final ordinary dividend key dates  Interim ordinary dividend key dates 

 Ex-dividend  Record  Payment   Ex-dividend  Record  Payment 

Ordinary shares  27 May 2009  29 May 2009 24 June 2009  16 Sept 2009  18 Sept 2009 14 Oct 2009 

        
     Half-yearly preference dividend key dates 

 Ex-dividend  Record  Payment   Ex-dividend  Record  Payment 

Preference shares  3 July 2009 7 July 2009  27 July 2009  30 Dec 2009  4 Jan 2010 26 Jan 2010 

Annual General Meeting 
The 2009 Annual General Meeting will be held at Farnell,  
Maybrook Distribution Centre, Castleton Road, Leeds, LS12 2EN, 
on 16 June at 10:30 am. 

Registrar 
Enquiries concerning shareholdings or dividends should be 
addressed in the first instance to the Company’s Registrar, 
Computershare Investor Services PLC, PO Box 82, The Pavilions, 
Bridgwater Road, Bristol, BS99 7NH, United Kingdom or telephone 
+44 (0) 870 707 1648. 

Alternatively, shareholders can contact Computershare online  
via their free Investor Centre facility.  

Shareholders have the ability to register for electronic shareholder 
communications, set up or amend bank details for direct credit  
of dividend payments, amend address details, request dividend 
payment in a foreign currency, view payment history and access 
information on the Company’s share price. For more information  
or to register please visit www-uk.computershare.com/investor. 

Share dealing service 
A low cost telephone dealing service has been arranged with 
Stocktrade (a division of Brewin Dolphin Ltd.) which provides  
a simple way of buying or selling Premier Farnell plc shares.  
Basic commission is 0.5 per cent up to £10,000, reducing to  
0.2 per cent thereafter (subject to a minimum commission of £15). 
For further information call 0845 601 0995 (or +44 131 240 0414 
from outside the UK) and quote reference LowCo0195. Please note 
that some transactions may be subject to money laundering 
regulations and you may be required to provide certain personal 
details to Stocktrade prior to any sale or purchase of shares. 

Registrar and share transfer office  
Computershare Investor Services PLC 
The Pavilions 
Bridgwater Road 
Bristol 
BS13 8AE

Shareholder informationR
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2009
£m

2008 
£m

2007 
£m

2006 
£m 

2005 
£m 

Revenue from continuing operations  804.4 744.7 723.3 670.0 631.8 
   
Operating profit before RoHS inventory provision and reorganisation costs  88.8 88.0 83.1 73.1 68.9 
RoHS inventory provision  – – – (6.6) – 
Restructuring costs  (3.4) – – (5.3) – 

Total operating profit from continuing operations  85.4 88.0 83.1 61.2 68.9 

Profit before taxation and accounting for preference shares  73.5 77.2 70.1 47.2 55.4 
Preference dividends  (3.5) (5.6) (6.7) (6.7) – 
Premium on redemption of preference shares  (0.9) (1.3) (1.4) (1.5) – 
Gain on purchase of preference shares  3.7 0.9 0.3 – – 

Profit before taxation from continuing operations  72.8 71.2 62.3 39.0 55.4 

Profit after taxation from continuing operations  51.7 49.8 42.3 32.1 42.6 
(Loss)/profit after taxation from discontinued operations  – (13.5) 10.1 (1.0) 2.4 
Preference dividends  – – – – (6.6)

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders  51.7 36.3 52.4 31.1 38.4 

Dividend per share   
– proposed  9.4p 9.2p 9.0p 9.0p 9.0p 
– paid  9.4p 9.0p 9.0p 9.0p 9.0p 

Basic earnings per share (pence)  14.3p 10.0p 14.4p 8.6p 10.6p 
Exceptional items (pence)  (0.4)p – – 2.2p – 

Adjusted earnings per share (pence)  13.9p 10.0p 14.4p 10.8p 10.6p 

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations (pence)  14.3p 13.7p 11.6p 8.9p 9.9p 
Exceptional items (pence)  (0.4)p – – 2.2p – 

Adjusted earnings per share from continuing operations (pence)  13.9p 13.7p 11.6p 11.1p 9.9p 
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